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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The directors present the strategic report for the company for the year ended 31 December 2019,

Review of the company's business and principal activities

The company is a member of the Linde plc group ("Linde Group") and its ultimate parent company is Linde plc.
The company does not trade. The company's principal activity has been throughout the current and preceding
year an investment holding company for the Linde Group. It is envisaged that this will continue to be the principal
activity of the company for the foreseeable future.

Performance of the company’s business during the financial year

The results for the year are contained in the accompanying profit and loss account on page 8 and show a profit
after tax for the financial year of £19,000 (2018: £9,502,000).

Key performance indicators

The company's income is derived from dividends received from its subsidiaries. The directors refer to the
company's level of income, its operating and retained profits, the value of its investments and net and current
asset values in evaluating the company's performance.

Position of the company's business at the year ended 31 Decemebr 20198

As at 31 December 2019 the company held net current assets of £1,843,000 (2018: £1,824,000) and net assets
of £55,149,000 (2018: £55,130,000).

Objectives and strategies

The company's primary objective and strategy is to continue as a holding company for investments in entities
that form part of the Linde Group.

Markets

BOC Investments No.5 is a holding company for investments based in the Republic of Ireland and the United
Kingdom.

Risks and uncertainties

The principal risk or uncertainty facing the company includes investment risk. As a holding company, BOC
Investments No.5 is exposed to the risk of impairment through poor performing subsidiaries and investments.

Impairment reviews are carried out to effectively manage and mitigate this risk.

The United Kingdom has left the European Union (“EU") ("Brexit"), and is now in a transition period before new
rules are expected to come into effect from 1 January 2021. The uncertainty of Brexit, poses potential financial
risks to our market and therefore to our business. However, any potential impact of Brexit will, to some extent, be
mitigated by the company’s investments located outside of the EU.
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

This report was approved by the board of directors on 8. Decemnbts 2000 ang signed on its behalf
by:-

S A Williams
Director
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Directors

The directors who held office during and after the year under review were:

Mr J M Bland (alternate director to Mrs S A Williams)

Mr B Patterson

Mrs S A Williams

The directors are not subject to retirement by rotation.

Dividends
No interim dividends were paid during the year (2018: £9,486,811).

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
£nil}.

Political contributions
The compahy made no political donations and incured no political expenditure during the year.
Disclosure of information to auditor

The directors holding office at the date of approval of this directors' report confirm that so far as they are aware,
there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditor is unaware, and each director has taken all
steps that ought to have been taken as directors to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor

Following the 2018 merger between the Linde GmbH (formerly Linde AG) and Praxair, Inc. the intention is for the
Linde Plc Group auditor, PwC LLP, to be appointed as auditor of the Company.

This report was approved by the board of directors on 8 D’CCEI"'th/ 2000 and signed on its
behalf by~

S K Kelly
Secretary

The Priestley Centre

10 Priestley Road

The Surrey Research Park
Guildford

Surrey

GU2 7XY

England
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE STRATEGIC REPORT, THE
DIRECTORS' REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the strategic report, the directors’ report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting
Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework'.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that
period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

* select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
» make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

= assess the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern; and

- use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liguidate the company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are responsible for such internal control as they detemine is necessary to enable the preperation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the company and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of BOC Investments No.5 (‘the company”) for the year ended
31 December 2019 which comprise the Balance Sheet and related notes, including the accounting policies in
note 1.

In our opinian the financial statements:

. give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of its result for
the year then ended;

. have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework, and

. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs {UK)") and
applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and
are independent of the company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical
Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our
opinion

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liguidate the company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the company's financial
position means that this is realistic. They have alsc concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could
have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of
approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period”).

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of that
basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements. In our evaluation of the
directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the company's business model and analysed how
those risks might affect the company's financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going
concern period. We have nothing to report in these respects.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of
reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the company will continue in
operation.

Directors’ report

The directors are respeonsible for the directors’ report. Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover
that report and we do net express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the directors' report and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial
statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial
statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

. we have not identified material misstatements in the directors’ repor;
. in our opinion the information given in that report for the financial year is consistent with the financial
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

statements; and
. in our opinion that report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2008. ,

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

. the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

. the directors were not entitled to take advantage of the small companies exemption from the requirement

to prepare a strategic report,

We have nothing to report in these respects,

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 3, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Auditor’'s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor's report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reascnably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilites is provided on the FRC's website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe cur responsibilities

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have foermed.
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

Nick Plumb (Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of

KPMG LLP,

1 Sovereign Street Leeds
LS1 4DA

Date: 11December 2020
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Note
Income from shares in group undertakings
Interest receivable and similar income 2
Profit before tax
Tax on profit 6

Profit for the financial year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

All of the above relates to continuing operations.

2019 2018

£000 £000
- 9,487
24 19
24 9,506
() (4)
19 9,502

The company has no other comprehensive income in the year other than that included in the profit and loss

account above and therefore no separate statement of other comprehensive income has been prepared.
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BOC INVESTMENTS NQ.5
REGISTERED NUMBER: 04294421

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

2019 2018
Note £000 £000
Non-current assets
Investments in group undertakings 7 53,3006 53,306
53,306 53,306
Current assets / {liabilities)
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 8 2,274 2,251
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year g (421) (427)
Net current assets 1,843 1,824
Net assets 55,149 55,130
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 10 - -
Profit and loss account 55,149 55,130

Shareholders' funds 55,149 55130

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on Q DCCf.HbL// 2¢20 and were
signed on its behalf by:-

C %rs S A Williatms

Director
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Called up Profit and
share capital loss account Total equity
£000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 January 2019 - 55,130 55,130
Profit for the year - 19 19
Total comprehensive income for the year - 19 19
Total transactions with owners - - -
Balance at 31 December 2019 - 55,149 55,149
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Called up Profit and
share capital loss account Total equity
£000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 January 2018 - 55,115 55,115
Profit for the year - 9,502 9,502
Total comprehensive income for the year - 9,502 9,502
Dividends - (9,487) (9,487}
Total transactions with owners - (9,487) (9,487}
Balance at 31 December 2018 - 55,130 55,130

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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BOC INVESTMENTS NC.5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

1.

Accounting policies

BOC Investments No.5 is & company incorporated and domiciled in England in the UK. The registered
number is 04294421 and the registered address is The Priestley Centre, 10 Priestley Road, The Surrey
Research Park, Guildford, Surrey, GU2 7XY, England.

The company is exempt by virtue of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare group
financial statements. These financial statements present information about the company as an individual
undertaking and not about its group.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework ("FRS 101"}.

In preparing these financial statements, the company applies the recognition, measurement and
disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU {"Adopted
IFRSs™), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with the Companies Act 2006 and
has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The company's ultimate parent undertaking, Linde plc, includes the company in its consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements of Linde plc are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained from its
principal trading address, at The Priestley Centre, 10 Priestley Road, The Surrey Research Park,
Guildford, Surrey GU2 7XY, England.

In these financial statements, the company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in
respect of the following disclosures:

- a Cash Flow Statement and related notes;

- disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned members of the Linde Group;

- disclosures in respect of capital management;

- the effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs;

- disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

The company proposes to continue to adopt the reduced disclosure framework of FRS 101 in its next
financial statements.

The accounting policies set out in this note have been applied in preparing these financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2019 and for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

11

1.2

1.3

Accountting policies (continued)

Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis.
Functional currency

The functional currency of BOC Investments No. 5 is sterling and the accounts are prepared using its
functional currency, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates.

Going concern

The use of the going concern basis of accounting is considered by the directors to be appropriate
because they do not cansider there to be any material uncertainties related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt about the ability of the company to continue as a going concem.

The company has net current assets and net assets and can therefore support itself for the
forseeable future.

The principal activity of the company is that of an investment holding company. Its income is derived
from interest receivable and dividends and this source of income is expected to continue for the
forseeable future.

Covid 18 has been considered in the severe but plausible downside scenario for the going concern
assessment period of 18 months following the balance sheet date. The directors have not identified
any triggers to suggest the going concern basis of accounting is not appropriate in light of this
consideration. In the downside scenario, the directors assume that they do not receive any further
dividend income, and therefore fund their obligations with their current cash balances.

The forecasts are dependent on the company's ability to draw on its cash balances on demand. The
company places its cash on deposit with Linde Finance BY, a fellow subsidiary of the company’s
ultimate parent undertaking Linde plc. Under the terms of the deposit agreement between the
company and Linde Finance BV, the company is able to withdraw its cash balances without
restriction and on demand. The directors acknowledge that Linde Finance BV also holds similar
deposits and agreements with other entities within the wider Linde group and as a result the directors
do not have visibility of Linde Finance BV's ability to repay the company’s cash balances on demand
in downside scenarios from its own assets. However, Linde Finance BV has access to a $5bn
overdraft facility which expires in 26 March 2024 and which is undrawn at the time of signing of these
financial statements as well as a guarantee (the “Guarantee”) from Linde plc over its third party
creditors. These facilities are substantially in excess of Linde Finance BV's obligations to Linde
Group companies for cash balances placed on deposit and as a result the directors have concluded
that Linde Finance BV would be able to repay the company's cash balance on demand throughout
the forecast period. In making this assessment, the directors have also considered Linde plc's ability
to provide the Guarantee and have concluded that Linde plc has the intent and ability to do so.

Consequently, the directors are confident that the company will have sufficient funds to continue to
meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least 18 months from the date of approval of the financial
statements and therefore have prepared the financial statements on a going concern hasis.
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Accounting policies (continued)

1.4

1.5

1.6

Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the company’s functional currency at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the date the
fair value was determined. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the
profit and loss account,

Classification of financial instruments issued by the company

Following the adoption of IAS 32, financial instruments issued by the company are treated as equity
anly to the extent that they meet the following two conditions:

{(a) they include no contractual obligations upon the company to defiver cash or other financial assets
or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are
potentially unfavourable to the company; and

(b} where the instrument will or may be settled in the company's own equity instruments, it is either a
non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the company's own equity
instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the company's exchanging a fixed amount of cash
or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability.
Where the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the company's own shares, the amounts
presented in these financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account
exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and
other debtors, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other creditors.

Trade and other debtors
Trade and other debtors are recongised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Trade and other creditors
Trade and other creditors are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Interest-bearing borrowing

Interest-bearing borrowing are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing berrowing are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Accounting policies (continued)

1.7

1.8

1.9

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement ta
fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss. However, where derivatives qualify for hedge
accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged.

Income from shares in group undertakings

Income from shares in group undertakings is recognised when dividends become a legally binding
liability of the company. In the case of interim dividends declared by the board, this is on payment of
the dividend. In the case of dividends approved by the company’s members, this is recognised once
passed by the members.

Expenses

Interest receivable and Interest payable

Interest payable and similar charges include interest payable recognised in profit or [0ss using the
effective interest method, and net foreign exchange losses that are recognised in the profit and loss
account (see foreign currency accounting policy). Other interest receivable and similar income
include interest receivable on funds invested and net foreign exchange gains.

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective
interest method. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

1.10 Accounting estimates and judgements

The key estimates and judgements applied in relation to investments are as detailed below;

There are current market multiples of the Linde Industrial Gases peer group as of the valuation date
December 31, 2019. The relevant capital market data is sourced from Bloomberg. We have applied
the relevant EBIDTA Multiple for 2018.

Provided below are the key assumptions concerning the future and key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the balance sheet date that may cause material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets or liabilities within the next financial year.

Fixed assets (impairment)
Fixed assets are depreciated on an annual basis, in accordance with the company's accounting
policy. An impairment review is carried out if a triggering event occurs during the year.

1.11 Adoption of new and revised standards

IFRS 16 Leases

Due to the low value of the assets being leased and materiality considerations applied, the low value
lease exemption has been applied. As such no transitional adjustments have been recognised in
2019 or are expected in future periods unless the lease portfolio was seen te change materially.
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Interest

Interest receivable and similar income

On loans ta group undertakings

Directors' emoluments

2019 2018
£000 £000
24 19
24 19

The directors did not receive any remuneration during the year for the services to the company (2018:

£nil).

Auditor's remuneration

The remuneration payable in relation to audit services of £4,.200 (2018: £4,200) is borne by The BOC
Group Limited and its included in the aggregated fees disclosed in the financial statements of The BOC

Group Limited.

Employee information

The company had no employees in the year. The company is not charged for the services provided to it by

employees of other Linde Group companies.

Taxation

Analysis of charge / {credit) in year

Current tax on profits for the year

Total current tax

Taxation on profit

2019 2018
£000 £000
5 4
5 4
5 4
5 4
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Taxation (continued)

Factors affecting tax charge for the year

The tax assessed for the year is the same as (2018 - lower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 19% (2018 - 19%). The differences are explained below:

2019 2018
£000 £000
Profit before tax 24 9,506
Profit multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19 % (2018
- 19 %) 5 1,806
Effects of:
Income not assessable for tax purposes - (1,802)
Total tax charge for the year 5 4

Factors that may affect future tax charges

The standard rate of Corporation Tax in the UK is 19% and will remain at the same rate for the period
beginning on 1 April 2020.

Investments
Equity
investments
£000
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2019 53,306
Net book value
At 31 December 2019 53,306
Af 31 December 2018 53,306
Debtors
2019 2018
£000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year:
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

10.

11.

Debtors {continued)

Amounts owed by group undertakings 2,274

2,251

2,274

2,251

Amounts owed by group undertakings of £2,274,000 (2018: £2,251,000) are unsecured, interest bearing

and repayable on demand.

Creditors
2019 2018
£000 £000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed to group undertakings 427 423
Corporation tax 4 4
431 427

Amounts owed to group undertakings of £431.000 {2018: £427,000) are unsecured, interest free and

repayable on demand.

Share capital

2019 2018
£ £

Allotted and fully paid
1 ordinary 'A' share of USD$ 514.40 278 278
2 ordinary shares of USD$ 1.00 each 1 1
279 279

Post balance sheet events

The directors acknowledge the current outbreak of Covid-19 and its potential to impact the economy. As
at the date of issuance of these financial statements, there is no impact on the financial position of the

. company, and no future impact is expected.
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BOC INVESTMENTS NO.5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

12.

13.

Ultimate parent undertaking and parent company of larger group

The immediate parent undertaking is Linde Cryogenics Limited.

The ultimate parent undertaking and contrelling party of the company is Linde plc, which is registered in
Ireland at Ten Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, D02 T380, Ireland.

Linde plc is the parent undertaking and the smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial
statements. Copies of Linde plc's consolidated financial statements can be obtained from that company
at its principal trading address, 10 Priestley Road, Surrey Research Park, Guildford, Surrey, GU2 7XY,
England. The ultimate parent company was Linde GmbH {(formerely Linde AG}), a company registered in
Germany at Dr-Carl-von-Linde-Strafte 6-14, Pullach, 82049 Germany, until 31 October 2018 when Linde
plc acquired the majerity of the shares of Linde GmbH.

Participating interests

Subsidiary and associated undertakings

% of nominal

% of nominal

Country of value heldas  value held as
incorporation  Name at31.12.2019 at31.12.2018 MNature ofinterest Registered Office
BOC Gases
Reoubli t ireland EUR 1.26 01| ] F Kennedy Drive,
epublic. ot lrelan 35 35 O PTCNETY erebell, publin 12,
lreland Haldings shares
. Ireland
Limited
. ) . F Kennedy Drive,
Republic  of BOC {Trading) . . EUR 1.26 Ordinary ) y,
o 35 35 Bluebell, Dublin 12,
Ireland Limited shares
Ireland
) F Kennedy Drive,
Republic  of BOC Gases . . EUR 1.26 Ordinary : y.
. 35 35 Bluebell, Dublin 12,
Ireland Ireland Limited shares
Iretand
Cooper ) F Kennedy Drive,
Republic  of op i . , EUR1.27 Ordinary ) y_
Cryoservice 35 35 Bluebell, Dutlin 12,
Ireland i shares
Limited ireland
The Priestley Centre,
Spaldin 10 Priestley Road, The
United P g £1.00  Ordinary / ’
, Haulage 100 100 surrey Research Park,
Kingdom _ shares ,
Limited Guildford, Surrey,
GU2 7%y, England
* indirect

interestheld
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Financial Highlights

Year ended December 31
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Letter to Shareholders

Dear
Shareholders,

As twrile this lettes, the world is navigating an unprecedented
global health crisis, one that will shape our world for many
months if not yeais to come. in this challenging time, it is more
important than ever to remain vigilant on safeguarding the
heaith and well-being of our employees and communities while
reliably supplying products and services to our customers.

Currently, one of Linde’s key priorities is the centinuous supply
of oxygen and essential medical gases o support hospitals,
doctors, nurses and other medical professionals as they care
for COVID-19 patients. We are increasiag the amount of oxygen
produced at our air separation plants and are warking very
closely with local healthcare providers to anticipate demand
and adjust deliveries as required. Gur teams around the worlg
are working tirelessly to instail new liquid oxygen tanks and
eptimize cylinder filling plants to meet the surging demand
for vital medical gases. They are helping to increase critical
respiratory care capacity by setting up emergency sites and
transitioning patients to in-home care. | could not be prouder
of the resilience and respurcefulness demonstrated by Linde's
employees in the face of this crisis.




Letter to Shareholders

This determination and commitment has been evident not just
in recent weeks but over the past year. 2019 marked our first
yeai as a merged campany and the team executed beautifully.
Excluding the effects of currency, sales and EPS grew 4% and
239 respectively. ROC, the single most important metric for a
capital-intensive business, rose 130 basis points to 11.6% and we
closed the year with an industry leading backlog of $10 billion.

With respect to integration - it's largely done. We conducted
our first employee survey and | am pleased with the results.
This is a good indication of how well we integrated twa high-
quality companies in a relatively short period of time. We have
implemented strong processes and best practices at every
fevel of the new organization, making huge strides in building
a productivity-oriented cutture. The focus on operaticnal
excellence will help ensure success now and well into the
future. In particular, the ongoing expansion of our digital
toals and capabilities is invaluable and will drive continuous
improvement for many years te come.

Predictions on how the current crisis will affect global
economies in the long term are difficult to make, but | have
confidence in our ability to outperform given our resilient
business model and productivity opportunities to mitigate
any macroeconomic headwinds. As an example, during the
financial crisis of 2009 we nearfy doubled our free cash flow
and continued to increase the annual dividend,

As a high-quality business with a team that knows how

to execute in both good and chaltenging times, we have
an opportunity to dsamatically differentiate linde in the
months and years ahead. For example, our commercial
contract terms and conditions ensure a steady stream of
cash flow irrespective of volumes. Furthermore, ous products
are sourced, produced and sold locally, and are therefore
not directly subject to global supply chain or trade risks.
Additionally, our well-diversified portfolio has a significant
praportion of sales from resilient industries such as healthcare,
food, beverage and electronics. This combination of
contractual revenues, a well-diversified and resilient portfolio
and localized markets enables us to better align our cost
structure with each market reality.

Our record backlog of more than $10 billion in projects
provides a strong growth foundation for the next several
years. Many of these projects will supply blue chip companies
such as Samsung, TSMC, Sinopec, ExxonMobil, Phillips66 and
BASF and are ali supported by long-term contracts to protect
expected returns,

02

All of these business traits result in a resilient business model
supported by a very robust and high-quality balance sheet.
Our track record of expanding free cash flow threugh the most
challenging economic cycles has enabled 27 straight years

of annual dividend growth and instills confidence that we’ll
continue that trend going forward,

Our mission statement making agur world more productive
includes resource efficiency - making more with less - and
being a good steward of the environment in the places we
live and work around the world. To that end, we announced
ambitious new climate change goals, including a commitment
to lower our GHG emissions intensity by 35 % by 2028, which
marks 10 years from the date of the merger. As the world drives
towards a low carbon future, we anticipate a new wave of
opportunities from decarbonization, including green hydrogen
for mobility, hydrogen for renewable fuels, and carbon capture
dtilization and sequestration.

when you combine our resilient business model with a record
project backlog, strong balance sheet, growth opportunities
from decarbonization and a successfut track record through
many cycles - you can see why | remain confident in our
ability to deliver outstanding value for stakeholdess regardiess
of the challenges we face.

Stay safe!

Dlee M

Steve Angel

Chief £xecutive Officer




Highlights

Singapore - - - Sustainability -
ExxonMobil Project | Dow Jones World

single largest investment ($1.4bn) Index

for Linde - Included for 17 consecutive years

Linde has signed a lang-term agreement with
ExxonMobil Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. to support

the latest multi-billion dollar expansion of the
company’s integrated manufacturing complex
in singapore. With an investment of 1.4 billion
this will be the singte largest sale of gas
conlract in the hislary of the newly merged
Linde and of 1ts legacy companies.

Linde has been included in the Dow Jones
Sustainability World Index i its first year as a
new company. To be histed, the companies
must demonstrate continuous tnprovement i
a variety of economic, ecological and sociat
criteria. Linde was rated as the third highest
company in the chemical sector.

The project will include building and operating
four additional gasifiers, & 1,200 melric ton
per day air separation plant, as well as Linde's
proprietary downstrearm gas processing units
and sulphur recovery plants. Upon completion,
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the investment will supply hydrogen, carbon .
monoxide and syathesis gas to ExxonMobil and InVEStment in
other cuslomers on Jureng Island and quadruple Electrolysis Technology

Linde's prosent capacity
ITM Linde Electrolysis: Investment
of $50mm in the development of
electrolysis technology as part of

e our H, strategy

|_|nde Par“upates E The transaction provides Linde wilh a strategic
v, . . investment i a world leading manufactures
1N SWlSS H2 JOlnt of integrated hycgrogen energy solutions !
; In additon to ils investment, Linde has fonmed 4

! Venture joint venlure (JV) with ITM Power to implement

i . projects based on ITM Power’s tcchnology.
© 10 9% stake in Hydrospider AG The v wiil open new commercial oppartunities,
: acquired create capacity to deliver a higher volume of
: g projects, shorten lead times, improve execution
The investment offers the opportunity to shape k and reduce cosls.
ene of the most attractive projects for green
hydragen and emission-free mobility in Europe.
Hydrospider will be producing and marketing
green hydrogen from renewable electricity.
tinde will contribule its experience in the
construction and operation of electrolysis plants,
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Linde Leadership

From left te right:

Eduardo Menezes Executive vice President EMEA

Matt White executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Jurgen Nowicki Executive Vice President and CEQ Linde Engineering
Steve Angel Chief Executive Officer and Member of the Beard of Directois
Anne Roby xetutive Yice President

Sanjiv Lamba Executive Vice Peesident APAC

Andreas Opfermann Executive Vice President Americas
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Board of Directors

wolfgang Reitzle

Charrman,
Executive Committee
{Chairman)

Clemens Barsig

Audil Committee
{Chairman),
Momination and
Governance Committee

Franz Fehrenbach

Compensation Committee,
Nomination and
Governance Committee

Victoria Ossadnik

Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee

steve Angel

Executive Committee

Narice Dicciani

Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee

Edward Galante

Compensation Committee
(Chairman),
Audit Committee

Martin Richenhagen

E Compensation Committee,

Nomination and
Governance (ommiltee

Ann-Kristin Achleitner

Compensation Commitlee,
Nomination and
Governance Committee

Thomas Enders

Executive Committee,
Audit Committee

Larry Mcvay

Audit Commitree,
Nomination and
Governance Committee

Robert wood

Nomination and
Governance Committee
(Chawrman),

Executive Committee

ror more infgrmation about Linde’s corporate governance,
please visit our website at www.linde.com/about-finde/corporate-governance
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Sustainable Development

Operate world's

Best-in-class first commercial

safety performance hydrogen storage

, cavern
4x better than U.S. Gccupational
Health and Safety Administration
industrial average for lost

workday case rate The most on purpose
H, electrolysis

operating experience
in the industry: 40 MW, 80 units
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Several applications enabled

2X more
GHG emissions
- tobe avo!ded 300,000
. than were emitted in all of the ¢ students in our communities

benefitted from employee

company’s operations
L community engagement projects

Building
world’s first An industry leader in
hydrogen station diversity & inclusion

for fuel cell-powered
passenger trains

Dow Jones
Sustainability Indices

In Coliahoration with RobecoSAM ©

Bleomberg

FTSEG ood
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Our Mission, Vision and Values

Qur Vision

We are committed to fulfilling our
vision to be the best performing global
industrial gases and engineering
company, where our people deliver
innovative and sustainabie solutions

Our Mission

We live our mission of making our world
more productive every day. Through our
high-quality solutions, technologies and
services we are making our customers
more successful and helping to sustain
and protect our planet,

for our customers in a connected world.

Our Values
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Integrity Inclusion

Community

Accountability
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013

OR
[ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 13934
For the transition period from ta

Commission file number 001-38730

LINDE PLC

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
98-1448883
ireland
LR.S. Emplc; Identilication No.,
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The Priestley Centre

10 Priestley Road,
Surrey Research Park,
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ot "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer” " smaller reporting company, " and "emerging growth company” in Kule 12b-2 ol the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer 1 Accelerated filer T Non- accelerated filer 1 Smaller reporting company [J Emeiging growth company C]
If an emerging growth company. indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected nat 1o use the extended oransition perind for complying with am new or revised finandial acceunting stendards

pravided pursuant 1o Section 13(a) ol the Exchange At M

indicare by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document contains “forward-looking staternents” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-
looking statements are identified by terms and phrases such as: anticipate, believe, intend, estimate, expect, continue, should, covld, may, plan, project,
predict, will, potential, forecast, and similar expressions. They are based on management’s reascnable expectations and assumptions as of the date the
statements are made but involve risks and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties include, without limitation: the ability to successfully integrate the
Praxair and Linde AG businesses; regulatory or other requirements impased as a result of the business comhination of Praxair and Linde AG that could
reduce anticipated benefits of the ransaction; the risk that Linde plc may be unable to achieve expected synergies or that it may take longer or be more costly
than expected to achieve those synergies; the performance of stock markets generalty; developnients in worldwide and national economies and other
international events and circumstances, including trade conflicts and tariffs; changes in foreign currencies and in interest rates; the cost and availability of
electric power, natural gas and other raw materials; the ability to achicve price increases to offset cost increases; catastrophic events induding natural
disasters, epidemics and acts of war and terrorism; the ability to attract, hire, and retain yualified personnel; the impact of changes in financial accounting,
standards; the impact of changes in pension plan liabilities; the impact of tax, environmental, healthcare and other legislation and government regulation in
jurisdictions in which the company operates, including the impact of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017; the cost and outcoemes of investigations,
litigation and regulatory proceedings; the impaci of patential unusual or non-recurring items; continued timely development and market acceptance of new
products and applications; the impact of competitive products and pricing; future financial and operating performance of major customers and indusiries
served; the impact of information technology system failures, network disruptions and breaches in data security; and the effectiveness and speed of
integrating new acquisitions into the business. These risks and uncertainties may cause actual future results or circumstances to differ materially from
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, International Financial Reporting Standards or adjusted prajections, estimates or
other forward-looking statements.

Linde plc assumes no obligation to update or provide revisions to any forward-looking statement in response to changing circumstances. The above listed
risks and uncertainties are further described in Ttem 1A (Risk Factars) in this report, which should be reviewed carefully. Please consider Linde plc’s forward-
looking statements in light of those risks.
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Linde plc and Subsidiaries

PARTI
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

Linde plc is a public limited company formed under the laws of Ireland with its principal offices in the United Kingdom. Linde plc was formed in 2017
in accordance with the requirements of the business combination agreement, dated June 1, 2017, as amended, between Linde plc, Praxair, Inc. ("Praxair”) and
Linde Aktengesellschaft ("Linde AG"). Effective October 31, 2018, the business combination was completed and Linde plc is comprised of the businesses of
Praxair and Linde AG (hereinatter the combined group will be referred to as "the company” or "Linde").

The business combination brought tagether two leading companies in the global industrial gases industry, leveraging, the proven strengths of each.
Linde believes the merger will combine Linde AG’s long-held expertise in technology with Praxair’s efficient operating model, thus creating a global leader.
The company is expected to have strong positions in key geographies and end markets that will create a more diverse and balanced global pertfolio.

Linde i5 the largest industrial gas company woerldwide and is a major tchuolugical iunovatur in e udustial gases indusuy, Tis prldry prodacts i is
industrial gases business are arnospheric gases (oxygen, nitrogen, argon, and rare gases) and process gases (carbon dicxide, helium, hydrogen, electronic
gases, specialty gases, and acetylene). The company also designs and builds eguipment that produces indusirial gases primarily for interna use and offers
customers @ wide range of gas production and processing services such as olefin plants, natural gas plants, air separation plants, hydrogen and synthesis gas
plants and other types of plants.

Linde serves a diverse group of industries including healthcare, petroleum refining, manufacturing, food, beverage carbenation, fiber-optics, steel
making, aerospace, chemicals, electronics and water treaunent.

In 2018, the company, Praxair and Linde AG entered into various agreements with regulatory authorities to satisfy antitrust requirements ta secure
approval to consummate the business combination. These agreements required the sale of the majority of Praxair's European industrial gases business
(completed on December 3, 2018), the majority of Linde AG's Americas industrial gases business (completed on March 1, 2019), select assets of Linde AG's
South Korea industrial gases business (completed April 30, 2019), select assets of Praxair's Indian industrial gases business (completed July 12, 2019), select
assets of Linde AG's Indian industrial gases business (completed December 16, 2019) as well as certain divestitures of other Praxair and Linde AG businesses
in Asia that are expected to be seld in 2020. As of December 31, 2018 and until the completion of the majority of such divestitures, Linde AG and Praxair
were obligated to operate their businesses glabally as separate and independent companies, and not ceordinate any of their commercial operations, The U.5.
Federal Trade Commission's (“FTC”) hold separate order (“HS0”) restrictions were lifted March 1, 2019, concurrent with the sale of the required merger-
related divestitures in the United States. See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information relating to divestitures.

Praxair was determined to be the accounting acquirer in the business combination. Accordingly, the historical financial statements of Praxair for the
periods prior to the business combination are considered to be the historical financial statements of the company. The results of Linde AG are included in
Linde's consolidated results from the date of the completion of the business combination forward. During 2018, the company reported its continuing
operations in six reporting segments under which it managed its operations, assessed per(ormance, and reporled earnings: North America, South America,
Asia, Europe, Surface Technologies and Linde AG. Effective with the lifting of the hold separate order on March 1, 2019, new operating segments were
established. Linde’s industrial gases operations are managed on a geographic basis, which represents three of the company's new reportable segments -
Americas, EMEA (Europe/Middle East/Africa), and APAC (Asia/South Pacific); a fourth reportable segment which represents the company's Engineering
business, designs and manufactures equipment for air separatien and other industrial gas applications specificatly for end customers and is managed an a
worldwide basis operating in all geographic segments. Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses, which individually do not meet the
quanticative thresholds for separate presentation.

Linde’s sales were $28,228 million, $14,836 million, and $11.358 million for 2019, 2018, and 2017, sespectively. Refer to liem 7, Management's
Discussion and Analysis, for a discussion of consolidated sales and Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information related (o
Linde’s reportable segments.

Industrial Gases Preducts and Manufacturing Processes

Armospheric gases are the highest volume products produced by Linde. Using air as its raw material, Linde produces oxygen, nitrogen and argon
through several air separation processes of which uryogenic air separation is the most prevalent. Rare gases, such as krypton, neon and xenon, are also
produced through cryogenic air separation. As a picneer
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in the industrial gases industry, Linde is a keader in developing a wide range of proprietary and patented applications and supply systems technology. Linde
also led the development and commercialization of non-cryogenic air separation technologies for the production of industrial gases. These technologies open
itportant new markets and optimize production capacity for the company by lowering the cost ot supplying industrial gases. These technologies include
proprietary vacuum pressure swing adsorption (“VPSA”) and membrane separation to produce gaseous oxygen and nitrogen, respectively.

Process gases, including carbon dioxide, hydrogen, carbon monoxide, helium, specialty gases and acetylene are produced by methods other than air
scparation. Most carben dioxide is purchased from by-product sources, including chemical plants, refineries and industrial processes or is recovered from
carbon dioxide wells. Carbon dioxide is processed in Linde’s plants to produce commercial and food-grade carbon dioxide. Hydregen and carbon monoxide
can be produced by either steam methane reforming or auto-thermal reforming of natural gas or other feed streams such as naphtha. Hydrogen is alsa
produced by purifying by-product sources obtained from the chemical and pewrochemical industries. Acetylene is primarily sourced as a chemical by-preduct,
but may also be produced from calcium carbide and water.

Industrial Gases Distribution

There are three basic distribution methods for industrial gases: (i) on-site or tonnage; (i} merchant or bulk liquid; and (iii) packaged or cylinder gases.
These distribution methods are ofter integrated, with products from alk three supply modes coming from the same plant. The method of supply is generally
determined by the lowest cost means of meeting the customer’s needs, depending upon factors such as voluine requirements, purity, pattern of usage, and the
form in which the preduct is used (as a gas or as a cryegenic liquid).

On-site. Customers that require the largest volumes of product (typically oxygen, nitrogen and hydrogen) and that have a relatively constant demand
pattern are supplied by cryogenic and process gas on-site plants, Linde constructs plants on or adjacent to these customers’ sites and supplies the praduct
directly to customers by pipeline, On-site product supply contracts generally arc tatal requirement contracis with terms typically ranging from 10-20 years
and containing minimum purchase requirements and price escatation provisions. Many of the cryogemc on-site plants also produce liquid products for the
merchant market. Therefore, plants are typically not dedicated to a single customer. Advanced air separation processes altow cn-site delivery to custamers
with smaller volume requirements. Customers using these systems usually eater into requirement contracts with terms typically ranging from ten to twenty
years.

Merchant. The merchant business is generally associated with distributable liquid oxygen, nitrogen, argon, carbon dioxide, hydrogen and helinm. The
deliveries generally are made from Linde’s plants by tanker trucks to storage containers at the customer's site which are owned and maintained by Linde and
leased to the customer. Due to distribution cost, merchant oxygen and nitrogen generally have a refatively small distibution radius from the plants at which
they are produced. Merchant argon, hydrogen and helivm can be shipped much longer distances. The customer agreements used in the merchant business are
usually three to seven-year requirement conacts.

Packaged Gases, Customers requiring small volumes are supplied products in metal containers called cylinders, under medium to high pressure.
Packaged gases include ammospheric gases, carbon dioxide, hydrogen, helium, acetylene and related products. Linde also produces and distributes in cylinders
a wide range of specialty gases and mixtares. Cylinders may be delivered to the customer’s site or picked up by the customer at a packaging facility or retail
store. Packaged gases are generally sold under one to three-year supply contracts and through purchase orders.

A substantial amount of the cylinder gases sold in the United States are distributed by independent distributors that buy merchant gases in liquid form
and repackage the products in their facilities. Packaged gas distributors, including Linde, also distribute hardgoods and welding equipment purchased from
independent manufacturers. Over time, Linde has acquired a number of independent industrial gases and welding products distributors at various locations in
the United States and continues to sell merchant gases to other independent diswibutors. Between its own distribution business, joint ventures and sales to
independent distributors, Linde is represented in 48 states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico.

Engineering

Linde’s Engineering business has a global presence, with its focus on market segments such as olefin, natural gas, air separation, hydrogen and synthesis
gas plants. The company utilizes its own extensive process engineering know-how in the planning, project development and construction of turnkey industrial
plants and associated services. Linde plants are used in a wide variety of fields: in the petrochemical and chemical industries, in refineries and fertilizer plants,
10 recover air gases, to produce hydrogen and synthesis gases, to treat natural gas and to produce nable gases. The Fngineering business either supplies plant
components and serviges directly to the customer or to the industrial gas business of Linde which operates the plants on behalf of the customer under a long-
terin gases supply contract.
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Inventories — Linde carries inventories of merchant and cvlinder gases, hardgoods and coatings materials to supply products to its custoriers on a reasonable
delivery schedule. On-site plants and pipeline complexes have limited inventory. Inventory obsolescence is not material to Linde’s business.

Gustomers — Liade is not dependent upon a single customer or a few customers.

International — Linde is a glabal enterprise with approximately 70% of its 2019 sales outside of the United States. The cempany also has majority or wholly
owned subsidiaries that operate in approximately 45 European, Middle Eastern and African countries (including Germany, France, Sweden, the Republic of
South Africa, and the United Kingdom); approximately 20 Asian and South Pacific countries (including China, Taiwan, India and Australia); and
approximately 20 countries in North and South America (including Canada, Mexico and Brazil).

The company also has equity methed investments operating in Eurape, Asia, Africa, the Middie East, and North America.

Linde’s international business is subject to risks customarily encountered in foreign operations, including fluctuations in [oreign currency exchange rates,
import and export conteols, and other economic, political and regulatory policies of local governments. Also, see Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and Hem 7A.
“Quantitative and Qualitative Dischosures About Market Risk.”

Seasonality — Linde’s business is generally not subject to seasonal fluctuations to any significant extent.

Research and Development — Linde’s research and development is directed toward development of gas processing, separation and liguefaction technologies,
improving distribution of industrial gases and the development of new markets and applications for these gases. This results in the development of new
advanced air separation, hydrogen, synthesis gas, natural gas, adsorption and chemical pracess technologies as well as the frequent introduction of new
industrial gas applications, Research and development is primarily conducted at Pullach, Germany, Tonawanda, New York, Burr Ridge, llincis and Shanghai,
China.

Patents and Trademarks — Linde owns or licenses a large number of patents that relate to a wide variety of products and precesses. Linde’s patents expire at
various times over the next 20 years. While these patents and licenses are considered important to its individual businesses, Linde does not consider its
business as a whole to be materially dependent upon any one particular patent, or patent license, or family of patenss. Linde also owns a large number of
trademarks, of which the "Linde" trademark is the most significant.

Raw Materials and Energy Casts — Energy is the single largest cost item in the production and distribution of industrial gases. Most of Linde’s energy
requirenents are in the form of electricity, natural gas and diesel fuel for distribution, The company mitigates electricity, natural gas, and hydrocarbon price
fluctuations contractually through pricing formulas, surcharges, and cost pass—through and wlling arrangements.

The supply of energy has not been a significant issue in the geographic areas where the company conducts business. However, energy availability and price is
unpredictable and may pose unforeseen future risks.

For carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, helium, hydrogen, specialty gases and surface technologies, raw materials are largely purchased from outside sources.
Linde has contracts or commitments for, or readily available sources of, most of these raw materials; however, their long-term availability and prices are
subject to market conditions,

Competition - Linde participates in highly competitive markets in the industrial gases, engineering and healthcare businesses, which are characterized hy a
mixture of local, regional and glcbal players, all of which exert competitive pressure on the parties. In locatiens where Linde has pipeline networks, which
enable the company to provide reliable and economic supply of products to larger customers, Linde desives a compelitive advantage.

Competitars in the industrial and medical gases industry include global and regional companies such as L*Air Liquide 5.A., Air Products and Chemicals, lnc,,
Messer Group GmbH, Mitsubishi Chemical Holdings Corporation (through Taivo Nippon Sanso Cerporation) as well as an extensive namber of small to
medium size independent industrial gas companies which compete locally as producers or distribuzors. In addition, a significant portion of the international
gases market relates to customer-owned plants.

Employees and Labor Relations — As of December 31, 2019, Linde had 79,886 employees worldwide. Linde has collective bargaining agreements with
unions at numerous locations throughout the world, which expire at various dates. Linde considers relations with its employees to be satisfactory.

Environment — Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned “Management’s Discussion and Analysis —
Environmental Matters” in Ttem 7 of this 10-K.
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Awailable Information — The company makes its periodic and current reposts available, free of charge, on or through its website, www.linde.com, as soon as
practicable after such matertal is electronically filed with, or furnished 1o, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Investors may also access from
the company website other investor information such as press releases and presentations. Information on the company’s website is not incorporated by
reference herein. In addition, the public may read and copy any materials filed with the SEC free of charge at the SEC’s website, www.sec.gov, that contains
reports, proxy informaton statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically.

Executive Officers — The following Executive Officers have been ¢lected by the Board of Directors and serve ar the pleasurc of the Board. It is expected that
the Board will elect officers annually following each annual meeting of shareholders.

Stephen F. Angel, 64, is Chief Executive Officer of Linde. Prior to that, Mr. Angel was Chairman, President and CEQ of Praxair, Inc. since 2007. Angel
joined Praxair in 2001 as an executive vice president and was named president and chief operating officer in February 200G. Prior to joining Praxair, Angel
spent 22 years in a variety of management positions with General Electric. Angel serves on the board of directors of PPG Industries and the U.S.-China
Business Council and is a member of The Business Council. Angel received a bachelor of science degree in civil engineering from North Carolina State
University and an MBA from Loyola College in Baltimore,

D, Christian Bruch, age 49, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection with the business combination
in October 2018. He js also the Head of Engineering for Linde and is a member of the Executive Board ot Linde AG. Dr. Bruch joined The Linde Group's
Gases Division in 2004 as a Business Development Manager for Airgases. In 2006 he became the Head of Tonnage Business Development for air separation
projects in Eurcpe, the Middle East and Africa. In 2009 he transferred to the Engineering Division, where he was responsible for the product line Air
Separation Plants. In 2013 he was appointed a member of the Board of Directors at the Engineering Division, a position he held until becoming a member of
the Executive Board of Linde AG at the beginning of 2015 respensible for the Linde Engineering Division and the Corporate & Support Function Technology
& Innovation. Prior to joining The Linde Group, Dr. Bruch worked for the Swiss Institute of Technology in Ziirich and for the RWE Greup in Essen,
Germany.

Kelcey E. Hoyt, age 50, became the Chief Accounting Officer of Linde in connection with the business combination in October 2018, Prior to this, she served
as Vice President and Conmoller of Praxair, Inc, effective Angust 1, 2016. Prior to becoming Contreller, she served as Praxair’s Director of Investor Relations
since 2010. She joined Praxair in 2002 and served as Director of Corporate Accounting and SEC Reporting through 2008, and later served as Controller for
varipus divisions within Praxair’s North American Industrial Gas business. Previously, she had five years of experience in audit at KPMG, LLP.

Sanjiv Lamba age 55, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connecticn with the business combination in
Qctober 2018. He is the Head of APAC. Mr. Lamba was appointed a Member of the Executive Board of Linde AG in 2011, responsible for the Asia, Pacific
segment of the Gases Division, for Global Gases Businesses Helium & Rare Gases, Electronics as wel as Asia Joint Venture Management. Mr. Lamba started
his career 1989 with BOC India in Finance where he progressed to become Director of Finance. He was appeinted Managing Director for BOC’s India’s
business in 2001. Throughout his vears with BOC/Linde, he has worked in a number of geographies including Germany, the UK, Singapore and India where
he has held numerous roles across the organization.

Eduardo F. Menezes, age 56, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in coanection with the business combination
in October 2018, He is the Head of EMEA. Mr. Menezes previcusly served as Executive Vice President of Praxair, Inc. since 2612, responsible for Praxair
Eurape, Praxair Mexico, Praxair South America and Praxair Asia. From 2010 to March 2011, he was a Vice President of Praxair with respensibility for the
North American Industrial Gases business and was named senior vice president in 2011, From 2007 0 2010, he was President of Praxair Europe. He served
as Managing Director of Praxair’s business in Mexico from 2004 te 2007, as Vice President and General Manager for Praxair Distribution, Inc. from 2003 to
2004 and as Vice President, U.S. West Regicn, for North American Industrial Gases, from 2000 to 2003.

Dr. Andreas Opfermann, 48, became Executive Vice President of Americas and a member of the Management Cominittee of Linde in November 2019. Prior
to this, from 2016-2019, he was the regional business unit leader for Linde’s North European region, Dr. Opfermann joined Linde in 2005 initially in
Corporate Strategy. He has subsequently served as Head of Innovaticn Management from 2008 to 2010, Head of Clean Energy and Innovation Management
from 2010 to 2014, and Head of Technology and Innovation from 2015 to 2016, responsible for all Linde research and development. Before joining Linde, he
held positions at McKinsey & Company.
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Anne K. Roby, age 55, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection with the business combination in
October 2018. She is the Head of Global Functions. Prior to this, Dr. Roby served as Senior Vice President of Praxair, Inc. since January 1, 2014, responsible
for Global Supply Systems, R&D, Global Market Development, Global Operations Excellence, Global Strategic Sales, Glabal Procurement, Sustainability
and Safety, Health and Environment. From 2011to 2013, she served as President of Praxair Asia, responsibie for Praxair’s industrial gases business in China,
India, South Korea and Thailand as well as the electronics market globally. In 2010, Dr. Reby became President of Praxair Electronics, after having served as
Vice President, Global Sales, for Praxair from 2009 to 2010. Pricr to this, she was Vice President of the Praxair U.S. South Region from 2006 to 2009. Dr.
Roby joined Praxair in 1991 as a development associate in the company’s R&D organization and was promoted to other positions of increasing responsibility.

Matt J. White, age 47, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection with the business cembination in
October 2018. He is the Chief Financial Officer for Linde. He previously served as the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Praxatr, Inc. since
January 1, 2014. Prior to this, Mr. White was President of Praxair Canada from 2011-2014. He joined Praxatr in 2004 as finance director for the company’s
largest business unit, North American Industrial Gases. [n 2008, he became Vice President and Controtler of Praxair, Inc., then was named Vice President and
Treasurer in 2010. Before joining Praxair, White was vice president, finance, at Fisher Scientific and before that he held various financial pesitions, including
group controller, at GenTek, a manufacturing and performance chemicals company.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Due to the size and geographic reach of the company’s operations, a wide range of factors, many of which are cutside of the company’s control,
could materially affect the company’s future operations and financial performance. Management believes the following risks may significantly impact the
company:

The company may fail to realize the anticipated strategic and financial benefits sought from the business combination.

The company may not realize all of the anticipated benefits of the business combination between Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG, which was completed
nn October 31, 2018. The success of the business combination will depend on, amaong other things, the company’s ability to combine Praxair, Inc.’s and Linde
AG’s businesses in a manner that facilitates growth and realizes the anticipated annual synergies and cost reductions without adversely affecting current
revenues and investments in future growth. The actual integration will continue to involve complex operational, technological and personnel-related
challenges. Difficulties in the integration of the businesses, which may resuli in significant costs and delays, include:

+  managing a significantly larger combined group;

«  aligning and executing the strategy of the company;

+  integrating and unifying the offerings and services available to customers and cocrdinating distribution and marketing efforts in geographically
separate organizations;

+  coordinating corporate and administrative infrastructures and aligning insurance coverage;

< coordinating accounting, reporting, information technology, communications, administration and other systems;

+  addressing possible differences in corporate cultures and management philosophies;

+  the company being subject to Irish laws and regulations and legal action ir Ireland;

= coordinating the compliance program and uniform financiat reporting, information lechnology and cther standards, controls, procedures and
policies;

+ the implementation, ultimate impact and outcome of post-completion recrganization transactions, which may be delayed;

»  unforeseen and unexpected liabilities related to the business combination or the combined businesses;

+ managing tax costs or inefficiencies associated with integrating operations;

+  identifying and eliminating redundant and underperforming functions and assets; and

+  effecting actions that may be required in connection with obtaining regniatory approvals.

These and other factors could result in increased costs and diversion of management’s time and energy, as well as decreases in the amount of
expected revenue and earnings. 'L'he integration process and other disruptions resulting from the business combination may alse adversely affect the
company’s relationships with employees, suppliers, customers, distributars, licensors and others with whom Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG have business or
other dealings, and difficulties in integrating the businesses could harm the reputation of the company.

If the company is not able to successfully integrate the businesses of Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG in an efficient, cost-effective and timely manner, the
anticipated benefits and cost savings of the business combination may not be realized fully, or at all, or may take longer to realize than expected.

Weakening economic conditions in markets in which Linde does business may adversely impact its financial results and/or cash flows.

Linde serves a diverse group of industries across more than 100 countries, which generally leads to financial stability threugh various business
cycles. However, a broad decline in general economic or business conditions in the industries served by its customers could adversely affect the demand for
Linde’s products and impair the ability of its customers to satisfy their obligations to Linde, resulting in uncollected receivables and/or unanticipared contract
terminations or project delays. For example, global political and economic uncertainty could reduce investment activities of Linde’s customers, which could
adversely affect Linde’s business.

In addition, many of Linde’s customers are in businesses that are cyclical in nature, such as the chemicals, electronics, metals and energy industiies.
Downiumns in these industries may adversely impact Linde during these cycles. Additionally, such conditions could impact the utilization of Linde’s
manufacturing capacity which may require it to
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recognize impairment losses on tangible assets such as property, plant and equipiment, as well as intangible assets such as goodwill, customer refationships or
imtellectual praperty.

Increases in the cost of energy and raw materials and/or disruption in the supply of these materials could result in lost sales or reduced profitability.

Energy is the single largest cost item in the production and distribution of industrial gases. Most of Linde’s energy requirements are in the form of
electricity, natural gas and diesel fuel for distribution. Linde attemprts to minimize the financial impact of variability in these costs through the management of
customer contracts and reducing demand through operatienal productivity and energy efficiency. Large customer contracts typicatly have escalation and pass-
through clauses to recover energy and feedstock costs. Such attempts may not successfully mitigate cost variability, which could negatively impact Linde’s
financial condition or results of operations. The supply of energy has not been a significant issue in the geographic areas where Linde conducts business.
However, regional energy conditions are unpredictable and may pose future risk.

For carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, helium, hydrogen, specialty gases and surface technologies, raw materials are largely purchased from ourside
sources. Where feasible, Linde sources several of these raw materials, including carbon dioxide, hydrogen and calcium carbide, as chemical or industrial
byproducts. In addition, Linde has contracts or commitments for, or readily available sources of, most of these raw materials; however, their long-term
availability and prices are subject to market conditions. A disruption in supply of such raw matertals could impact Linde’s ability 1o meet contractual supply
COMINitments.

Linde’s international operations are subject to the risks of doing business abroad and international events and circumstances may adversely impact its
business, financial condition or results of operations.

Linde has substantial international operations which are subject to risks including devaluations in currency exchange rates, transportation delays and
interruptions, political and economic instability and disruptions, restrictions on the transfer of funds, trade conflicts and the imposition of duties and tariffs,
import and export controls, changes in governmental policies, labor unrest, pessible nationalization and‘or exprapriation of assets, domestic and international
tax laws and compliance with goveramental regulations. These events could have an adverse effect on the international operations of Linde in the future by
reducing the demand for its products, decreasing the prices at which it can sell its products, reducing the revenue from internaticnal operations or otherwise
having an adverse effect on its business. For example, Linde has a meaningful presence in the UK. and the U.K.’s ongoing exit process from the EU has
continued to cause, and may in the funire cause, political and economic uncertainty, which could have an adverse impact on the markets which Linde
supplies.

Currency exchange rate fluctuations and other related risks may adversely affect Linde's results.

Because a significant portion of Linde's revenue is denaminated in currencies other than its reporting currency, the U.S. dollar, changes in exchange
rates will produce fluctuations in revenue, costs and earnings and may also affect the book value of assets and liabilities and related equity. Although the
company from time to time wtilizes foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge these exposures, its efforts to minimize currency exposure through such
hedging transactions may not be successful depending on market and business conditions. As a result, fluctuations in foreign cusrency exchange rates could
adversely affect Linde’s financial condition, results of eperations cr cash flows.

Macroeconomic factors may impact Linde’s ability to obtain financing or increase the cost of obtaining financing which may adversely impact Linde’s
finoncial results and/or cash flows.

Volatility and disruption in the U.S., European and global credit and equity markets, from time to time, could make it more difficult for Linde to
obtain financing for its operations and/or could increase the cost of obtaining financing. In addition, Linde’s borrewing costs can be affected by short- and
long-term debt ratings assigned by independent rating agencies which are based, in significant part, on its performance as measured by certain criteria such as
interest coverage and leverage ratios. A decrease in these debt ratings could increase the cost of berrowing or make it more difficult to obtain financing.
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An impairment of goodwill or intangible assets could negatively impact the company’s financial results.

As of December 31, 2019, the net carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets was $27 billion and $2 billion, respectively,
primarily as a result of the business combination and the related acquisition method of accounting applied to Linde AG. In accordance with generally
accepied accounting principles, the company periodically assesses these assets to determine if they are impaired. Significant negative industry or economic
trends, disruptions to business, unexpected significant changes or planned changes in use of the assets, divestitures and sustained market capitalization
declines may result in recognition of impairments to goodwill or other indefinite-lived assets. Any charges relating to such impairments couid have a material
adverse impact on Linde’s results of operations in the periods recognized.

Catastrophic events could disrupt the operations of Linde and/or its customers and suppliers and may have a significant adverse impact on the results of
aperations.

The occurrence of catastrophic events or natural disasters such as extreme weather, including hurricanes and floods; health epidemics; and acts of
war or terrorism, could disrupt or detay Linde’s ability to produce and distribute its products to customers and could potentially expose Linde to third-party
liability claims. In addition, such events could impact Linde’s customers and suppliers resulting in temporary or long-term outages and/or the limitation of
supply of energy and other raw materials used in normal husiness operations. Linde evaluates the direct and indirect business risks, consults with vendors,
insurance providers and industy experts, makes investments in suitably resilient design and technology, and conducts regular reviews of the business risks
with management. Despite these steps, however, these situations are cutside Linde’s control and may have a significant adverse impact on its financial results.

The inability to atiract and retain qualified personnel may adversely impact Linde’s business.

If Linde fails to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel, it may not be able to develop, market or sell its products or successfully manage its
business. Linde is dependent upon a highly skilled, experienced and efficient workforce to be successful. Much of Linde’s competitive advantage is based on
the expertise and experience of key personnel regarding marketing, technology, manufacuring and distributior infrastructure, systems and products. The
inability to attract and hire qualified individuals or the loss of key employees in very skilled areas could have a negative effect on Linde’s financial results.

If Linde fails to keep pace with technological advances in the industry or if new technology initiatives do not become comunerciolly accepted, customers
may not continue to buy Linde’s products and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Linde’s research and development is directed toward developing new and improved methods for the production and distribution of industrial gases,
the design and construction of plants and toward developing new markets and applications for the use of industrial and process gases. This results in the
introduction of new applications and the develppment of new advanced air separation process technologies. As a result of these efforts, Linde develops new
and proprietary technologies and employs necessary measures to protect such technologies within the global geographies in which Linde operates. These
technologies help Linde te create a competitive advantage and to provide a platform to grow its business. If Linde’s research and development activities do
not keep pace with competitors or if Linde does not create new technologies that benefit customers, future results of operations could be adversely affected.

Risks related to pension benefit plans may adversely impact Linde’s results of operations and cash flows.

Pension benefits represent significant financial obligations that will be ultimately settled in the future with employees who meet eligibility
requirements. Recause of the uncertainties involved in estimating the timing and amount of future payments and asset returns, significant estimates are
required to calculate pension expense and liabilities related to Linde’s plans. Linde utilizes the services of independent actuaries, whose medels are used to
facilitate these calculations. Several key assumptions are used in the actvarial models 1o calculate pension expense and liability amounts recorded in the
consolidated financial staternents. In particular, significant changes in actual investment returns on pension assets, discount rates, or Jegislative or regulatory
changes could impact future results of operations and required pension contributions.
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Operational risks may adversely impact Linde’s business or results of operations.

Linde’s operating results are dependent on the continued operatich of its praoduction facilities and its ability to meet customer contract requirements
and other needs. Insufficient or excess capacity threatens Linde’s ability 1o penerate competitive profit margins and may expose Linde to liabilities related to
contract cominitments. Operating results are also dependent on Linde’s ability to complete new construction projects on time, on budget and in accordance
with performance requirements. Failure to do so may expose Linde’s business to foss of revenue, potentiat litigation and loss of business reputation.

Alsa inherent in the management of Linde’s production facilities and delivery systems, including storage, vehicle transportation and pipelines, are
operational risks that require continuous training, oversight and control. Material operating failures ar production, storage facilities or pipelines, including fire,
toxic release and explosions, or the occurrence of vehicle ransportation accidents could result in loss of life, damage to the environment, loss of production
and/or extensive property damage, all of which may negatively impact Linde’s financial results.

Linde may be subject to infermation technulogy system failures, network disruptions and breaches in data security.

Linde relies on informatian technology systems and networks tor business and operational actvhiies, aud also stuies aud prucesses sensitive business
and proprietary information in these systems and networks. These systems are susceptible to outages due to fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications
failures, viruses, break-ins and similar events, or breaches of security.

Linde has taken steps to address these risks and concerns by implementing advanced security technologies, internal confrols, network and data center
resiliency and recovery process. Despite these steps, however, operational failures and breaches of security from increasingly sophisticated cyber threats
could lead to the loss or disclosure of confidential information, result in business interruption or malfunction or regulatory actions and have a material adverse
impact on Linde’s operations, reputation and financial results.

The inability 1o effectively integrate acquisitions or collaborate with joint venture partners could adversely impact Linde’s financial position and resulis of
operations.

In addition to the business combination, Linde has evaluated and expects to continue te evaluate, a wide array of potential strategic acquisitions and
jeint ventures. Many of these transactions, if consummated, could be material to its financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the process of
integrating an acquired company, business or group of assets may create upforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. Although historically Linde has
been successful with its acquisition strategy and execution, the areas where Linde may face risks include:

»  the need to implement or remediate controls, pracedures and palicies appropriate for a Jarger public company at companies that prior to the
acquisition lacked these controls, procedures and policies;

+  diversion of management time and focus from operating existing business to acquisition integration challenges;

»  culwral challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into the existing organization;

+  the need to integrate each company’s accounting, management information, human resources and other administrative systems ta permit
elfeclive management;

»  difficulty with the assimilation of acquired operations and products;

+  failure to achieve targeted synergies and cost reductions; and

+  inability 1o retain key employees and business relationships of acquired companies.

Foreign acquisitions and joint ventures involve unique risks in addition to those mentioned herein, including those related to integration of operations
across different cultures and languages, currency risks and the particular econamic, political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries.

Also, the anticipated benefit of potential future acquisitions may not materialize. Future acquisitions or dispositions couid result in the incurrence of
debt, contingent liabilities or amortization expenses, or impairments of gogdwill, any of which could adversely impact Linde’s financial results,
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Linde is subject to a variety of international laws and government regulations and changes in, or faifure to comply with, these laws or regulations could
have an adverse impact on the company’s business, financial position and results of operations.

Linde is subject to regulations in the following areas, among others:

= environmental protecticn, inciuding climate change and energy efficiency laws and policies;

»  domestic and international tax laws and currency controls;

- safety;

«  securities laws applicable in the United States, the European Unicn, Germany, Ireland, and other jurisdictions;
= trade and import/expott restrictions, as well as econcmic sanctions laws;

»  antitrust matters;

+  data protection;

«  global ant-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; and

»  healthcare regulations.

Changes in these or other regulatory areas, such as evolving environmental legislation in China, may impact Linde’s profitability and may give rise
te new or increased compliance risks; it may become more complex and costly to ensure compliance, and the level of sanctions in the event of non-
compliance may rise. Such changes may also restrict Linde's ability to compete effectively in the marketplace. Noncompliance with such laws and regulations
could result in penalties or sanctions, cancellation of marketing rights or restrictions on participation in, o even exclusion from, public tender proceedings, all
of which could have a material adverse impact on Linde’s financial results and/or reputation.

Doing business glchally requires Linde to comply with anti-corruption, trade, compliance and economic sanctions and similar laws, and to
implement policies and procedures designed te ensure that its employees and other intermediaries comply with the applicable restrictions. These restrictions
include prohibitions cn the sale or supply of certain products, services and any cther economic resources to embargoed or sanctioned countries, governments,
persens and entities. Compliance with these restrictions requires, among other things, screening of business partners. Despite its commitmeat to legal
compliance and corporate ethics, the company cannot ensure that its policies and procedures will always protect it from intentional, reckless or negligent acts
committed by employees or agents under the applicable laws. If Linde fails to comply with laws governing the conduct of international operations, Linde may
be subject to criminal and civil penalties and other remedial measures, which could materially adversely affect its reputation, business and results of
operations.

The outcome of litigation or governmental investigations may adversely impact the company’s business or results of operations.

Linde’s subsidiaries are party to various lawsuits and governmental invesiigations arising in the ordinary course of business. Adverse cutcomes in
some or all of the claims pending may result in significant monetary damages or injunctive relief that could adversely affect Linde’s ability to conduct
business. Linde and its subsidiaries may in the future become subject to further claims and litigation, which is impossible to predict. The litigation and other
claims Linde faces are subject to inherent uncertainties. Legal or regulatory judgments or agreed settlements might give rise to expenses which are not
covered, or are net fully covered, by insurance benefits and may also lead to negative publicity and reputational damage. An unfavorable outcome or
determination could cause a material adverse impdct on the company’s resulis of operalions.

Potential product defects or inadequate customer care may adversely impact Linde’s business or results of operations.

Risks associated with products and services may result in potential liability claims, the loss of customers or damage to Linde's reputation. Principal
possible causes of risks associated with products and services are product defects or an inadeqguate level of customer care when Linde is providing services.

Linde is exposed to legal risks relating to preduct liability in the countries where it operates, including countries such as the United States. where
legal risks (in particular through class actions) have historically been mere significant than in other countries. The outcome of any pending or future products
and services proceedings or investigations cannct be predicted and legal or regulatory judgments or agreed settlements may give rise to significant losses,
costs and expenses.

The manufacturing and sale of products as well as the construction of plants by Linde may give rise to risks asscciated with the production, filling,
storage. handling and transpert of raw mateiials, gocds or waste. [nduswial gases are
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potentially hazardous substances and medical gases and the related healthcare services must comply with the relevant specifications in order t net adversely
affect the health of patients treated with them.

Linde’s products and services, if defective or not handled or performed appropriately, may lead to perscnal injuries, business interruptions,
environmental damages or other significant damages, which may result, among other consequences, in liability, losses, monetary penalties or compensation
payments, environmental clean-up costs or other costs and expenses, exclusion from certain market sectors deemed important for future development of the
business and loss of reputation, All these consequences could have a material adverse effect on Linde’s business and results of operations.

U.S. civil liabilities may not be enforceable against Linde.

Linde is organized under the laws of Ireland and substantial portions of its assets will be located outside of the United States. In addition, certain
dircctors and officers of Linde and its subsidiaries reside outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult for investors te effect service of process
within the United States upon Linde or such persons, or to enforce outside the United States judgments obtained against such persons in U1.S. courts in any
action, including actions predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws. In addition, it may be difficult for investors to
enforce, in original actions brought in courts in jurisdictions located outside the United States, rights predicated upon the U.S. federal securities laws.

A judgment for the payment of money rendered by a court in the United States based on civil liability would not be automatically enforceable in
Ireland. There is no treaty between Ireland and the United States providing for the reciprocal enforcement of foreign judgments. The following requirements
must be met befare the foreign judgment will be deemed to be enforceable in Ireland (i) the judgment must be for a definite sum, (ii) the judgment must be
final and conclusive; and (iii) the judgment must be provided by a court of competent jurisdiction.

An Irish court will also exercise its right to refuse judgment if the foreign judgment (i) was obtained by fraud; (ii) violated Irish public policy; (iii) is
in breach of natural justice; or (iv) if the judgment is irreconcilable with an earlier foreign judgment.

In addition, there is doubt as to whether an Irish court would accept jurisdiction and impose civil liability on Linde or such persons in an original
action predicated solely upon the U.S. federal securities laws brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in Ireland against Linde or such member, officer or
expert, respectively.

Changes in tax laws or policy could adversely impact the company’s financia! position or results of operations.

Linde and its subsidiaries are subject to the tax rules and regulations in the U.S., Germany, Ireland, the U.K. and other counuies in which they
operate. Thase tax rules and regulations are subject to change on a prospective or rewwoactive basis. Under current ecoromic and political conditions, including
the U.K.’s ongoing exit process from the EU, tax rates and policies in any jurisdiction, including the U.5., the U.K. and the EU, are subject to significant
change. In particular, since Linde is currently treated as U.K. tax resident, any potential changes in the tax rules applying to UK. tax-resident companies
would directly affect Linde.

A change in Linde’s tax residency could have a negative effect on the conmpany’s future profitability and may trigger taxes on dividends or exit
charges. If Linde ceases to be resident in the United Kingdem and becomes resident in another jurisdiction, it may be subject to United Kingdom exit charges,
and‘or could become liable for additional tax charges in the other jurisdiction. If Linde were to be reated as resident in more than ane jurisdiction, it could be
subject to duplicative taxation. Furthermore, although Linde is incorparated in Irefand and is not expected to be weated as a domestic corporation for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, it is possible that the IRS could disagree with this result or that changes in U.S, federal income tax law could alter this result. If
the IRS successfully asserted such a position or the law were to change, significant adverse tax consequences may result for Linde, the company and Linde’s
shareholders.

‘When tax rules change, this may result in a higher tax expense and the need to make higher tax payments. In addition, changes in tax legislation may
have a significant impact on Linde’s and its subsidiaries’ tax receivables and tax liabilities as well as on their deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabiities
and uncertainty about the tax environment in some regions may restrict their opportunities to enforce their respective rights under the law. Linde also operates
in countries with complex tax regulations which could be interpreted in different ways. Interpretations of these regulations or changes in the tax system might
have an adverse impact on the tax liabilities, profitability and business operations of
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Linde. Linde and its subsidiaries are subject to periodic audits by the tax authorities in various jurisdictions or other review actions by the relevant financial or
tax authorities, The ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in Linde’s or its subsidiaries” financial statements and may materially affect

their respective financial results for the period when such determination is made.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Linde has received no written SEC staff comments regarding any of its Exchange Act reports which remain unresolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Linde plc's principal executive offices are tocated in owned office space in Guildford, United Kingdom. Linde alse owns principal adminisrative office
space in Danbury, Conneclicut and Houston, Texas, United States; Pullach, Germany; and Singapore.

Due to the nature of Linde’s industrial gas products, it is generally uneconomical to transport them distances greater than a few hundred miles from the
production facility. As a result, Linde operates a significant number of production facitities spread globally throughout a number of geographic regions.

The following is a description of producticn facilities for Linde by segment. No significant portion of these assets was leased at December 31, 2019.
Generally, these facilities are fully utilized and are sufficient to meet the company's manufacturing needs.

Americas

The Americas segment operates production facilities primarily in the 1).S., Canada, Mexico and Brazil, approximately 350 of which are mainly
cryogenic air separation plants, hydrogen plants and carbon dioxide plants. There are five major pipeline complexes in North America located in northern
Indiana, Houston, along the Gulf Caast of Texas, Detvoit and Louisiana. Many of the South American plants support one pipeline complex in Southern Brazil.
Also located throughout the Americas are noncryogenic air separation plants, packaged gas facilities and other smaller plant facilities.

EMEA

The EMEA segment has production facilities primarily in Italy, Spain, Germany, the Benelux region, the United Kingdom, Scandinavia and Russia
which include approximately 230 cryogenic air separation plants and carbon dioxide plants. Also located throughout Europe are noncryogenic air separation
plants, packaged gas facilities and other smatler plant facilities.

APAC

The APAC segment has production facilities located primarily in China, Korea, India and Thailand, approximately 230 of which are cryogenic air
separation plants and carben dioxide plants. Also located throughout Asia are noncryogenic air separation plants, hydrogen, packaged gas and other
production facilities.

Engineering

The T.inde Engineering business designs and constructs turnkey process plants for third-party customers as well as for the Linde gases businesses in
many locations worldwide, such as olefin plants, natural gas plants, air separation plants, hydrogen and synthesis gas plants. Plant components are produced
in owned facteries in Pullach and Tacherting, Germany; Hesinque, France; Oklahoma, Uaited States; and Dalian, China.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — 19.
Commitments and Contingencies” in Item 8 of this 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable
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PART I1

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Linde plc shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and the Fraunkfurt Stock Exchange (*FSE”) under the ticker symbol “LIN”. At
December 31, 2019 there were 9,322 shareholders of record.

Purchases of Equity Securities — Certain information regarding purchases made by or on behalf of the company or any affiliated purchaser (as defined
in Rule 10b-18(a}(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of its ordinary shares during the three months ended December 31, 2019 is
pravided belaw:

Total Number of

Total Shares Purchased as Approximate Dollar
Number of Part of Publicly Value of Shares that
Shares Average Announced May Yet be Purchased
Purchased Price Paid Program (1) Under the Program (2)
Period {Thousands) Per Share (Thousands) (Millions)
October 2019 716 % 191.19 716§ 4,322
November 2019 1,033 §$ 20574 HEE s 8§
December 2019 1,896 % 207.31 1,896 § 3,715
Fourth Quarter 2019 3651 3% 263.70 316510 87

(1) On January 22, 2019 the company’s board of directors approved the repurchase of $6.0 billion of its ordinary shares ("2019 program") which could
take place from time to dme on the open market (and could include the use of 10b5-1 trading plans), subject to market and business conditions. The
2019 program has a maximum repurchase amount of 15% of outstanding shares and a stated expiration date of February 1, 2021.

{2) As of December 31, 2019, the company repurchased $2.3 billion of its ordinary shares pursuant to the 2019 program, leaving an additional $3.7
billicn authorized.
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Peer Performance Table — The graph below compares the most recent five-year cumulative returns of the common stock of Praxair, the company’s
predecessor, through October 31, 2018 and Linde's ordinary shares from October 31, 2018 through December 31, 2015 with those of the Standard & Poor’s
500 Index {"SPX") and the S5 Materials Index (“SSMATR") which covers 22 companies, including Linde. The figures assume an initial investment of $100

on December 31, 2014 and that all dividends have been reinvested.
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SPX $100 $99 $109 $130 $122 $157
S5MATR $100 $90 $102 $124 $104 $126
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

The year ended December 31, 2019 reflects the results of both Praxair and Linde AG for the entire year. The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair
for the entire vear and the results of Linde AG for the pericd beginning atter Ociober 31, 2018 (the merger date), including the impacts of purchase accounting (See Notes 1,3
and 4 (o the consalidated tinancial statements). The historical periods prior to 2018 retlect the results of Praxair.

Year Ended December 31, 2019(a) 2018(a) 2017({a) 2016(a) 2015(a)
From the Consolidated Statements of Income
Sales $ 28228 % 1483 § 11,358 § 10,463 § 18,710
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreqiatinn and amnrtizanon 16.644 5.020 63682 5,790 5 852
Selling, general and administrative 3437 1,629 1,207 1,145 1,152
Depreciation and amortization 4675 1830 1,184 1,122 1,106
Research and development 184 113 93 92 93
Cost reduction programs and other charges 567 309 52 96 163
Net gain on sale of businesses 164 3,204 — — —
Other income (expenses) — net 68 18 4 22 28
Operating profit 2,933 5,247 2,444 2,247 2,370
Intergst expense — net 38 202 151 190 161
Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost (32) (4) ) g 49
Inuonie from continuing operations befure income waxes and eyuity
investments 2,927 5.049 2,287 2,048 2,160
Income taxes on contnuing operatons 769 817 1,026 551 612
[ncome from continuing operations before equity investments 2.138 4232 1261 1,497 1.548
Income from equity investments 114 56 47 41 43
[ncome from continuing operations (inciuding nencontrolling interests) 2372 4788 1308 1,538 1.591
Noncontrolling interests from continuing operatiens (89} (15) [:3))] (38} {44}
Income from continuing operations 13 2183 % 4273 S 1,247 5 1,500 $ 1,547

Per Share Data — Linde plc Shareholders

Basic earings per share frotn continuing operations g 403 & 12.93 5 436 8 525§ 539
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations S 400 8 12.79 3 432 % 521§ 535
Cash dividends per share 5 150§ 3308 ERER S 200§ 2.85
‘Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (000’s) (b}

Basic shares outstending 541,094 130.401 296,261 283,677 287,005
Diluted shares outstandicg 545,170 334,127 269,114 287,757 269,055

Other Information and Ratios

Total assels

$ gs612 % 93386 5 20436 § 19332 § 18,319
Toral debt S 13956 § 15296 § 9000 % 9315 & 8231
Cash flow from operations S 6,119 g 3.654 $ 3041 % 2786 § 2,695
Net cash provided by (used lor) investing activities 5 1,159 5 5.463 5 (1,314 % 1,770 % (1.203)
Net cash used for financing activities 5 ®B997 S 4598 S (L636) $ 639 § (1,310
Capital expenditures S 3682 S 1883 S L3y § 1465 8 1541
Shares outstanding {004)’s) 534,381 547,242 286,777 284,901 264,879
Nurmber of employees 79 886 80.820 26,461 26,498 26.657

(a) Amounts tor 2019 include: (1) charges of $567 million tor cost reduction prugrams and other charges piimarily related to the merger and synergies, (ii) pension
settlement charges of $97 million related to lump sum benefit payments made from pension plans, (iii) a net gain on sale of businesses of $164 million and
{iv} the purchase accounting impacts of the merger of 51,952 million.
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Amounts for 2018 include: (i) charges of $309 million for transaction costs and other charges primarily related to the merger, (ii) pension settlement charges of $14
million related to lump sum benetit payments made from pension plans, {iil) income tax benefit, net of $17 million due to V.S, Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and other tax
charges, (iv)  net gain on sale of businesses of $3,294 million, (v) bund redemption cests of $26 million, and {vi) the purchase accounting impacts of the merger of
$714 million.

Amuounts for 2017 include: (i} charges of $52 million lor transa lion custs reldted 1o the menger, (i) & pension sewlement charge of $2 million related 10 lump sum
benefit payments made from an intexnational pension pan, and (iii) income tax charges, net of $394 miilien due to U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.

Amounts for 2016 include: (i) « $16 million charge to interest expense related to the redemption of the $325 million 5.20% notes due 2017, (ii) a pre—~ax pension
settlement charge of $4 million related to Jump sum benetit payments made from the U.5. supplemental pensicn plan, and (iii} pre—tax charges of $96 million
primarily related to cost reduction actions.

Amouats for 2015 include: (i} a pre-tax charge of $165 million related to the cost reduction program and other charges; and (i) a pre-tax charge of $7 million related
to a pension settlement.

See Notes 1,3, 4,9, 7, 13 and 18 10 the consolidated financial statements.

{b) As a result ol the merger, share amounts for the year ended Decernber 31, 2018 reflect the weighted averaging eftect of Praxair shares ontstanding prior to October 41,
2018 and Linde shares outstanding from October 31, 2018 through Decernber 31, 2018.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of the company’s financial condition and results of operations should be read together with its conselidated financial
statements and notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Page
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MERGER OF PRAXAIR, INC. AND LINDE AG

Linde plc ("Linde") is a public limited company formed under the laws of Ireland in 2017 in accordance with the requirements of the business
combination agreement between Praxair, Inc. ("Praxair") and Linde Aktiengesellschafi ("Linde AG"}. On Octaber 31, 2018 Praxair and Linde AG combined
their respective businesses through an all-stock transaction, and became subsidiaries of Linde plc (collectively referred 1o as the “business combination” or
"merger"). The business combinaticn of Praxair and Linde AG has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting under the pravisions of
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) Accounting Standards Codification 805, “Business Combinations,” with Praxair representing the accounting
acquiver under this guidance. Accordingly, the historical financial statements of Praxair for the periods prior to the merger are considered to be the historical
financial statements of Linde. The results of Linde AG are included in Linde’s conselidated results from the merger date forward. The Linde shares trade on
the New York $tock Exchange and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “LIN”. See Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements
for additicnal information.

In connection with the business combination, the company, Praxair and Linde AG, entered into varicus agreements with regulatory authorities to satisfy
anti-trust requirements to secure approval to consummate the business combination. These agreements required the sale of the majority of Praxair’s European
businesses (completed on December 3, 2018), a significant portion of Linde AG’s Americas business {completed on March 1, 2019), select assets of Linde
AG's South Korean industrial gases bustness (completed April 30, 2019), select assets of Praxair's Indian industrial gases business (completed July 12, 2019),
select assets of Linde AG's [ndian industrial gases business (completed December 16, 2019) as well as certain divestitures of other Praxair and Linde AG
businesses in Asia that are currently expected to be sold in 2020 (collectively, the “merger-related divestitures”). In the censolidated financial statements
included in ftem 8, Praxair’s merger-related divestitures are included in the results of operations until seld and Linde AG’s merger-related divestitures are
accounsed for as discontinued operations. See Notes 1, 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 for additional information relating
to merger-related divestitures.

Additionally, to obtain merger approval in the United States Linde, Praxair and Linde AG entered into an agreement with the U.S. Federal Trade
Commission dated October 1, 2018 (“hold separate order” or “HS0"). Under the HSO, the company, Praxair and Linde AG agreed to continue to operate
Linde AG and Praxair as independent, ongoing, economically viable, competitive businesses held separate, distinct, and apart from each other's operations;
and not coordinate any aspect of their operations until certain divestitures in the United States were completed. Accordingly, Linde had accounted for Linde
AG as a separate segment for 2018 reporting purposes effective with the mesges date. Prior to the merger date, the company’s Linde AG segment did not
exist. Since the FTC hold separate arder restrictions were lifted effective March 1, 2019, the company subsequently implemented a new segment structure as
follows: Americas; EMEA
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(Europe/Middle East/Africa); APAC (Asia/South Pacific) and Engineering. This new management organization structure was implemented during the first
quarter 2019 and, accordingly, segment information has been retrospectively recast for all prior periods,

ITEMS AFFECTING COMPARABILITY

Because Praxair and Linde AG combined their respective businesses effective with the merger date of Octaber 31, 2018, the year ended December 31,
2019 reflects the results and cash flows of the combined business, while the year ended December 31, 2018 includes twelve months of Praxair and two
months of Linde AG. Due to the size of Linde AG’s businesses prior to the merger, the reported results for 2019 and 2018 periods are not comparable. The
balance sheets at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 are comparable because both periods reflect the merger.

Pra Forma Income Statement Information

Therefore, to assist with a discussion of the 2019 and 2018 results on a comparable basis, certain supplemental unaudited pro forma income statement
information is provided on both a consclidated and segment basis (referred to as “pro forma income statement information” ar "pro forma information").

The pro forma information has been prepared on a basis consistent with Article 11 of Regulation $-X, assuming the merger and merger-related
divestitures had been consummated on January 1, 2018. In preparing this pro forma information, the historical financial information has been adjusted to give
effect to pro forma Adjustments that are (i) directly attributatle to the business combination and other transactions presented herein, such as the merger-
related divestirures, (ii) factually supportable, and (iii) expected 1o have a continuing impact on the combined entity’s consalidated results. The pro forma
informaticn is based on management's assumptions and is presented for illustrative purposes and does not purpert to represent what the results of eperatioas
would acually have been if the business combination and merger-related divestitures had occurred as of the dates indicated or what the results would be for
any fature periods. Pro forma information was not develaped for the year ended December 31, 2017. Also, the pro forma information does not include the
impact of any revenue, cost or other operating synergies that may result from the business combination or any related restructuring costs,
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

With the merger, Linde is the leading industrial gas company worldwide. The company's primary products in its indusmial gases business are
atmospheric pases (0Xygen, nitrogen, argon, rare gases) and process gases (carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen, electronic gases, specialty gases, acetylene).
The campany also designs, engineers, and builds equipment that produces industrial gases primarily for internal use; and offers its customers a wide range of
gas producticn and processing services such as olefin plants, natural gas plants, air separation plants, hydrogen and synthesis gas plants and other types of
plants,

Linde’s industrial gas operations are managed on a geegraphical basis and in 2019 83% of sales were generated by Linde's three geographic segments
{Americas, EMEA and APAC) and the remaining 17% is related primarily to the Engineering segment, and to a lesser extent Other (see Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements for cperating segment details).

Linde serves a diverse group of industries including healthcare, petroleum refining, manufacturing, food, beverage carbonaticn, fiber-optics, steel
making, aerospace, chemicals and water treatunent. The diversity of end-markets supports financial stability for Linde in varied business cycles.

Linde generates most of its revenues and earnings in the following twelve geographies where the company has its strongest market positions and where
distribution and productien cperations allow the company to deliver the highest level of service to tts customers at the lowest cost.

Europe, Middle East and Africa

North and South America (" Americas™) (“EMEA™) Asia and Pacific (“APAC”)
United States Germany China & Taiwan
Brazil United Kingdom Australia
Mexico Eastern Eurape South Korea
Canada India

The company manufactures and distributes its industrial gas products through networks of thousands of production plants, pipeline complexes,
distribution centers and delivery vehicles. Major pipeline complexes are primarily located in the United States. These networks are a competitive advantage,
providing the foundation of reliable product supply to the company’s customer base. The majority of Linde’s business is conducted through long-term
contracts which provide stability in cash flow and the ability to pass throngh changes in energy and feedstock costs to customers. The company has growth
opportunities in all major geographies and in diverse end-markets such as energy, electronics, chemicals, metals, healthcare, food and beverage, and
aerospace.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY - FINANCIAL RESULTS & OUTLOOK

2019 Year in review

On October 31, 2018 Praxair and Linde AG combined their respective businesses through an afl-stock merger transaction, and became subsidiaries
of Linde plc. The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects the resulis of Praxair for the entire year and she results of Linde AG for the periad beginning after
QOctober 31, 2018.

< Sales of $28,228 million were 90% above 2018 sales of $14,836 million, primarily driven biy the merger that contributed 89% to sales, net of
divestitures. Underlying sales increased 1% driven by 3% higher pricing across all geographic segments and 1% volume growth, partially offset by
unfavorable currency translation and lower cost pass-through.

+  Reparted operating profit of $2,933 million was 44% below 2018 primarily driven by the net gain on sale of businesses in 2018 partially offset by
the impact of the merger, including purchase accounting impacts, in the current year. On 4n adjusted pro forma basis, operating profit increased
$476 million, or 16%, for 2019 versus 2018, as the impacts of higher pricing and volumes were partially offset by unfavorable currency impacts
aid cost inflation. *

+ TIncome from continning operations of $2,183 million and dilted earnings per share from continuing operations of $4,00 decreased from 84,273
million and $12.79, respectively in 2018. Adjusted pro forma income from continuing operations of $4,003 million and adjusted pro forma diluted
earnings per share from continuing operations of §7.34 were 17% and 19%, respectively above 2018 adjusted pra forma amounss. *

»  Cash flow from operations was $6,119 millicn, cr 22% of sales. Capital expenditures were $3,682 million; dividends paid were $1,891 million; net
purchases of ordinary shares of $2,586 million; and debt repayments, net were $1,260 million.

* A reconciliation of the adjusted pro forma amounts can be found in the "Supplemental Pra Forma Income Statement Information” and "Non-GAAP
Financial Measures” section in this MD&A. See Notes 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, £3 and I8 to the consolidated financial statements.

2020 Outlook

The company’s business is 1o build, own, and operate industrial gas plants in order to supply atmospheric and process gases to customers. As such,
Linde believes that its sale of gas project backlog is one indicator of future sales growth. At December 31, 2019, Linde’s sale of gas backlog of large projects
under construction was 34.4 billion. This represents the total estimated capitat cost of large plants under construction. APAC and Americas represent 64
percent and 29 percent of the backlog, respectively, with the remaining backlog in EMEA, These plants will primarily supply customers in the energy,
chemical, and electronics end-markets.

The above outlook should be read in conjunction with the section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements.”

Linde provides quarterly updates an operating results, material trends that may affect financial performance, and financial guidance via earnings
releases and investor teleconferences. These materials are available on the company’s website, www.linde.com, but are not incorporated herein.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS AND OTHER INFORMATION

The foflowing table provides summary informarion for 2019, 2018 and 2017. The reported amounts are GAAP amounts from the Consolidated
Statemnents of Income. The pro forma and adjusted pro forma amounts are intended to supplement investors' understanding of the company's financial
information and are not a substitute for GAAP measures. The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year and the results
of Linde AG for the pericd beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger date), including the impacts of purchase accounting (See Notes 1, 3 and 4 to the

consolidated financial statements). The historical pericds prior to 2018 reflect the results of Praxair, Inc:

Reported Amounts (GAAP) Pro Forma Amounts (@)
{Mitlions of dollars, except per share data) 2019 vs. 2018 vs.
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2018 2017 2019 2018 2019 vs. 2018
Reported Amounis
Sles $ 20228 $ 14836 § 11358 90 % 31% $ 28163 $ 26084 —%
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization s 16644 4 9,026 g 5.8 35 9% 4% § 16594 S 16,929 2)%
As a peccent of sales 59.0% £0.8% 36.2% 58.9% 80.3%
Selling, general and administrative § 3437 S 168/ 5 1207 112% 1% § 3456 S 3635 5%
As a percent of sales 12.2% 11.0% 10.6% 12.3% 129%
Depreciation and amorlization $ 4675 0§ 1830 S 1184 155 % 55% § 4675 S 4924 {5)%
Cost reduction programs and ether charges (b} $ 567§ w5 52 § 177 § 56
Net gain on sale of businesses (b) % 164 5 3094 § o $ o s o
Operating Profir $ 2933 § 5247 5 24 ()% 115% § 285 8§ 2561 15%
Operating margin 10.4% 33.4% 21.5% 10.5% 9.1%
Interest expense —ned 8 B3 023 161 (81)% B% § B3 am (901%
Net pension and OPER cost (benefit), excluding service cost $ (321 % @ s (4) 700 % _o g (297 s (163) (22)%
Lffective tax rate 26.3% 16.2% 44.9% 24.6% 28.5%
Income tram equity investments 5 114 8 % s 47 104 % 19% $ 14§ 52 119 %
Nancontrolling interests from continuing aperations § 89 5 (5 3 (61) 750% § ) _
Income from continuing operations $ 2,183 3 4,273 3 1.247 (49)% 243% % 2.322 s 1,729 M %
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operatians $ 4.00 $ 12.79 $ 432 (69%% 19%6% § 4.25 $ 311 379,
Diluted shares outstanding {¢) 545,170 334,127 289,114 63% 16% 543,170 555,151 (2%
Number of employees 79,866 80,820 26,461
Adjusted Pro forma Amounts (d)
Operating profit $ 5272 3 4,796 16 %
Operating margin 18.7% 17.1%
Income from continsing operations $ 4.003 g 3433 17%
Diluted eamings per share from continuing opesations g 7.34 g 6.19 19 9%
Other Financial Data (dy
EBITDA and pro forma FRITTA from continuing
operations 5 7,722 $ 7,133 3 4675 8% 4% 3 7.744 5 7.337 3%
As percent of sales 27.4% 48.1% 32.4% (43)% 48% 27.5% 26.8%
Adjusted pro forma EBITDA from continuing,
operations S 8,178 5 7,603 8%
As percent of sales 29.0% 27.19%
fa} Pio forma amounts are supplemental o the G4 AP presentations asd are prepared on 4 basis consistent with Artide 11 of Regolation 5-X. See "Supplemental Pro Forma Income

Statement Information” and "Non-G A AP Reconciliations™ sections of this MD&A.
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[12)] See Noles 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

(c) As a result of the merger, share amounts for the year ended December 31, 2018 reflect the weighted averaging effect of Praxair shares outstanding prior to October 21, 2018 and Linde
shares cutstanding from October 31, 2018 throngh December 31, 2018.

(d) Adjusted pro forma amounts and Cther Findgacial Data are non-GAAP performance measures. A reconciliation of reported amounts o adjusted pro forud amounts can be found in the
"Supplemental Pro Forma Income Statement Information” and "Non-GA AP Recondiliattons” sections of this MD&A.

Results of Operations

The following table provides a summary of changes in consolidated reported and pro forma sales:

2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pro forma Reported
Factars Contributing to Changes - Sales
Volume 1% 2% 4%
Price/Mix 3% 2% 2%
Cost pass-through (D% (D% 1%
Currency (2)% {4)% (1)%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 89 % 1% 25%
90 % — % 31 %
2019 Compared With 2018
Sales

Reported sales increased $13,392 million, or 90% for the year primarily due to the merger, net of related divestitures. On a pro forma basis sales
increased $79 million in 2019 compared to 2018.

On a reported basis, sales increased 90% to 528,228 million in 2019 compared to $14,836 million in 2018 primarily due to the merger, net of related
divestitures. Volume increased sales by 1% driven by higher volumes largely in the APAC segment, including new project start-ups. Higher pricing acrass all
geographic segments contributed 3% to sales, Currency translation decreased sales by 2%a driven by the weakening of the Brazilian real, Canadian dollar and
Chinese yuan against the US dollar. Lower cost pass-through, primarily natural gas, decreased sales by 1% with minimal impact on operating profit.

On a pro forma basis, sales were relatively flat with prior year. Volume growth of 2% was largely driven hy higher volwmes in the Americas and
APAC segments, including new project start-ups. Higher pricing across the gases segments contributed 2% to sales. Unfavorable currency translation,
primarily driven by the weakening of the Eure, British pound, Chinese yuan and Australian dollar, decreased sales by 4%. Lawer cost pass-through, primarily
natural gas, decreased sales by 19 with minimal impact on operating profit. Acquisitions, largely in the Americas segment, contributed 1% to sales.

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Reported cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amnortization increased $7,624 million, or 85%, for the year primarily due to the merger, net of
related divestitures.

On a pro forma basis, cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization decreased $345 million or 2% in 2019 as compared to 2018. Pro
forma cast of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization was 58.9% of sales in the year versus 60.3% of sales for 2018. The decrease as a percentage of
sales in the year was due primarily to higher pricing.

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Reported selling, general and adiministrative ("SG&A™) expenses increased $1,828 million, or 112%, in 2019 to $3,457 million primarily due to the
merger. On a pro forma basis, SG&A decreased $179 million, or 5%, versus the 2018 period.

On a reported basis, SG&A increased 112% in 2019, primarily due to the merger. SG&A was 12.2% of sales in 2019 versus 11.0% in 2018,
primarily due to the merger.
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On a pro forma basis, SG&A decreased 5% in 2019 versus 2018. SG&A was 12.3% of sales in 2019 versus 12,9% in 2018, Currency impacts
decreased SG&A by approximately $145 million in the 2019 period. Excluding currency impacts, underlying SG&A decreased due to cost reduction actions
aud produclivily iupruvewenits whiclh glso drove the improvement of SG&A as a percentage of sales 1n the period.

Depreciation and amortization

Reported depreciation and amortization expense increased $2,845 million, or 155%, versus 2018. The increase is primarily due to the merger,
including $1,940 million of purchase accounting impacts related to the depreciation and amortizaticn of the fair value adjustments of fixed assets and
intangible assets acquired in the merger.

On a pro forma basis, depreciation and amortization expense decreased $249 million, or 5%, versus 2018, Currency movements decreased
depreciation and amortization by approximately $197 million for the year. Excluding currency effects, depreciation and amortization expense decreased
approximately $52 million, primarily driven by measurement period adjustments recognized in 2019 (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements),
partially cffset by increases due to large project start-ups.

Cost reduction programs and other charges

Linde recorded cost reduction programs and other charges of $567 millicn and $309 million for 2019 and 2018, respectively, primarily related to
merger and synergy-related costs and an asset impairment in the third guarter 2019 of approximately $73 million related to a joint venture in APAC resulting
from an unfavorable arbitration ruling (see Note 5 to the consclidated financial statements).

On an adjusted pro forma basis, these costs have been eliminated in both periods.
Operating profit

Reported operating profit decreased $2,314 millicn in 2019, or 44%, primarily driven by the net gain on sale of businesses in 2018 partially offset by
the impact of the merger, including purchase accounting impacts, in the current year. On an adjusted pro forma basis, operating profit increased $476 million,
ar 10%, for 2019 versus 2018.

On a reported basis, operating profit decreased $2,314 million, or 44%. 2019 includes Linde AG's operating results for the full year and a gain on
merger-related divestitures of $164 million, which was cffset by $1,952 million which primarily related to $1,940 million of purchase accounting charges for
additional depreciation and amortization, and $567 million in cost reduction program and other charges. 2018 included Linde AG's operating results from
October 31, 2018 forward and a gain on merger-related divestitures of $3,294 million, partially offset by purchase accounting impacts of $714 million and
$309 million of merger-related charges.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, which excludes the impacts of purchase accounting, cost reduction programs and other charges and net gains from
merger-related divestitures, operating profit increased $476 millicn, or 10%, as the impacts of higher pricing and volumes were partially offset by unfavorable
currency impacts and cost inflaticn, A discussion of operating profit by segment is included in the segment discussion that follows.

Interest expense - net

Repaorted interest expense — net in 2019 decreased $164 million, or 81%, versus 2018. On an adjusted pro forma basis interest expense decreased
$145 million, or 52% in 2019 as compared to 2018.

On a reported basis, interest expense - net decreased $164 million in 2019 and included a decrease of $96 million related to purchase accounting
impacts on the fair value of debt acquired in the merger. Excluding this purchase accounting impact, reported interest expense decreased $68 million in the
vear as interest ou debt acquired in the merger was more than offset by higher interest incame.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, interest expense - net decreased $145 million in 2015 primarily due to lower debt levels and higher interest income.
Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost

Reported net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost was a benefit of $32 million in 2019 versus a benefit of $4 million in 2018 and
included pension settlement charges of $97 million and a net $8 million curtailment charge (see Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements). Excluding
the impact of these charges, the net pension and OPEB benefit, excluding service cost increased $133 million in 2019, primarily due to the impact of pension
and OPED plans acquired in the merger.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, net pension and OPEB (benefit), excluding service cost was a benefit ef $129 million in 2019 versus a benefit of
$165 million in 2018.
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Effective tax rate

The reparted effective tax rate ("ETR"} for 2019 was 26.3% versus 16.2% in 2018. 2018 included the impact of the sale of Praxair's European
indwstrial gas business (see Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements).

Ou an adjusted pro forma basis, the ETR for 2019 was 24.0% versus 25.8% in 2018.
Irnicome from equity investments

Reported income from equity investments for 2019 increased $58 million to $114 million largely related to investments in APAC and EMEA. This
increase is primarily related to the merger.

On an adjusted pro forma basts, income from equity investrments for 2019 increased $55 million to $171 million. The increase is primarily related to
increased earnings from equity investments.

Noncontrolling interests from continuing operations

At December 31, 2019, noncontrolling interests from continuing operations consisted primarily of noncontrolling sharrhalders” invesmments in
APAC (primarily in China) and surface technologies.

Reported noncontrolling interests from continuing operations increased $74 millien to $89 million in 2019 from $15 million ia 2018, primarily
driven by the merger. 2019 noncontrolling interests includes a $33 million impact for an asset impairment charge in the third quarter related to a joint venture
in APAC (see Note 5 1o the consolidated financial statements).

On an adjusted pro farma basis, noncontrolling interests from continuing operations increased $10 million in 2019 driven by higher income from
contnuing operarions.

Income from continuing operations

Reported income from continuing opetations decreased $2,090 million, or 49%, primarily due to the 2018 gain on merger-related divestitures,
partially offset by the merger. Other impacts related to interest - net; net pension and OPEB cost (benefic}, excluding service cost; income taxes; income from
equity investments; and noncontrolling interest fargely offset in the aggregare.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, which excludes the impacts of purchase accounting and ather non-GAAP adjustments, income from continuing
eperations increased $570 millien, or 17%, in 2019 primarily due o higher adjusted pro forna operating profit, lower adjusted pro forma interest expense-net,
lower adjusted ETR, and higher adjusted pro forma income from equity investments.

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations

Reported diluted earnings per share from continuing operations decreased $8.79, or 69%, in 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to lower net
income from comtinuing operations and higher diluted shares outstanding as a result of the merger.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, diluted EPS of $7.34 in 2019 increased 19% versus 2018, primarily due to higher adjusted pro forma income from
continuing operations and lower diluted shares outstanding.

Employees

The nurmber of employees at December 31, 2019 was 79,886, a decrease of 934 employees from December 31, 2018 primarily driven by cost
reduction actions partially offset by acquisitiens.

Other Financial Data
EBITDA increased to $7,722 million in 2019 trom $7,133 million in 2018, primarily due to the merger.

Adjusted pro forma EBITDA from centinuing operations increased to $8,178 million for 2019 as compared tv $7,603 million in 2018 primarily due
to higher income from continuing operations versus the prior year period.

See the "Supplemental Pro Forma Income Statement [nformation” for pro [orma amounts and "Non-GAAP Reconciliations” for adjusted pro [orma
amounts sections helow for definitions and reconciliations of these pro forma and adjusted pro forma non-GAAP measures te reported GAAP amounts.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 of $435 million resulted primarily from a decrease in the funded status of the
company's largest retirement programs. Driven by the low discount rate environment,
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the other comprehensive loss of $544 million related to the remeasurement of such retirement programs was partially offset by benefits from cumulative
translation adjustments. The translation adjustments reflect the impact of translating local currency fereign subsidiary financial statements to U.S. dellars, and
are largely driven by the movement ot the U.5. dollar against major currencies including the Euro, the Chinese yuan and the British pound. See the
"Currency" section of the MD&A for exchange rates used for translation purposes and Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for a summary of the
currency translation adjustment component of accumulated other comprehensive income by segment.

2018 Compared With 2017

Sales increased 31% to $14,836 million in 2018 compared to $11,358 millicn in 2017 primarily reflecting the merger with Linde AG which confributed
252 to sales, net of divestitures. Underlying sales increased 6% driven by higher volumes and pricing. Volume growth of 4% was driven by higher volumes
in North America and Asia, including new project start-ups. Higher overall pricing across all geographic segments contributed 2% to sales. Currency
translation impact decreased sales by 1%. Higher cost pass-through, primarily natural gas, increased sales by 126 with minimal impact on operating profit.
The divestiture of Praxair's European businesses in December of 2018 decreased sales by 1%.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $422 million, or 35%, in 2018 to $1,629 million primarily due to the merger. SG&A was 11.0%
of sales in 2018 versus 10.6% in 2017, primarily due to the merger.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $646 million, or 53%, versus 2017. The increase is primarily due to the merger, including $346
miliion of purchase accounting impacts related to the fair value of fixed assets and intangible assets acquired in the merger.

Cost reduction programs and other charges were $309 million and $52 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively and are primarily related to the merger.
See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Net gain on the sale of businesses was $3,234 million and related primarily to the divestiture of Praxair's European industrial gases business in
connection with the merger. See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other income (expenses) —net in 2018 was a $18 million henefit versus a $4 million benefit in 2017 (see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements
for a summary of major components). In Narth America, 2018 included a $30 million asset impairment charge which was more than offset by $43 million of
gains on asset disposals. In Asia, 2018 included a $22 million asset impairment charge, offset by a litigation settlement gair1.

Reparted operating profit of $5,247 million in 2018 was $2,803 million, or 115% higher than reported operating profit of $2,444 million in 2017. 2018
includes a net gain on sale of businesses of $3,294 million, partially offset by transaction costs and other charges of $303 million, and purchase accounting
impacts of $714 million related to the Linde AG merger (see Notes 4, 5 and 3, respectively, to the censolidated financial statements). 2017 included
transaction costs of $52 million (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements). Excluding the impact of these items, adjusted operating profit of $2,976
million in 2018 was $480 million, or 19%, higher than adjusted operating profit of $2,496 million in 2017 driven primarily by the merger. Higher volumes
and price in the geographic segments and surface technologies also contributed to operating profit growth, A discussion of operating profit by segment is
included in the segment discussion that follows.

Reported interest expense —net in 2018 increased $41 million, or 25%, versus 2017. 2018 included charges of $26 million relating to the early
redemption af notes and a decrease of $21 million related to purchase accounting impacts related to the fair value of debt acquired in the merger (see Notes 13
and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively). Excluding these impacts, adjusted interest expense of $197 millicn increased $36 million, or
22%, largely attributable to interest an the debt acquired in the merger and lower capitalized interest. See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for
further information relating to interest expense.

The reported effective tax rate ("ETR") for 2018 was 16.2% versus 44.9% in 2017. The decrease in the ETR for the 2018 period versus the L).5.
statutory rate of 21% was primarily due to the impact of the sale of Praxair's European industrial gases business. The increase in the ETR for the 2017 pericd
versus the U.5. stawtory rate of 35% was primarily due to the net $394 million charge related to the Tax Act. Excluding these and other smaller impacts as set
forth in the "Non-GAAP financial measures” section of this MD&A, on an adjusted basis the ETR for the 2018 and 2017 periods was 23.8% and 27.2%,
respectively. The decrease was driven primarily by the impact of the Tax Act enacted in the fourth quarter of 2017 which lowered the U.S. statutory tax rate
from 35% in 2017 to 21% in 2018 (see Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements).

Equity income increased $9 million in 2018 versus 2017 and included charges of 59 million for purchase accounting impacts related to the fair value
step up of equity investments acquired in the merger. Excluding this impact, equity income increased $18 million, primarily driven by income from equity
investments acquired in the merger.
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At December 31, 2018, reported noncontrolling interests from continuing operations consisted primarily of noncontrolling shareholders’ investments in
Asia (primarily in China) and surface technologies. Reported noncontrolling interests from continning operations decreased $46 million to $15 millior in
2018 from $61 million in 2017. 2018 includes the impact of the merger and related purchase accounting impacts. Excluding these impacts, adjusted
noncontrolling interests from continuing operations of $73 million increased $12 miliion, or 20%, primarily due to noncontrolling interests acquired in the
merger.

Reported income from cantinuing operations for 2018 was $4,273 million, $3,026 millien, or 243%, higher than reported income from continuing
operations of $1,247 million in 2017. Adjusted income from continuing operations of $2,121 million in 2018 was $431 million, or 26%, higher than adjusted
income frem continuing operations of $1,690 million in 2017 primarily due to higher adjusted operating profit and a lower effective tax rate.

Reported diluted earnings per share from continuing cperations ("EPS") of $12.79 in 2018 increased $8.47 per diluted share, or 196% from $4.32 in
2017. Adjusted diluted EPS of $6.35 in 2018 increased $.50 per diluted share, or 9%, from adjusted diluted EPS of $5.85 in 2017. The increase in adjusted
diluted EPS was primarily due to the merger and higher adjusted income from continuing operations; partially offset by an increase in diluted shares resulting
from equity acquired in the merger.

Other comprehensive losses for the year ended December 31, 2018 of $299 million resulted primarily from (i) & $221 million unfavorable impact in the
funded status of Linde's retirement obligations and (ii} adverse currency translation adjustments of $76 millicn, net of a benefit of $318 million related to the
release of currency transtation adjustments on Praxair's European business {See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements). The decrease in the funded
status of retirement obligations was primarily the result of higher current year actuarial losses, as the impact of higher U.S. discount rates was largely offset
by alower actual return on assets. Unfavorable wranslation adjustments reflect the impact of translating local currency foreign subsidiary financial staterments
into U.5S. dollars, and are largely driven by the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against major currencies including the Euro, Brazilian real and Canadian
dollar.

Unfavorable currency translation adjustments included $343 millicn in South America and $148 miltion in Asta, partially offset by favorable currency
translation adjustments of $231 million related to Linde AG (primarily Europe and Asia) representing translation impacts for the period from merger date
through December 31, 2018. Remaining other comprehensive losses of $2 million relate to the amortization of deferred losses on the company's derivatives
and unrealized losses on available for sale securities. Refer.to the Currency section of the MD&A and Netes 9 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The number of employees at December 31, 2018 was 80,820, an increase of 54,359 employees from December 31, 2017 primarily driven by an increase
of approximately 56,000 related to the merger partially offset by a decrease of approximately 2,500 from the divestiture of Praxair's Evropean indusirial gases
business.

Other Financial Data

Earnings before interest taxes depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") increased $3,458 miltion to $7,133 million in 2018 from: $3,675 million in
2017. EBITDA in 2018 includes a gain on sale of businesses and purchase accounting impacts, and both periods include transaction and other costs.
Excluding the impacts of these items, adjusted EBITDA increased $789 million to $4,516 million in 2018 from $3,727 million in 2017 driven by the
conselidation of Linde AG starting October 31, 2018, and higher adjusted income from continuing operattons plus depreciation and amortization versus the
prior year,

See the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures™ section for definitions and reconciliation of these non-G AAP measures to reported amounts.

Related Party Tronsactions

The company’s related parties are primarily unconsolidated equity affiliates. The company did not engage in any material transactions involving related
parties that included terms or other aspects that differ from those which would be negotiated with independent parties.
Envirenmental Matters

Linde’s principal opetaions relate to the production and distribution of atmeospheric and other industrial gases, which historically have not had a
significant impact on the environment. However, worldwide costs relating to envirenmental
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pratection may continue to grow due to increasingly siringent laws and regulations, and Linde's engoing commitment to rigorous internal standards. In
addition, Linde may face physical risks from climate change and extreme weather.

Climate Change

Linde operates in jurisdictions that have, or are developing, laws and/or regulations to reduce or mitigate the perceived adverse effects of greenthouse
gas ("GIIG™) emissions and faces a highly uncertain regulatory environment in this area. For example, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA")
has promulgated rules requiring reporting of GHG emisstons, and Linde and many of its suppliers and customers are subject to these rules. EPA has also
premulgated regulations to restrict GHG emissions, including final rules regulating GHG emissions from light-duty vehicles and certain large manufacturing
facilities, many of which are Linde suppliers or customers. In addition to these developments in the United States, GHGs are regulated in the European Union
under the Emissions Trading System, which has wide implications for the company's customers and may impact certain operations of Linde in Europe. There
are also requirements for mandatory reporting in Canada, which apply to certain Linde operations and will be used in developing cap-and-trade regulations on
GHG emissions. These regulations are expected to impact certain Linde facilities in Canada. Climate change and energy efficiency laws and pelicies are also
being widely introduced in jurisdictions throughout Latia America and parts of Asia. China has announced plans to implement its naticnal carbon emissions
trading system in 2020, though it does not appear the regulations will have a direct impact on GHG emissions from Linde facilities. Among other impacts,
such regulations are expected tc raise the cost of energy, which is a significant cost for Linde. Nevertheless, Linde's long-term customer contracts routinely
provide rights to recover increased electricity, natural gas, and other costs that are incurred by the company as a result of climate change regulation.

Linde anticipates continned growth in its hydrogen business, as hydrogen is essential to refineries that use it to remove sulfur from wansportation fuels
in order to meet ambient air quality standards in the United States and fuel standards in other regions. Hydrogen production plants and a large number of other
manufacturing and electricity-generating plants have been identified in California and the European Union as a source of carbon dicxide emissions and these
plants are subject to cap-and-trade regulations in those jurisdictions. Linde believes it will be able to mitigate the costs of these regulations through the terms
of its product supply contracts. However, legislation that limits GHG emissions may impact growth by increasing capital, compliance, operating and
maintenance costs and/or decreasing demand.

To manage business risks from cwrrent and potential GHG emission regulation as well as physical consequences of climate change, Linde actively
monitors current developments, evaluates the direct and indirect business risks, and takes appropriate actions. Ameng others, actions include: increasing
relevant resources and training; maintaining contingency plans; obtaining advice and counsel from expert vendors, insurance providers and industry experts;
incorporating GHG provisions in commerial agreements; and conducting regular reviews af the business risks with management. Although there are
considerable uncertainties, Linde believes that the business risk from potential regulations can be effectively managed through its commercial contracts.
Additionatly, Linde does not anticipate any material effects regarding its plant operations or business arising from potential physical risks of climate change.

Linde continucusly seeks opportunities to optimize energy use and GHG footprint through research and development in customer applications and
rigorous operational energy efficiency, investment in renewable energy, and purchasing hydrogen as a chemical byproduct where feasible. Linde maintains
related performance improvement targets and reports progress agatast these targets regularly to business management and annually to Linde's Board of
Directors.

At the same time, Linde may benefit from business opportunities arising from govermmental regulation of GHG and other emissions; uncertain casts of
energy and certain natural resources; the development of renewable energy alternatives; and new technologies that help extract natural gas, improve air
quality, increase energy efficiency and mitigate the impacts of climate change. Linde continues to develop new applications that can lower emissions,
including GHG emissions, in Linde's processes and help customers lower energy consumption and increase product throughput. Stricter regulation of water
guality in emerging economies such as China provide a growing market for a number of gases, e.g., oxygen for wastewater treatment. Increased concern
about drought in areas such as California and Australia may create additional markets for carbon dioxide for desalination. Renewable fuel standards in the
European Unicn and U.S. create a market for second-generation biofuels which use industrial gases such as oxygen, carbon dioxide, and hydrogen.

Costs Relating to the Protection of the Environment

Environmental protection costs in 2019 were not significant. Linde anticipates that future annual environmental protection expenditures will he similar
to 2019, subject to any significant changes in existing laws and regulations. Based
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on historical results and current estimates, management does not believe that environmental expendifures will have a material adverse effect on the
consolidated financial position, the consolidated results of operations or cash flows in any given year,

Legal Proceedings

See Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements for information concerning legal proceedings.
Retirement Benefits
Pensions

The net periodic benefit cost for the [J.S. and international pension plans was $107 million in 2019, $24 milliou in 2018 and $58 millien in 2017. The
net periodic pension cost for 2019 includes pension settlement charges of $97 million related to lump sum payments, which were triggered by either a change
in control provision or merger-related divestitures and a net curtailment charge of $8 million for termination benefits, primarily in connection with a defined
benefic pension plan freeze. Seulement charges for 2618 and 2017 were 514 million and $2 million, respectively.

The funded status (gpension benefit obligation ("PBO") less the fair value of plan assets) for the 11.5. plans was a deficit of $504 million as of
December 31, 2019 and a deficit of 3556 million at December 31, 2018. The funded status for international plans was a deficit of $1,801 million as of
December 31, 2019 and a deficit of $1,241 million at December 31, 2018. In the U.S., the benefit from the actual return on assets more than offset the impacts
of unfavorable liability experience, resulting from the low discount rate environment. For the international plans, the unfavorable impact of lower discount
rates putweighed favorable plan asset experience.

Global pension contributions were $94 million in 2019, $87 millicn in 2018 and $19 million in 2017. At a minimum, Linde contributes to its pension
plans to comply with local repulatory requirements (e.g., ERISA in the United States). Discretionary contributions in excess of the local minimum
requirements are made based on many factors, including long-term projections of the plans' funded status, the economic environment, potential risk of
overfunding, pension insurance costs and alternative uses of cash. Changes to these factors can impact the timing of discretionary contributions from year to
year. Estimated required conributions for 2020 are currently expected to be in the range of $50 million to $80 million.

Linde assumes expected returns on plan assets far 2020 of 7.00% and 5.31% for the U.S. and international plans, respectively, which are consistent with
the long-term expected returns on its investment portfolios.

Excluding the impact of any setlements, 2020 consolidated pension expense is expected to be a benefit of approximately $45 miltion. The benefit
derived from the expected return on assets assumption for Linde's most significant plans is anticipated to more than offset the expense from service and
interest cast accruals and the amortization of deferred losses.

Refer to the Critical Accounting Policies sectien and Note 18 to the conselidated financial statements fer a more detailed discussion of the cornpany’s
retirement benefits, including a description of the varicus retirement plans and the assumptions used in the calculation of net pericdic benefit cost and funded
status.

Insurance

Linde purchases insurance to limit a variety of property and casualty risks, including those related to property, business interruption, third-party liability
and workers' compensation. Currently, the company self retains up 1o $10 million per occurrence for vehicle Liability in the United States, $5 million per
occurrence for workers' compensation and general liability. In addition, the company self retains risk up to $5 million at its various properties worldwide for
property damage resulting from fire, flood and other perils effecting its properties along with a separate $5 million deductible on all business interruption
resulting from a major peril loss. To mitigate its aggregate loss potential above these retentions, the company purchases catastrophic insurance coverage from
highly rated insurance companies. The company does not currently operate or participate in any captive insurance companies or other non-traditional risk
transfer alternatives.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the company had recorded a total of $66 million and $60 million, respectively, representing an estimate of the retained
liability for the ultimate cust of claims incurred and unpaid as of the balance sheet dates. The estimated liability is established using statistical analysis and is
based upon historical experience, actuarial assumpticns and professicnal judgment. These estimates are subject (o the effects of trends in lass severity and
frequency and are subject to a significant degree of inherent variability. If actual claims differ from the company’s estimates, they will be adjusted at that time
and financial results could be tmpacted.

Linde recognizes estimated insurance proceeds relating to damages at the time of loss only to the extent of incurred losses. Any insurance recoveries for
business interruption and for property damages in excess of the net book value of the property are recognized only when realized or pending payments
confirmed by its insurance companies.
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SEGMENT DISCUSSION

Effective October 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG completed the previously arnounced merger, resulting in the formation of Linde plc (see Note 1
to the consolidated financial statements for additional informaticn on the merger). As a result of the merger and effective with the lifting of the hold separate
order effective on March 1, 2019, new operating segments were created which are used by the company's Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") to
allocate company rtesources and assess performance. Linde’s operations consist of twoe major product lines: industrial gases and engineering. As further
described in the following paragraph, Linde’s industrial gases operations are managed an a gecgraphic basis, which represents three of the company's new
reportable segments - Americas, EMEA (Europe/Middle East/Africa), and APAC (Asia‘South Pacific); a fourth reportable segment which represents the
company's Engineeiing business, designs and manufactures equipment for air separation and other industrial gas applications specifically for end customers
and is managed on a worldwide basis operating in all geopraphic segments. Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses which individually
do not meet the guantitative thresholds for separate presentation.

The industrial gases product line centers on the manufacturing and distribution of atmospheric gases (oxygen, nitrogen, argon, rare gases) and
process gases {carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen, electronic gases, specialty gases, acetylene). Many of these products are co-products of the same
manufacturing process. Linde manufactures and disiribules nearly all of its products and manages its customer relatienships on a regional basis. Linde's
industrial gases are distributed to various end-markets within a regional segment through one of three basic distribution methods: cn-site or tonnage; merchant
or bulk; and packaged or cylinder gases. The distribution methods are generally integrated in order 1o best meet the customer’s needs and very few of its
products can be economically transported outside of a region. Therefore, the distribution economics are specific o the various geographies in which the
company operates and are consistent with how management assesses performance.

The company’s measure of profitloss for segment reporting purposes remains unchanged - Segment operating profit. Segment aperating profit is
defined as operating profit excluding purchase accounting impacts of the Linde AG merger, intercompany royalties, and items not indicative of ongoing
business trends. This is the manner in which the company's CODM assesses performance and allocates resources. For a description of Linde's previous
operating segments, vefer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements of Linde's 2018 Annual Repert on Form 10-K.

The table below presents sales and operating profit information about reportable segments and Other for the year ended December 31, 201%, 2018
and 2017. The year ended December 31, 2019 reflects the results of both Praxair and Linde AG for the entire year. The year ended December 31, 2018
reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year and the results of Linde AG for the period beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger date), including the
impacts of purchase accounting {See Notes 1, 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements). The historical periods prier to 2018 reflect the results of
Praxair. Prior periods presented have been recast to be consistent with the new segment structure.;
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Reported

(Mikions of dollars}
Year Ended December 31,

Sales
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Fngineering
Other

Operating Profit
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engineering
Other
Segment operating profit
Reconciliation to reported operating Profit :

Cost reduction programs and other charges
(Note 5)

Net gain on sale of businesses
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG
Total operaling profit

Pro Forma

(Dollar amounts in milliens)}
Year Ended December 31,

Sales
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engincering
Other

Operating Profit
Americas

EMEA

APAC
Engineering
Other

Segiment operating profit
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Variance
2019 2018 2017 2019 vs, 2018 2018 vs. 2017
10,993 8,017 % 7,204 37% 11%
6,643 2,644 1,520 151% 74%
5.839 2,446 1,571 139% 56%
2,799 459 N/A N/M N/A
1,954 1,270 1,063 54% 19%
28,278 14836 $ 11,358 90% 31%
2,578 U3 % 1,054 2bt L1%
1,367 481 317 184% 52%
1,198 465 329 158% 41%
390 14 N/A N/M N/A
(245) (37) ey N/M N/M
5,288 2,976 2,496 78% 19%
(567) (309) (52)
164 3,294 N/A
{1,952) (714) N/A
2,533 5247 % 2,444
Variance
2019 2018 2019 vs. 2018
$ 10,989 % 10,539 4%
6,643 6,991 (5)%
5,779 5,950 (3)%
2,799 2,792 —%
1,953 1,812 8%
$ 28,163 S 28,084 — %
5 2,577 % 2,433 6%
1,367 1,344 2%
1,184 1,029 15 %
390 285 37 %
(246) (295) (177%
b 5272 § 4,796 10 %



Lalide o Cuments

Americas

Variance
(Dollar amounts in millions)
nded Decem . 2013 2018 2017 2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Reported sales $ 10,993 $ 8017 % 7,204 37% 11%
Pro forma sales $ 10,989 ] 10,539 N/A 4% N/A
Reported operating profit $ 2578 & 2053 % 1,854 26% 11%
As a percent of sales 23.5% 25.6% 25.7%
Pro forma operating profit $ 2577 % 2,433 N/A 6% N/A
As a percent of sales 23.5% 23.1% N/A
2018 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pro forma Reported
Factors Contributing to Changes - Sales
Volume/Equipment —% 1% 3%
Price/Mix 3% 3% 2%
Cost pass-through (1% (1% 1%
Currency (2% (2)% (2)%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 37 % 3% 7%
37 % 4% 11 %

The Americas segment includes Linde’s industrial gases operations in approximately 20 countries including the United States, Canada, Mexico and Brazil.
Sales

Reported sales for the Americas segment for 2019 increased $2,976 million, or 37%, versus 2018, primarily due to the merger. On a pro forma basis, sales
increased $450 million, or 4%, versus 2018.

On a reported basis, sales increased 37% in 2019 primarily due to the merger. Higher pricing contributed 3% to sales. Unfaverable currency translation
decreased sales by 2%, primarily driven by the weakening of the Brazilian real, Mexican peso and Canadian dollar against the U.S. Dollar, Lower cost past-
through, primarily natural gas, decreased sales by 1% with minimal impact on operating profit.

On a pro forma basis, volume growth contributed 196 to sales in 2019 as compared to 2018 primarily driven by hase volume growth in the United States and
Latin America and project start ups in the United States Gulf Coast. Higher pricing conaibuted 3% to sales. Currency translation decreased sales by 2%,
Acquisitions and divestitures increased sales by 3%, related primarily to acquisitions in North America. Lower cost pass-through decreased sales by 1% with
minimal impact on operating profit.

Reported sales for 2018 increased $813 million, or 11%, versus 2017 primarily due to the merger which contributed 7% to sales. Underlying sales growth was
4%, driven by higher volumes and higher price. Unfavorable currency impacts decreased sales by 2%. Higher cost pass-through increased sales by 1% with
minimal impact on operating profit.

Operating Profit

Reported operating profit for the Americas segment for 2019 increased $525 million, or 26% from 2018, due primarily to the merger. On a pro forma basis,
operating profit increased $144 millicn, or 6%, for 2019 as compared to 2018.

On a reported basis, operating profit increased 26% in 2015 targely driven by the merger and higher pricing, partially offset by unfavorable currency
translation impacts of 2%.
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Pro forma operating profit in the Americas segment increased $144 million for 2019, or 6%, versus the 2018 period. Operating growth from higher volumes,
higher price and acquisitions was partially offset by unfavorable cureency translation impacts of 2% in the year. The 2018 year also included net gains on
asset disposals of approximately $26 million.

Reported operating profit for 2018 increased $199 million, or 11%, driven primarily by the merger, higher volumes and higher price partially offset by
unfavorable currency translation. The 2018 peried also included net gains on asset <lisposals of $13 million.

EMEA
Vaciance
(Doflar amourts in miliions}
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Reported sales 5 6643 § 2644 % 1,520 151 % 74%
Pro forma sales b 5,643 8 6,991 N‘A (5)% N/A
Reported operating profit $ 1,367 % 481 $ 317 184 9% 52%
As a percent of sales 20.6% 18.2% 20.9%
Pro forma operating profit $ 1,367 $ 1,344 N/A 2% N/A
As a percent of sales 20.6% 19.2% N/A
2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pro forma Reported

Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume (1Y% (1)% 1%
Price/Mix 1% 2% 2%
Cost pass-through (1)% —% 2%
Currency (1% (0)% 4%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 153 % —% 65%

151 % (5)% 74%,

‘The EMEA segment includes Linde's industrial gases eperations in approximately 45 European, Middle Eastern and African countries including Germany,
France, Sweden, the Republic of South Africa, and the United Kingdom.

Sales

On a reported basis, EMEA segment sales increased by $3,999 million, or 151%, in 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to the merger, net of related
divestitures. On a pro forma basis, sales decreased $348 million, or 5%, in 2019 versus 2018.

On a reporicd basis, sales increased 151% in 2019 driven primarily by the net impact of the merger with Linde AG and the related divestiture of Praxair's
European gases business in the fourth quarter of 2018. Excluding this net impact, sales decreased 2%. Velumes decreased 1% driven by weaker industrial
production. Higher price contributed 1% to sales. Unfavorable currency translation and cost pass-through each decreased sales by 1%.

On a pro forma basis, sales decreased 5% in 2019, primarily driven by unfavorable currency translation due to the weakening of the Eurg, British pound and
South African rand agaiast the U.S. Dollar which decreased sales by 6% . Higher price increased sales by 2%. Volumes decreased 196 driven by weaker
industrial preduction.

Reported sales increased $1,124 million, or 74%, in 2018 driven primariiy by the merger, net of related divestitures. Excluding the impact of the merger and
related divestitures, sales increase 9% from 2017, Higher cost pass-through
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increased sales by 2% with minimal impact on operating profit. Favorable currency translation increased sales by 4%. Higher volumes and higher price
increased sales by 1% and 2%, respectively.

Operating Profit

On a reported basis, operating profit for the EMEA segment increased by $886 million, or 184%, in 2019 as compared to 2018. On a pro forma basis,
operating profit increased $23 million, or 2%, in 2019 versus the respective 2018 period.

On a reported basis, operating profit increased 184% in 2019, driven primarily by the net impact of the merger with Linde AG and the related divestiture of
Praxair's European gases business in the fourth quarter of 2018.

On a pro forma basis, operating profit increased 2% in 2019 as compared to 2018 as higher pricing and the impact of cost reduction actions more than offset
the impacts of unfavorable currency ranslation and cost inflation.

Reported operating profic increased $164 million, or 52%, in 2018 driven primarily by the merger, net of related divestitures, Favorable currency translation
increased operating profit by 5%. Excluding the impact of the merger and related divestitures and currency, operating profit increased driven by higher price
and higher volumes, partially offset by cost inflation.

APAC
Variance

(Dollar amounis in millions)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Reported sales 3 5839 % 2446 8 1,571 139 % 56%
Pro forma sales $ 5,779 $ 5,950 N/A (3)%e N/A
Reported operating profit $ 1,198 3% 465 % 329 158 % 41%

As a percent of sales 20.5% 19.0%
Pro forma operating profit $ 1,184  § 1,029 N/A 15 % N/A
As a percent of sales 20.5% 17.3% N/A
2019 vs. 2018 2018 v». 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pro forma Reported

Factors Contributing to Changes

Volume 4% 1% 9%

Price/Mix 2% 2% 2%

Cost pass-through —% (1)% 1%

Currency (3)% (4)% 1%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 136 % (1)% 43%

139 % (3)% 56%

The APAC segment includes Linde's industrial gases operations in approximately 20 Asian and South Pacific countries and regions including China,
Australia, India, South Korea and Taiwan.

Sales

On a reported basis, APAC segment sales increased by $3,393 million, or 139%, in 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to the merger. On a pro forma
basis, sales decreased $171 million, or 3%, in 2019 versus 2018.
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On a reported basis, sales increased 139% in 2019 driven by the merger. Unfavorable currency translation decreased sales by 3%, driven primarily by the
weakening of the Chinese yuan, Korean won and Indian rupee against the U.S. Dollar. Excluding the impacts of the merger and currency, sales increased by
6% driven by higher base volumes, new project start ups and higher price.

On a pro forma basis, sales decreased 3% in 2(19. Higher pricing increased sales by 2%. Higher volumes contributed 1% to sales driven by higher base
volumes and new project start-ups. Currency translation decreased sales by 4%. Lower cost pass-through decreased sales by 1% with minimal impact on
operating profit. Acquisitions and divestitures decreased sales by 1%.

Reported sales in 2018 increased $875 million, or 56%, versus 2017 driven primarily by the merger which contributed 43% to sales. Cost pass-through,
primarily energy, and currency impacts each increased sales by 1%. Volume growth of 9% was primarily arributable to base volume growth in China, Korea
and India and new project start-ups in China. Higher price increased sales by 2% driven by China.

Operating Profit

On a reported basis, operating profit for the APAC segment increased by $733 million, or 158%, in 2019 as compared to 2018, due primarily to the merger,
On a pro forma basis, operating profit increased $155 million, or 15%, in 2019 versus the respective 2018 period.

On a reported basis, operating profit increased 158% in 2019, driven by the net impact of the merger with Linde AG. Unfavorable currency ranslation
decreased operating profit by 3% for the year. Excluding the merger and currency impacts, operating profit growth was driven by higher price and cost
reduction programs.

On a pro forma basis, operating profit increased 15% in 2019 as compared to 2018. Unfavorable currency translation decreased operating profit by 5% in the
year. Excluding currency impacts, operating growth was driven by higher price and cost reduction programs.

Reported operating prafit in 2018 increased $136 million, or 41%, versus 2017 driven primarily by the merger, higher velumes and price. Operaling profit for
2018 included a $22 million asset impairment charge, offset by a litigation settlement gain.
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Engineering

(Pellar amounts in millions}

‘Variance

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 20t7 201% vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Reported sales 2,799 459 N/A 510% 100%
Pro forma sales 2,799 2,792 N/A -9 N/A
Reported operating profit 350 14 N/A N/M 100%
As a percent of sales 13.9% 3.1%
Pro forma operating profit $ 390 % 285 N/A 37% N/A
As a percent of sales 13.9% 10.2% N/A
2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pro forma Reported
Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume/Price 8% 4% —%
Currency (2% (4% —%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 504 % —% 100%
510 % — % 100%

Sales

Reported Engineering segment sales increased $2,340 miliion, or 510%, in 2019 as compared to the respective 20i8 period. On a pro forma basis, segment
sales increased $7 million in 2019 as compared to the respective 2018 period.

On a reported basis, 2019 sales increased 510% in year primarily related to the merger of the Linde Engineering business. Excluding the impact of the merger,
volume growth of 8% was partially offset by unfavorable currency translation of 2%4.

On a pro forma basis, 2019 sales were flat versus 2018 as velume growth of 4% was offset by unfavorable currency translation of 4%.
Reported sales for 2018 increased 100% versus 2017 due to the merger of the Linde Engineering business,
Operating profit

Reported Engineering segment operating protit increased $376 miilion, or 2,686%, in 2019 versus 2018. On a pro forma basis, operating profit increased
5105 million, or 37%, in 2019 versus 2018.

On a reported basis, operating profit increased in 2019 related primarily to the merger of the Linde Engineering business.

On a pro forma basis, operating profit increased 37% for the year. Unfavorable currency translation decreased operating profit by 4% in 2019. Excluding the
impact of currency, operating profit increased due to timing cf project completion, favorable costs and procurement savings.

Reported operating protit for 2018 increased 100% versus 2017 due te the merger of the Linde Engineering business.
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Other

(Dollar amounts in milfions) Variance
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Reported sales $ 1,954 $ 1,270 $ 1,063 54 % 19%
Pro forma sales $ 1,953 $ 1,812 N7A 8% N/A
Reported operating profit $ (245) % B 3% [€)] (562)% 825%
As a percent of sales (12.5)% (2.9)%
Pro forma operating profit $ (246) % (295) N/A 17 % N/A
As a percent of sales (12.6)% (16.3)% N/A
2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pre formd Reported
Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume/Price 9% 12 % 8%
Currency (2)% (4)% 2%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 47 % — % 9%
54 % 8% 19%

Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses including: Surface Technologies, GIST, global helium whelesale, and Flectronic Materials;
which individually do not meet the quantitative thresholds for separate presentation.

Sales
Reported sales for Other increased $684 million, or 54%, for the 2019 year versus the respective 2018 period, primarily due to the meeger. On a pro forma
basis, sales increased $141 million, or 8%, for 2019 versus the respective 2018 periods.

On a reported basis, sales increased 54% for the year, primarily due to the merger which increased sales by 47%. Higher volumes and price increased sales by
9% in the year, primarily driven by higher surface technologies volumes to the aerospace and manufacturing end-markets and higher price. Currency
translation decreased sales by 2% for the year.

On a pro forma basis, sales increased 8% for 2019. Volume and price growth increased sales by 12%, driven by helium and surface technologies. Currency
translation decreased saleg by 4%.

Reported sales for 2018 increased $207 million, or 19%, versus 2017 driven primarily by the merger. Excluding the impact of the merger, underlying sales
increased driven by surface technologies volumes to the aerospace and manufaciuring end-markets and higher price,

Operating profit
Reported operating profit in Other decreased $208 millien in 2019 versus the respective 2018 periods, due primarily to the merger. On a pro forma basis,

operating, loss imptoved $49 million, ar 17%, when comparing 2019 to the 2018 period.

On a reported basis, operating profit decreased $208 million primarily related to the merger as operating profit increases from higher volumes and price were
more than offset by the merger of Linde AG corporate.

On a pro forma basis, operating profit improved $49 million in the year. Higher volumes, helium pricing and cost reduction actions improved operating profit
which was partially offset by higher helium sourcing costs.
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Reported operating profit for 2018 decreased $33 million versus 2017 primarily related 1o the merger as operating profit increases from higher volumes and
price were more than offset by the merger of Linde AG corporate.
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Currency

The results of Linde's non-1.S. nperations are translated to the company’s reporting currency, the 1.5, dollar, from the funciional currencies used in the
couritries in which the company operates. For most foreign operations, Linde uses the local currency as its functional currency. There is inherent variability
and unpredictability in the relationship of these functional currencies to the U.S. dollar and such currency movements may materially impact Linde’s results
of operations in any given period.

To help understand the reported results, the following is a summary of the sigaificant currencies underlying Linde’s consolidated results and the
exchange rates used to translate the financial statements {rates of exchange expressed in units of local carrency per U.S. dollar):

Percent of Statements of Income Balance Sheets
2019 Average Year Ended December 31, December 31,
Consolidated
Currency Sales 2019 2018 2017 2019 2018
Euro 20% 0.89 0.85 0.89 0.89 0.87
Chinese ynan 7% 6.90 6.60 6.76 6.96 6.88
British pound 6% 0.78 0.75 0.78 0.75 0.78
Australian dollar 4% 1.44 1.34 N/A 1.42 1.42
Brazilian real 4% 3.94 3.63 3.19 4,03 3.87
Korean won 3% 1,165 1,100 1,131 1,156 1,111
Canadian dollar 3% 1.33 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.36
Mexican peso 2% 19.24 19.20 18.86 18.93 19.65
Taiwan dollar 2% 30.90 30.13 30.43 29.99 30.55
Indian rupee 2% 70.40 68.00 65.00 71.38 69.77
South African rand 1% 14.43 13.16 N/A 14.00 14.35
Swedish kroner 1% 9,45 8.68 8.53 9.37 8.85
Thailand bhat 1% 3104 32.30 33.91 29.71 3233
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LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

(Milliven uf dotlurs)
Year Ended December 31,

Net Cash Provided by (Used for)
Operating Activities
Income from continuing operations (including noncontrolling interests)
Non-cash charges (credits):
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges, net of payments (a)
Add: Amortization of merger-related inventory step-up
Less: Net gain on sale of businesses, net of tax (b)
Add; Tax Act income tax charge, net
Add: Depreciation and amortization
Add (Less): Deferred income taxes, excluding Tax Act
Add (Less): non-cash charges and other
Income from continuing operations adjusted for non-cash charges and other
Less: Pension contributions
Add (Less):. Working capital
Add (Less). Other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Divestilures and asset sales, net of cash divested
Cash acquired in merger transaction
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities
Financing Activities
Debt increases (decreases) — net
Issuances (purchases) of ordinary shares — net
Cash dividends — Linde plc shareholders
Noncontrolling interest fransactions and other
Net cash (used) for financing activites

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Cash and cash equivalents, end-of-period

{a) See Note S to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) See Note 4 1o the consolidated financial statements.

2019 2018 2017
$ 2,272 % 4288 § 1,308
(236) 40 26
12 368 —
(108) (2,923) —
— (61) 394
4,675 1,830 1,184
(303) (187) 136
(32 237 102
6,280 3,562 3,150
(54) (87) (13)
(160) 202 (158)
93 (53) 68
% 6,119 % 3654 % 3,041
% (3.682) % (1,883) $ (1,311)
(225) (25) (33)
5,006 5,908 30
— 1,363 —
$ 1,189 % 5363 % (1,314)
% (1,260} % (2,908) $ (771)
{2,586) (522} 108
(1,801) (1,166) (901)
(3,260) (402} ©2)
$ (8997) $ (4,998) §$ (1,656)
$ 77y $ 60) % 22
$ 2,700 % 4466 § 617

Cash decreased $1,766 million in 2019 versus 2018, The primary sources of cash in 2019 were cash flows from operations of $6,119 million and
proceeds from divestitures and asset sales of $5,096 million. The primary uses of cash included capital expenditures of $3,682 million, transactions with
noncontrolling interests of $3,260 million, net purchases of ordinary shares of 52,586 million, cash dividends to shareholders of $1,891 million and net debt
repayments of $1,260 million. Noncontrolling interest transactions and cther of $3,260 million included a payment of approximately $3.2 billion related to
the cash-merger squeeze-cut of the 8% of Linde AG shares completed on April 8, 2019 (see Note 16 1o the consolidated financial statements).
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Cash Flows From Operations

Cash Flows From Operations
(Millions of Dollars)

ols

2019 compared with 2018

Cash flows from operations was $6,119 million, or 22% of sales, an increase of $2,465 millien from $3,654 million, or 25% of sales in 2018. The
increase was primarily attributable to the merger which drove higher net income adjusted for non-cash charges, partially offset by higher working capital
requirerments and higher merger and synergy related cash outflaws. 2019 included merger and synergy related cash outflows of $803 millien, of which $567
million is included within "Net income (including noncontrolling interests)" and $236 million is included within "Cost reduction programs and other charges,
net of payments".

2018 compared with 2017

Cash flows from operations was $3,654 million, or 25% of sales, an increase of $613 million from $3,041 million, or 27% of sales in 2017. The
increase was primarily attributable to the merger, higher net income adjusted for non-cash charges and favorable working capital requirements, partially offset
by unfavorable changes in other long—term assets and liabilities and higher pension contributions.
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Investing

Capital Expenditures
{(Millions of Dollars)

eI LN $1.463

S1.311

2015 20160 2017 2018 0l

2019 compared with 2018

Net cash provided by investing activities of $1,189 million decreased $4,174 million from 2018 primarily driven by lower proceeds from merger-related
divestitures, cash acquired in the merger and higher capital expenditures.

Capital expenditures in 2019 were $3,682 millien, an increase of $1,759 million from 2018, driven primarily by the merger. Capital expenditures during
2019 related primarily to investments in new plant and production equipment for growth. Approximately 44% of the capital expenditures were in the
Americas segment with 33% in the APAC segment and the rest primarily in the EMEA segment.

Acquisition expenditures in 2019 were $225 million, an increase of $200 million from 2018 and related primarily to acquisitions in the Americas.

Divestitures and asset sales in 2019 totaled $5,096 millicn primarily driven by proceeds from merger-related divestitures including $3.4 billion from the
sale of Linde AG's Americas business, $1.2 billion from the sale of Linde Korea, and approximately $200 million each from the sale of the legacy Praxair and
legacy Linde India selected assets (see Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements). 2018 divestiture and asset sale cash flows included $5.6 billion from
the sale of Praxair's European business and $214 millior related to the sale of Praxair's Italian joint venture (see Note 4 to the consolidated financial
staternents).

2018 compared with 2017

Net cash provided by investing activities of $5,363 million increased $6,677 million from 2017 primarily driven by proceeds from the divestiture of
Praxair's European business and cash acquired in the merger, partially offset by higher capital expenditures.

Capital expenditures in 2018 were $1,883 million, ar increase of $572 million from 2017, driven primarily by the merger with Linde AG, Capital
expenditures during 2019 related primarily to investments in new plant and production equipment for growth and density.

Acquisition expenditures in 2018 were $25 million, a decrease of $8 million from 2017. Additionally, $1,363 millicn of cash was acquired in the merger
(see Nate 3 to the consolidated financial statements).

Divestitures and asset sales in 2018 totaled $5,508 million primarily driven by proceeds from merger-related divestitures including $5.6 billion from the
sale of Praxair's European business and $214 million related to the sale of Praxair's Ttalian joint venture (See Note 4 to the consclidated financial statements).
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Financing

Linde’s financing strategy is to secure long-term committed funding by issuing public notes and debentures and commercial paper backed by a long-
term bank credit agreement. Linde’s international operations are funded through a combination of local borrowing and intercompany funding to minimize the
total cost of funds and to manage and centralize currency exchange exposures. As deemed necessary, Linde manages its exposure to interest-rate changes
throagh the use of financial derivatives (see Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Marker Risk).

Cash used for financing activities was $8,997 million in 2019 compared to $4,998 million in 2018. The primary financing uses of cash were for
transactions with noncontrolling interests, net debt repayments, cash dividends and net purchases of Linde ordinary shares. Noncontrolling interest
transactions and other payments of $3,260 million increased $2,858 million from 2018 driven by a payment of approximately $3.2 billion for the cash-merger
squeeze-out of the 8% af Linde AG shares completed on April 8, 2019 (see Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements). Amounts paid in 2018 include
$315 million for the purchase of the noncenurolling interest in Praxair's Italian joint venture in a merger-related transaction (see Note 4 to the consolidated
financia! statements) and $25 million in interest related to the early redemption of bonds. Cash dividends of $1,891 million increased $725 million from 2018
driven primarily by higher shares outstanding after the merger and a 6% increase in dividends per share from $3.30 te $3.50. Net purchases of ordinary shares
were $2,586 mullion 1 2019 versus $522 million in 2018 driven by increased shave repurchases. The cash used for debt repayments-net of $1,260 million
decreased $1,648 million from $2,908 million during 2018 while cash decreased $1,766 million. Net deby (calculated as total debt less cagh and cash
equivalents) increased $426 million primarily due to lower cash balances partially offset by debt repayments.

The company believes that it has sufficient operating flexibility, cash reserves, and funding sources to maintain adequate amounts of liquidity to meet
its business needs around the world. At December 31, 2019, Linde's credit ratings as reported by Standard & Poor’s and Moody's were A-1 and P-1 for short-
term debt, respectively, and A and A2 for long-term debt, respectively.

Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements includes information with respect to the company’s debt repayments in 2019, cutrent debt position,
debt covenants and the available credit facilities; and Note 14 includes informatien relating to derivative financial instruments. Linde's credit facilities are
with major financial institutions and are non-cancelable until maturity. Therefore, the company believes the risk of the financial institutions being unable to
make required loans under the credit facilities, if requested, to be low, Linde’s major bank credit and long-term debt agreements contain standard covenants.
The company was in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2019 and expects to remain in compliance for the foreseeable future.

Linde’s total net debt outstanding at December 31, 2019 was $11,256 million, $426 miliion higher than $10,830 miltion at December 31, 2018. The
December 31, 2019 net debt balance includes $12,752 million in public securities, $1,204 millien representing primarily worldwide bank borrowings, net of
$2,700 million of cash. Linde’s global effective borrowing rate was approximately 2% for 2019,

In February 2019, Linde repaid $500 mitlion of 1.90% rate notes that became due; in May 2019 Linde repaid $150 million of variable rate notes that
became due; in June 2019 Linde repaid €500 million of 1.75% notes that due and AUD100 million of variable rate notes that became due; in August 2019
Linde repaid 5200 million of variable rate notes that became due,

On March 26, 2019 the company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an unsecured revolving credit agreement {"'the Credit Agreement”) with a
syndicate of banking institutions, which became etfective on March 29, 2019, The Credit Agreement provides for total commitments of $5.0 billion, which
may be increased up to $6.5 billion, subject to receipt of additional commitments and satisfaction of customary conditions. There are no financial
maintenance covenants contained within the Credit Agreement. The revalving credit facility expires on March 26, 2024 with the option to request two one-
year extensions of the expiration date. In connection with the effectiveness of the Credit Agreement, Praxair and Linde AG terminated their respective
existing revolving credi facilities. No borrowings were outstanding under the Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2019.

On September 3, 2019, Linde and the company’s subsidiaries Praxair and Linde AG entered into a series of parent and subsidiary guarantees related to
currently outstanding notes issued by Praxaiv and Linde AG as well as the $5 billion Credit Agreement.

On December 10, 2018, the company announced a §1.0 billion share repurchase program, which was completed in February of 2019. On January 22,
2019, the company’s board of directors approved the additional repurchase of $6.0 billion of its ordinary shares, of which $2.3 billion had been repurchased
through December 31, 20119. For additional information
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related to the share repurchase programs, see Part I [tem 5, Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table sets forth Linde's material contract obligations and other commercial commitments as of December 31, 2019:

(Millions of dollars) Due or expiring by December 31,

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total

Long-term debt obligations:
Debt and capitalized lease

maturities (Note 13) 3 1,531 % 1,855 $ 2,330 &% 1,798 § 983 % 3,727 % 12,224
Contractual interest 297 237 175 146 98 585 1,538
Operating leases {Note 6) 275 208 163 110 75 251 1,082
Retirement obligations 101 36 37 37 36 183 430
Unconditional purchase obligations 833 769 718 660 650 2,877 6,507
Construction comntitments 2,234 871 291 25 — — 3,421

Total Contractual Obligations $ 5271 % 3976 $ 3,714 % 2,776 § 1,842 §% 7623 % 25,202

Contractual interest on long-term debt of $1,538 million represents interest the company is contracted to pay on outstanding long-term debt, curreat
partion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations, calculated on a basis consistent with planned debt maturities, excluding the interest impact of interest
rate swaps. At December 31, 2019, Linde had fixed-rate debt of $10,799 million and floating-rate debt of $3,157 million. The rate assumed for floating-rate
debt was the rate in effect at December 31, 2019,

Retirement obligations of $430 million include estimates of pensicn plan contributions and expected future benefit payments for unfunded pension and
OPEB plans. Pensicn plan contributions are forecasted for 2020 only. For purposes of the table, $60 million of estimated contributions have been included for
2020. Expected future unfunded pension and OPEB benefit payments are forecasted enly through 2029. Contribution and unfunded benefit payment estimates
are based upon current valuation assumptions. Estimates of pension contwibutions after 2020 and unfunded benafit payments after 2029 are not included in the
table because the timing of their resolution cannot be estimated. Retirement obligations are more fully described in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Unconditicnal purchase obligations of 36,507 millien represent contractual commitments under various long and short-term take-cr-pay arrangements
with suppliers and are not included on Linde's balance sheet. These obligations are primarily minimum-purchase commitments for helium, electricity, natural
gas and feedstack used to produce atmospheric and process gases. A significant portion of these obligations is passed on to customers through similar take-or-
pay or other contractual arrangements. Purchase obligations that are not passed aleng to customers through such contractual arrangements are subject to
market conditions, but do not represent a material risk to Linde, Approximately $2,983 million of the purchase obligations relates to power and is intended (o
secure the uninterrupted supply of eleciricity and feedstock to Linde's plants to reliably satisfy customer product supply obligations, and extend through 2030.
Certain of the power contracts contain various cancellation provisions requiring supplier agreement, and many are subject to annual escalations based on local
inflation factors.

Construction commitments of $3,421 millicn represent outstanding commitments to complete authorized construction projects as of December 31,
2019. A significant pertion of Linde’s capital spending is related to the construction of new production facilities to satisfy customer commitments which may
take a year or more to complete.

Liabilities for uncertain tax positions totaling $415 million, including interest and penalties, are not included in the table because the timing of their

resolution cannot be estimated. Tax liabilities for deemed repatriation of earnings of $261 millior are payable over the next six years. See Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements for disclosures surrounding the "Tax Act” and nncertain income tax positions.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As discussed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, at December 31, 2019, Linde had undrawn outstanding letters of credit, bank
guarantees and surety bonds entered into in connection with normal business operations and they are not reasonably likely to have a material impact on
Linde’s consolidated financial condition, results of operaticns, or liquidity.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The policies discussed below are considered by management to be critical to understanding Linde’s financial statements and accompanying notes
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP"). Their application places stgnificant importance on
management’s judgment as a result of the need to make estimates of matters that are inherently uncertain. Linde’s financia! position, results of operations and
cash flows could be materially affected if actual results differ from estimates made. These policies are determined by management and have been reviewed by
Linde’s Audit Committee.

Purchase Accounting

Linde AG’s assets and liabilities were measured at fair value as of the date of the merger. Estimates of fair value represent management's best estimate
of assumptions abont future events and uncertainties. In determining the fair value, Linde utilized various forms of the inceme, cost and market approaches
depending on the asset or liability being fair valued. The estimation of fair value includes significant judgments related to future cash flows (sales, costs,
customer attrition rates, and contributory asset charges), discount rates, competitive wends, market comparables and others. Inputs were generally obtained
from historical data supplemented by current and anticipated market conditions and growth rates. The estimates and assumptions used to determine the
estimated fair value assigned to each class of assets and liabilities, as well as asset lives, have a material impact to the company's consolidated financial
statements, and are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable but that are inherently uncertain. As of the end of 2019, the valuation process
determine the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities is complete.

See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for addicional information.

Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciable Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment

Linde’s net property, plant and equipment at December 31, 201% was $29,064 millicn, representing 34% of the company’s consolidated total assets.
Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $3,940 million, or 16% of total cperating costs. Management judgment is required in the
determination of the estimated depreciable lives that are used to calculate the annual depreciation expense and accumulated depreciation.

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over the assets’ estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis for financial reporting
purposes. The estimated useful life represents the projected period of time that the asset will be productively empleyed by the company and is determined by
management based on many factors, including historical experience with similar assets, technological life cycles, geographic locations and contractual supply
relationships with on-site customers. Circumstances and events relating to these assets, such as on-site contract modifications, are monitored to ensure that
changes in asset lives or impairments (see “Asset Impairments™) are identified and prospective depreciation expense or impairment expense is adjusted
accordingly. Linde’s largest asset values relate to cryogenic air-separation production plants with depreciable lives of principally 15 years.

Based upon he assets as of December 31, 2019, if depreciable lives of machinery and equipment, on average, were increased or decreased by one year,
annual depreciation expense would be decreased by approximately $471 million or increased by approximately $618 million, respectively.

See Notes 3, 5 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.
Amortization of Other Intangible Assets

Linde’s net other intangible assets at December 31, 2019 was $16,137 million, representing 19% of the company s consolidated total assets, inciuding
$1,870 million of indefinite-lived intangibles. Amortization expense related 1o finite-lived intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $735
million, or 3% of total operating costs. Management judgment is required in the determination of the estimated amaortizable lives that are used to calculate the
annual amortization expense and accumulated amortization. See Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Based upon the assets as of December 31, 2019, if amortization lives of other intangible assets, on average, were increased or decreased by one year,
annual amortization expense would be decreased by approximately $33 million or increased by approximately $36 million, respectively.

See Notes 3, 9, and 12 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.
Revenue Recognition
Long-Term Construction Contracts

The company designs and manufactures equipment for air separation and other varied gas production and pracessing plants manufactured specifically
for end customers. Revenue from sale of equipment is generally recognized over time as Linde has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date and performance does not create an asset with alternative use. For contracts recognized over time, revenue is recognized primarily using a
cost incurred input methed. Costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion are used to measure progress toward satisfying performance
obligations. Costs incurred include material, labor, and overhead costs and represent work contributing and proportionate to the ransfer of contro! to the
customer. Coniract modifications are typically accounted for as part of the existing contract and are recognized as & cumulative adjustment for the inception-
to-date effect of such change. We assess performance as progress towards completion is achieved on specific projects, earnings will be impacted by changes
to aur forecast of revenues and costs on these projects.

Pension Benefits

Pensian benefits represent financial obligations that will be ultimately setled in the future with employees who meet eligibility requirements. Because
of the uncertainties involved in estimating the uming and amount of future payments, significant estimates are required to calculate pension expense and
liabilities related to the company’s plans. The company utilizes the services of independent actuaries, whose models are used to facilitate these calculations.

Several key assumptions are used in actuarial models to calculate pension expense and liability amounts recorded in the financial statements.
Management believes the three most significant variables in the models are the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, the discount rate, and the
expected rate of compensation increase. The actuarial models also use assumptions for varieus cther factors, including employee turnover, retirement age, and
mortality. Linde management believes the assumptians used in the actuarial calculations are reasonable, reflect the company’s experience and expectations for
the future and are within accepted practices in each of the respective geographic locations in which it operates. Actual results in any given year will often
differ from actuarial assumptions because of economic and other factors. The sensitivities to each of the key assumptions presented below exclude the impact
of special items that occurred during the year {e.g., divestiture-related settlement charges, settlement charges resulting from change in control provisions,
etc.).

The weighted-average expected long-term rates of return on pension plan assets were 7.27% for U.S. plans and 5.15% for international plans for the
year ended December 31, 2019 {7.62% and 5.13%, respectively at December 31, 2018). The expected long-term rate of return on the U.S. and international
plan assets is estimated hased on the plans' investment strategy and asset allocation, historical capital market performance and, to a lesser extent, historical
plan performance. A 0.50% change in these expected long-term rates of return, with all other variables held constant, would change Linde’s pension expense
by approximately $44 million.

The company has consistently used a market-related value of assets rather than the fair value at the measurement date to determine annual pension
expense, The market-related value recognizes investment gains or losses over a five-year pericd. As a result, changes in the fair value of assets from year to
year are not immediately reflected in the company’s annual pension expense. Instead, annual pension expense in future periods will be impacted as deferred
investment gains or losses are recognized in the market-related value of assets over the five-year period. The consolidated market-related value of assets was
$8,778 million, or $158 miltion lower than the fair value of assets of $8,936 miltion at December 31, 2019, These net deferred investment losses of $158
million will be recognized in the calculation of the market-related value of assets ratably over the next four years and will impact future pension expense.
Tuture actual investment gains or losses will impact the market-related value of assets and, therefore, will impact future annual pension expense in a similar
manner.

Discount rates are used to calculate the present value of plan liabilities and pension costs and are determined annually by management, The company
measures the service and interest cost components of pension and OPEB expense for significant U.S. and international plans using the spot rate approach.
U.S. plans that do not use the spot rate approach continue to determine discount rates by using a cash flow matching model provided by the company's
independent actuaries. The model includes a portfolio of corporate bonds graded Aa or better by at least half of the ratings agencies and matches the U.S.
plans' projected cash flows to the calculated spot rates. Discount rates for the remaining international plans are hased on market yields for high-quality fixed
income investments representing the approximate duration of the pension liabilities on the measurement
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date. Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements for a summary of the discount rates used to calculate plan liabilities and benefit costs, and to
the Retirement Benefits section of the Consolidated Results and Other Information section of this MD&A for a further discussion of 2019 benefit costs. A
0.50% reduction in discount rates, with all other variables held constant, would increase Linde’s pension expense by approximately $29 million whereas a
0.50% increase in discount rates would result in a decrease of $25 million. A 0.50% reduction in discount rates would increase the PBO by approximately
$976 million whereas a 0.50% increase in discount rates would have a favorable impact to the PBO of approximatety $855 million.

The weighted-average expected rate of compensation increase was 3.25% for U.S. plans and 2.46% for international plans at December 31, 2019
{3.25% and 2.38%, respectively, at December 31, 2018). The estimated annual compensation increase is determined by management every year and is based
on historical trends and marker indices. A 0.50% change in the expected rate of compensation increase, with all other variables held constant, would change
Linde’s pension expense by approximately $8 million and would impact the PBO by approximately $65 million.

Asset Impairmerts
Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangibles Assets

At December 31, 2019, the company had goodwill of $27,019 million and $1,870 million of other indefinite-lived intangible assets. Goodwill
represents the aggregate of the excess consideration paid for acquired businesses over the fair value ot the net assets acquired. Indehmte-lived other
intangibles relate to the Linde name.

The company performs a goodwill impairment test annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have
been incurred. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019, the company changed the date of its antual goodwill impairment test from April 30 to October 1.
The change was made to more closely align the impairment testing date with the company’s planmng process. The change in annual impairment testing date
did not delay, accelerate or avoid an impairment charge. The company has determined this change in the method of applying an accounting principle is
preferable.

The impairatent tests performed during the second and fourth quarters of 2018 indicated no impairment, At December 31, 2019, Linde’s enterprise
value was approximately $125 billion (outstanding shares multiplied by the year-end stock price plus net debt, and without any contol premium) while its
tatal capital was appreximately $63 billion.

The impairment test allows an eatity to first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than carrying value. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than carrying value then the company
will estimate and compare the fair value of its reporting units to their carrying value, including goodwill. Reporting units are determined based on one level
below the operating segment level. In estimating the fair value of each reporting unit, management applied a multiple of earnings from a peer group to the
comipany’s forecasted earnings for the year ending December 31, 2019. The peer group is comprised of comparable entities with similar operations and
economic characteristics.

Such analysis requires the use of certain market assumptions and discount factors, which are subjective in nature. As applicable, estimated values can
be affected by many factors beyond the company’s contral such as business and economic trends, government regulation, and technological changes.
Management believes that the quantitative and qualitative factors used 1o perform its annual goodwill impairment assessment are appropriate and reasonable.
Although the 2019 assessment indicated that it is more likely than not that the fair value of each reporting unit exceeded its carrying value, changes in
circumstances or conditions affecting this analysis could have a significant impact on the fair value determination, which could then result in a material
impairment charge to the company's results of operations. Reporting units with greater concentration of Linde AG assets fair valued during the recent merger
are at greater risk of impairment in future periods.

Other indefinite-lived intangible assets from Linde AG recently fair valued are evaluated for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events
and circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have been incwrred, and no impairments were indicated.

See Notes 3, 11 and 12 o the censolidated financial statements.

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment and finite-lived other intangible assets, are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an individual asset or asset group may not be recoverable. For purposes of this test, asset groups are
determined based upon the lpwest level for which
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there are independent and identifiable cash flows, Based upon Linde’s business model, for property, plant and equipment an asset group may be a single plant
and related assets used to support on-site, merchant and packaged gas customers. Alternatively, the asset group may be a pipeline complex which includes
multiple interdependent plants and related assets connected by pipelines within a geographic area used to support the same disribution methods.

Income Taxes

At December 31, 2019, Linde had deferred tax assets of $2,179 million {net of valuation allowances of $222 million), and deferred tax liabilities of
$8,825 millior. At Decernber 31, 2019, uncertain tax positions totaled $472 million (see Notes 2 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements). Income tax
expense was $769 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, or ahout 26.3% of pre-tax income (see Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for
additional information related to taxes).

In the preparation of consolidated financial statements, Linde estimates income taxes based on diverse legislative and regulatory strucnires that exist in
various jurisdictions where the company conducts business. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities represent tax benefits or obligations that arise from
temporary differences due to differing treatment of certain items for accounting and income tax purposes. Linde evatuates deferred tax assets each period to
ensure that estimated future taxable income will be sufficient in character (e.g. capital gain versus ordinary income treatment), amount and timing to result in
their recavery. A valuation allowance is established when management determines that it is more likely than not that a deferred rax asset will not be realized
to reduce the assels to their realizable vaiue. Considerable judgments are required in establishing deferred tax valuation allowances and in assessing exposures
related to tax matters, As events and circumstances change, related reserves and valuation allowances are adjusted to income at that time. Linde’s tax retumns
are subject to audit and local taxing authorities could challenge the company’s tax positions. The company’s practice is to review tax filing positions by
jurisdicdon and to record provisions for uncertain income tax positions, including interest and penalties when applicable. Linde believes it records and/or
discloses such potential tax liabilities as appropriate and has reasonably estimated its income tax liabilities and recoverable tax assets. If new information
becomes available, adjustments are charged or credited against income at that time. Management does not anticipate that such adjusoments would have a
material adverse effect on the company's consolidated financial position or liquidity; however, it is possible that the final outcomes could have a material
impact on the company’s reported results of pperations.

Corttingerncies

The company accrues liabilities for non-income tax contingencies when management believes that a loss is probable and the amounts can be reasonably
estimated, while contingent gains are recognized only when realized or realizable. If new information becomes available or losses are sustained in excess of
recorded amounts, adjustments are charged against income at that time, Management does not anticipate that in the aggregate such losses would have a
material adverse effect on the company’s consolidated financial position or liquidity; however, it is possible that the final outcomes could have a material
impact on the company’s reported resubts of operations.

Linde is subject to various claims, legal proceedings and government investigations that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of business.
These actions are based upen alleged environmental, tax, antitrust and personal injury claims, among others (see Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements). Such contingencies are significant and the accounting requires considerable management judgments in analyzing each matter to assess the likely
outcome and the need for establishing appropriate liabilities and providing adequate disclosures. Linde believes it records and/or discloses such contingencies
as appropriate and has reasonably estimated its liabilities.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for information concerning new accounting standards and the impact of the implementation of these
standards on the company’s financial statements.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Linde does not expect changes in the aggregate fair value of its financial assets and habilities to have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements. See Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUPPLEMENTAL PRO FORMA INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

To assist with a discussion of the 2019 and 2018 results on a comparable basis, certain supplemental unaudited pro forma income statement information is
provided on both a consalidated and segment basis (referred to as “pro forma Income Statement Information™ or "pro forma informarion”).

The pra forma information has been prepared on a basis consistent with Articie 11 of Regulation $-X, assuming the merger and the merger-related
divestitures had been consummated on January 1, 2018 and includes adjustments for (1) the preliminary purchase accounting impacts of the merger, including
increased amortization expense on acquired intangible assets, increased depreciation on property, plant and equipment and lower interest expense due (o
revaluing existing debt to fair value, (2) conversion to US GAAP from [FRS for Linde AG, (3) accounting policy alignment, (4} the elimination of the impact
of transactions between Praxair and Linde AG, (5) the elimination of the effect of events that are directly attributable to the Merger Agreement and (6) the
elimination of the effect of consummated and probable divestiiures required as a condition of the approval for the merger, In preparing this pie forma
information, the historical financial infermation has been adjusted to give effect to pro forma Adjustments that are (i) directly attributable to the business
combination and other transactions presented herein, such as the merger-related divestitures, {ii} factually supportable, and (iii) expected to have a continuing
impact on the combined entity’s consolidated results.

The pro forma information is based on management's assumptions and is presented for illustrative purposes and does not purport to represent what the results
of operations would actually have been if the merger and merger-related divestitures had occurred as of the dates indicated or what the results would be for
any future periods. Also, the pro forma information does not include the impact of any revenue, cost ar other operating synergies that may result from the
merger ar any related restructuring costs. Events that are not expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results (e.g. inventory step-up €osts, non-
recurring income/charges) are excluded from the unaudited pro forma information.

The unaudited pro forma income statement has been presented for informational purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of what Linde’s results of
aperation actually would have been had the merger been completed on January 1, 2018. In addition, the unaudited pro forma income statement does not
purport to project the futire operating results of the company.

The pro forma Income Statement Information are included in the following schedules:

- Year ended December 31, 2019 pro forma Income Statement Information

- Year ended December 31, 2018 pro forma Income Statement Information

Refer to an earlier section in this MD&A titled "Merger of Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG”.
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YEAR TO DATE DECEMBER 31, 2019 PRO FORMA INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

(Millions of dollars, except per share data)

Sates

ot of sales, exclusive of depreciatinn
Selling, generai and administrative

As a % of Sales
Depreciation and amortization

Research and development
Cost reduction programs ard other charges

Nel gain on sale of businesses
Other income {expense) - net
Operating profit

Operating margin
Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service costs

Ioterest expense - net

Iucome taxes

Effective Tax Rate
[ncome from equily investments
Noncentrolling interests from continuing operations
[ncome (rem continuing operalions
Diluted shares outstanding
Diluted EPS from continuing operations
SEGMENT SALES
AmMericas
EMEA
APAC
Engineering
Other
Segment sales
SEGMENT OPERATING PROFIT
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engineering
Other
Segment operating profit
Cost reduction programs and other charges
Net gain on sale of businesses
Purchase acconnting impacts - Linde AG

Total operating profit

(UNAUDITED)
Pro forma Adjustments
Linde plc Divestitures
Reported (@ Other Total Pro Forma
3 20,228 § (65) § — 5 (63) 5 28,163
16,644 (4R) (12) (60) 16,584
3,457 143 ay 3,455
12.2% 12.3%
4,675 — 4,675
184 —_ 184
567 {190)  {©) {19 377
164 t164) () {164) —
68 — 68
2,933 (16) 38 22 2,955
10.4% 10.5%
(32) 97) (& 97) (123)
38 — 38
769 3 (15) (D (20) 749
26.3% 24.5%
114 — 114
(89) — (89)
5 2,183 % {11 § 150 S 135 5 2,322
545,170 045,170 245,170
3 4.00 5 023 5§ $.25
$ 10993 % 4 % — $ ) s 10,889
6,643 —_ 6,643
5,839 (60} (60) 3779
2,799 — 2,799
1,954 (n {n 1,953
$ 28228 % (65) § — § (63) § 28,163
3 2,578 § (1 s — 3 (3] 2,577
1,367 1,367
1,198 (14} (14) 1,184
390 390
(245) ) W (246)
5,788 (16) — (16) 5,272
(567) — (567)
164 — 164
(1,952) — (1,952)
3 2933 § (16) § — % (16) § 207
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2019 Pro forma adjustments

(a To eliminate the results of Praxair's merger-related divestitures.

(b} To eliminate the impact of the inventory step-up recorded in purchase accounting for the merger. This item is nonrecurring in nature, directly attributable to the merger and
accwted within one year of the transaction.

() To eliminate the wansaction costs and other charges related o the merger. These transaction ¢osts are nonrecurring, directly attributable to the merger. and incremental. See
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

() Ty eliminate the gain on merger related divestitures.
(e)

‘[0 eliminate peosion settlement charges related to the merger.

{0 To climinate the income ax impacts of Gther adjustments.
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YEAR TO DATE DECEMBER 31, 2018 PRO FORMA INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION
(Millions of dollars, except per share data)

Sales
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation
Selling, general and administrative
As a % of Sales
Depreciation and amortization
Research and development
Cost reduction programs ant other charges
Other incame {expense} - net
Operating profit

Operating margin

Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit),
excluding service costs

Intevest expense - net
Income taxes
Effective 'Tax Rate

Income from equity investments

Noncontrolling interests from continuing
Gperations

Income from continuing operations
Diluted shares outstanding
Diluted EPS from continuing operations
SEGMENT SALES
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engineering
Other
Segment sales
SEGMENT OPERATING PROFIT
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engineering
Other
Segment operating profit
Caost reduction programs and other charges
Gain on sale of businesses
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG

Total operating profic

{(UNAUDITED)
Pro forma Adjustments
Purchase
Linde plc Linde AG Accounting Pro Forma
(@ {b) Divestitures()  (d) Other Total Linde plc
§ 14836 § 16929 $ (3,598} & — (83) (&) § 13,248 $ 28,084
9,020 10,315 {2,155) — 451) (e) 7,909 16,929
1,629 2,370 (364} — —_ 2,006 3,635
11.0% 12.9%
1,830 1570 (337} 1,861 — 3,094 4924
113 88 — — 88 201
309 323 — — (576) (f) (253) 56
2312 204 — — (3294 () (3,090) 222
5.247 2,267 (742} (1.B6L) (2,350 (2,686) 2,561
354% 9.1%
4 (159) (@) — — (161) (165)
202 332 (72) (83) — 177 379
817 634 (87} (430) (264) (2) (147) 670
16.2% 28.5%
56 80 (31) (53) — [C)] 52
(15) (144) 19 140 15 —
$ 4273 5 1,396 $ (593) $ {1,261) § (2,086) 5 (2544 5 1729
334,127 221,024 (h) 555,151
$ 1279 5 (988 M$ 3n
$ 8017 § 4352 § (1,768) (62} (e) § 2,522 $ 16,539
2,644 5,809 (1,463} 1 (e 4,347 £.991
2,445 3,851 (329) (18) (&) 3,504 5,950
459 2,333 — — (&) 2,333 2792
1,270 584 (38) {4) (e) 542 1,812
$ 14836 5 16929 § (3,598} § — (83) $ 13,248 § 28084
$ 2,053 % 714§ (327} (7)) 8 350 5 2433
481 1,230 (324) 43) (D 863 1,344
405 G8G (82} (4o (i) 564 1,029
14 276 — (5) @ 271 285
(37 (316) (9 67 (i) (258) (295)
2,576 2,590 (742) 28 1,820 4,796
{309 (323) 632 309 —
3,294 (3,294) (3.294) —
(714} 714 714 —
$ 5247 § 2,267 $ (742} $ (1,976) 3 (451) 5 479
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2018 Pro forma adjustments
(a) To include Linde ple consolidated results for the year ended December 31, 2018. Note that the resufts include the performance of Praxair's European industrial gases business through December
3, 2018 and the results of Linde AG from Octuber 31, 2018 (inerger date) through December 31, 2018, [he adjustments reflect reclassifications 1 conform w Linde pls reporting fonnat.

(b) To include Linde AG consolidated results for the period prior to the merger date at October 31, 2018, The adjustments reflect reclassifications to conform to Linde plc's reporting format and
adjustmenis from IFRS to U.S. GAAP.

(r) To eliminate the results of merger-related divestitures requited by regulatory authorities to secure approval for the Merger. These divestitures include the mejority of Praxair's Buropean
industrial gases business (completed December 3, 2018), a significant portion of Linde AG's America's industrial gases business (completed on March 1. 2013), select assets of Linde AG's South
Korean industrial gases business (completed April 30, 2019), as well as certain divestitures of other Praxair and Linde Ay businesses in Asia.

(d) 1o include purchase accounting adjustments for the period from January 1, 2018 to October 30, 2018 (prior to the Merger). This relates to (i) additional depreciation and amortization related to
the increased value of of property. plant and eguipment and increased hasis of intangible assess, (i) interest expense impacts related o the faiv value of debt, (iii) the tax impacts related o the too-
GAAP adjustments above, (iv) incame from equity investments equity related to the fair value of equity investments, and (v} noncontrolling interests adjustments related to the fair value
adjustments above. Purchase accounting impacts are not included in the definition of segment operaling prefit; therefore, no pro forma adjustment is required for segment reporting.

{t} T eliminate sales between Praxair and Linde AG for the period prior to the Merger date at October 31, 2018 (January 1, 2018 to October 30, 2018). () also includes a 5368 million impact for
the fair value step-up of inventorics acquired in the merger. This charge is recorded in cost of sales and suhsequently eliminared.

{f) To eliminate the transaction costs and other charges related to the Merger.

{0} To reflect the income tax impact of the above pro fomma adjusunents.

{h) Tu rellect the impact on diluted shares outstanding end diluted EPS telated w ordinary shares issues 1o Linde AG shareholders in (onnection with the Merger.

{i) To eliminate other {income) charges not included in segment operating profit, primarily related to a gain on a sale of business in EMEA and a gain on a sale of assetin APAC,
(3) Yo eliminate the gain on merger related divestitures.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

The following non-G AAP measures are intended to supplement investors’ understanding of the company’s financial information by providing measures
which investors, financial analysts and management use (o help evaluate the company’s financial leverage and operating performance. Special items which
the company does not believe to be indicative of on-going business performance are excluded from these calculations so that investors can batter evaluate and
analyze historical and future business trends on a cansistent basis. Definitions of these non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to similar definitions
used by other companies and are not a substitute for similar GAAP measures.

The non-GAAP measures in the following reconciliations are presented in the Selected Financial Data (Item 6) ov this MD&A.

Adjusted Amounts
Certain amounts for 2019, 2018, and 2017 have been included for reference purposes and to facilitate the calculations contained herein.

(Doltar amounts in miflions, except per share data}

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 207
Adjusted Pro Forma Operating Profit and Margin
Reported operating profit $ 2933 § 5247 § 2,444
Pro forma adjustments (a) 22 (2,686) N/A

Pro forma 2,955 2,561 N/A
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Add: Cost reducticn programs and other charges 377 33 52
Less: Net gain on sale of businesses — (51) e
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d) 1,940 2,233 —

Total adjusoments 2,317 2,235 52

Adjusted pro forma operating profit % 5272 % 4,796 N/A
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Adjusted operating profit $ 2,495
Reported percent change (44.1)Y% 114.7%
Adjusted pro forma percent change 99% N/A
Reported sales % 28,228 $ 14,836 $ 11,358
Pro forma sales (a) 28,163 28,034 N/A
Reported operating margin 10.4 % 35.4% 21.5%
Pro farma operating margin 10.5% 9.1% N/A
Adjusted pro forma operating margin 18.7 % 17.1% N/A

Adjusted Pro Forma Depreciation and amortization

Reported depreciation and amortization $ 4,675 $ 1,830 3 1,184

Pro forma adjustments {a) —_— 3,094 N/A
Pro forma 4,675 4,924 N/A

Non-GAAP Adjustments:

Less: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d) (1,940) (2.233) —

Adjusted pro forma depreciation and amortization $ 2,735 $ 2,691 N/A

Adjusted depreciation and amortization $ 1,184

Adjusted Pro Forma Net pension and OPER cost (benefit), excluding service

cost
Reported net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost $ (32 % @ 5 (£))
Pro forma adjustments (a) (97} (161) N/A

Pro forma (129) (165) N/A
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Add: Pension plan reorganization charge - net (10) (14) (2)

Total adjustments (10} (14 )

Adjusted pro forma Net Pension and OPEB cost {benefit}, excluding service
costs 3 (129) % {(179) N/A
Adiusted Net Pension and OPED cost {benefit), excluding service costs S (6)

Adjusted Pro Forma Interest Expense - Net

Reported interest expense - net 3 38 L 202 8 161
Pro forma adjustments (a) — 177 N/A
Pro forma 38 379 N/A
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Less: Bond redemption — (26) —
Less: Loss on hedge portfolio unwind — (174) —
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d) 96 100 —
Total adjustments 96 (100) —
Adjusted pro forma interest expense - net $ 134 5 279 N/A
Adjusted interest expense - net $ 161

Adjusted Pro Forma Income Taxes(b)}

Reported income taxes $ 769 5 817 % 1,026
Pro forma adjustments () (20} (147) N/A
Pro forma 749 670 N/A

Non-GAAP Adjustments:
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Add: Bond redemption
Add: Pension settlement charge
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d}
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges
Add:; Tax reform

Total adjustments
Adjusted pre forma income taxes

Adjusted income taxes

Adjusted Pro Forma Effective Tax Rate (b)
Heported 1ncome betore income taxes and equity investments
Pro forna adjustments (a)

Pro forma
Non-GAAP Adjustments;
Add: Bond redemption
Add: Pension setdement charge
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d)
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges
Add: Pension plan reorganization charge - net
Add: Loss on hedge portfolio unwind
Less: Net gain on sale of businesses

Total adjustments

Adjusted pro forma income before income taxes and equity investments

Adjusted income before income taxes and equity investments

Reporied income taxes
Reported effective tax rate

Adjusted pro forma income taxes
Adjusted income taxes

Adjusted pro forma effective rax rate
Adjusted effective tax rate

Income from Equity Investments

Reported income from equity investments

Pro forma adjustments (a}
Pro forma

Non-GAAP Adjustments:

Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG {d)
Total adjustments

Adjusted pro forma income from equity investments

Adjusted income from equity investments

Adjusted Noncontrolling Interests from Continuing Operations
Reporied noncontrolling interests from continuing operations
Pro forma adjustments (a2}

Pro forma
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges

58

—_— 5 —
— 3 1
447 516 —
71 (0 4
- 17 (394)
518 541 (389)
1,267 1,211 N/A
$ 637
2,927 5049 § 2,287
119 (2.702) N/A
3,046 2,347 /A
— 26 —
— 14 2
1,844 2,133 _
377 53 52
10 — —
— 174 —
— (51) —
2,231 2,349 54
5,277 4,696 N/A
$ 2,341
759 817 % 1,026
26.3% 16.2% 44.9%
1,267 1,211 N/A
$ 637
24.0 % 25.8% N/A
27.2%
114 56§ 47
— @ N/A
114 52 N/A
57 64 —
57 64 —
171 116 N/A
b3 47
(89) s $ (61)
— 15 N/A
(89) — N/A
33} —_ —
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Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d) (54) (168) —

‘lotal adjustments (89) (168) —
Adjusted pro forma noncontrolling interests from continuing operations $ (178) % (168) N/A
Adjusted noncontrolling interests from continuing $ (51)
Adjusted Income from Continuing Operations (c) -
Reported income from continuing operations 3 2,183 % 4273 % 1,247
Pro forma adjustments (a} 139 (2,544 N/A

Pro forma 2,322 1,729 N/A

Non-GAAP adjustments;

Add: Pension settlement charge — 11 1
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges 281 53 48
Less: Net gain on sale of business — (50) —
Add: Bond Redemption — 20 —
Add: Loss on hedge poertfolio unwind — 174 —
Less: Other tax charges — (17) 394
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG 1,400 1,513 —

Total adjusoments 1,681 1,704 443
Adjusted pro forma income from continuing operations $ 4,003 % 3,433 N/A
Adjusted income from continuing operations $ 1,690

Adjusted Pro Forma Diluted EPS from Continuing Operations (c)

Reported diluted EPS from continuing operations b 400 % 1279 % 4.32
Pro forma adjustments (2} 0.25 (9.68) N/A
Pro forma 4.25 311 N/A
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Add: Pension settlement charge — 0.03 —
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges 0.52 0.09 0.17
Less: Net gain on sale of business — {0.09) —
Add: Bond redemption — 0.04 —
Add: Loss on hedge portfolio unwind — 031 —
Less Income tax reform — (0.03) 138
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG 2.57 2.73 e
Total adjustnents 3.09 3.08 1.53
Adjusted pro forma diluted EPS from continuing operations $ 734 % 6.19 N/A
Adjusted diluted EPS from continuing operations $ 5.85

Adjusted Pro Forma EBITDA and % of Sales

Income from continuing operations $ 2,183 % 4273 % 1,247
Add: Noncontrolling interests related to continuing operations 89 15 61
Add: Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost {32} {4) 4)
Add: Interest expense 38 202 161
Add: Income taxes 769 817 1,026
Add: Depreciation and amortization 4,675 1,830 1,184
EBITDA from continuing operations 7,722 7,133 3,675
Pro forma adjustments (a)

Add: Linde AG conselidated results — 3,917 N/A
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG 12 315 N/A
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Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges 190 576 N/A

Less: Net gain on sale of businesses (164) (3,294) N/A

Less: Divestitures (16) (1,110) N/A

Pro forma adjustments 22 404 N/A

Pro forma EBITDA from continuing operations 7,744 7,537 N/A

Non-GAAP adjustments:

Less: Net gain on sale of business — (51) —

Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges 377 53 52

Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG 57 64 —
Total adjustments 434 66 52

Adjusted pro forma EBITDA from continuing operations b 8,178 b4 7,603 N/A

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations $ 3,727

Reported sales 3 28,228 $ 14836 % 11,358

Pro forma sales $ 28,163 $ 28,084 N/A

% of sales

EBITDA from continuing operations 27.4% 48.1% 32.4%

Pro forma EBITDA from continuing operations 27.5% 26.8% N/A

Adjusted pro forma EBITDA from continuing operations 29.0% 27.1% N/A

Adjusted EBITDA frem continuing operations 32.8%

(a) See pro formy Income Statement Information in the preceding seciions.

(L) The income tax expense (benelit) on the nun-GAAP pre-tax adjustinents wes determined using the applicable tax rates for the jurisdictions that were utilized in calculating the GAAP income tax
expense (benefit) and included both current and deterred income t@x amounts.

{r) Net of income taxes which are shown separately in “Adjusied Income Taxes and Fffeclive lax Rate”.

(d) The company believes that its non-GAAP measures excluding Purchase accounting impacis - Linde AG are usetul 1o investors because: (i) the business combinacion was a merger of eguals in
an all-stock merger transaction, with no cash consideration, (i) the company is managed on a geographic basis and the results of certain geographics are more heavily impacted by purchase

4ot ounting than others, causing resulrs that are not comparable ar the reportahle segment level, therefore, the impacts of purchasing accounting adjustments to each segment vary and are not
comparable within the company and when compared o other companics in similar regions, (i) business management is evaluated and variable compensation is detenmined hased on resulls
excluding purchase accounting impacts, and; {iv) it is important to investors and analysts to understand the purchase accounting impacts o the Hnancial statements,

A sunwmary of each of the adjustments made for Purchase accounting impycts - Linde AG are as follows:

Adjusted Operating Profit and Margin: The purchase accounting adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2019 include (i} a $12 million adjusinent for the increase in cost of sales relared o
the fair value step up of inventories acquired in the merger (included 45 a pro forma adjustrnent), and (i) $1,940 in depreciation and amortization related 1o the fair value step up of fixed assets and
iniangible asseis (primarily costomer related) acquired in the merger.

Adjusted Inierest Expense - Net: Relates to the amortization ot the fair value of debt acguired in the merger,

Adjusted Income Taxes and Fffective Tax Rate- Relates to the current and deferred income tax impact on the adjustments discussed ahove. The income tax expense (henefit) on the non-G X AP pre-
1ax adjustments was determined using the applicable tax 1ates for the juiisdictions that were utilized in calculating the G A AP income t2x expense (benefit} and included both curtent and deferred
income tax amounts,

Adjusted Income from Equity Investments: Represents the amortization of increased fair value on equity invesunents related to depreciable and amoriizable assets.

Adjusted Noncortroliing Interests from Coniinuing Operations: Represents the noncontrolling interesis” ownership portion of the adjustments described above determined on an entity by entity
basis.
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Net Debt and Adjusted Net Debt

Net debt s a financial liquidity measure used by investors, financial analysts and management to evaluate the ability of a company to repay its debt, Purchase
accounting impacts have been excluded as they are non-cash and do not have an impact on liquidity.

December 31, December 31,
2019 2018

(Millions of doltars)

Debt $ 13956 § 15,296
Less: cash and cash equivalents (2,700} (4,456)
Net debt 11,256 10,830
Less: purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (195) (291)
Adjusted net debt $ 11,061 § 10,53%
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Linde is exposed to marker risks relating to flncrrations in interest rates and currency exchange rates. The objective of financial risk management at
Linde is to minimize the negative impact of interest rate and foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the company’s earnings, cash flows and equity.

To manage these risks, Linde uses various derivative financial insoruments, including interest-rate swaps, treasury rate locks, currency swaps, forward
contracts, and commodity contracts. Linde anly uses commonly @aded and non-leveraged instruments. These contracts are entered into primarily with major
banking institutions thereby minimizing the risk of credit loss. Also, see Notes 2 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements for a more complete
description of Linde’s accounting policies and use of such instruments.

The following discussion presents the sensitivity of the market value, earnings and cash flows of Linde’s financial instruments to hypothetical changes
in interest and exchange rates assuming these changes occurred at December 31, 2019. The range of changes chosen for these discussions reflects Linde’s
view of changes which are reascnably possible over a one-year period. Market values represent the present values of projected future cash flows based on
interest rate and exchange rate assumptions.

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2019, Linde had debt totaling $13,956 million ($15,296 millien at December 31, 2018}. For fixed-rate instruments, interest rate
changes affect the fair market value but do not impact eamings or cash fiows. Conversely, for floating-rate instruments, interest rate changes generally do not
affect the fair market value of the instrument but impact future earnings and cash flows, assuming that other factors are held constant, At December 31, 2019,
including the impact of derivatives, Linde had fixed-rate debt of $10,799 million and floating-rate debt of $3,157 million, representing 77% and 23%,
respectively, of total debt. At December 31, 2018, Linde had fixed-rate debt of $12,565 million and floating-rate debt of $2,731 miltion, representing 82% and
18%, respectively, of total debt.

Fixed Rate Debt

In order to mitigate interest rate risk, when considered appropriate interest-rate swaps are entered into as hedges of underlying financial instruments to
effectively change the characteristics of the interest rate without actually changing the underlying financial instrument. At December 31, 2019, Linde had
fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps outstanding that were designated as hedging instruments of the undetlying debt issuances - refer to Note 14 to the
consalidated financial statements for additonal informartion. This sensitivity analysis assumes that, holding all other variables constant (such as foreign
exchange rates, swaps and debt levels), a one hundred basis point increase in interest rates would decrease the unrealized fair market value of the fixed-rate
debt portfolio by approximately $473 million ($594 million in 2018). A one hundred basis point increase in interest rates weuld result in an approximate $73
million increase to derivative assets recorded.

Variable Rote Debt

At December 31, 2019, the after-1ax earnings and cash flows impact of a one hundred basis point increase in interest rates, including offsetting impact
of derivatives, on the variable-rate debt portfolio would be approximately $48 million (324 million in 2018).

Foreign Currency Risk

Linde’s exchange-rate exposures result primarily from its investments and ongoing operations in Latin America (primarily Brazil. Chile and Colombia},
Eurape (primarily Germany, Scandinavia, and the United Kingdam), Canada, Mexico, Asia Pacific (primarily Australia, China) and other business
transactions such as the procurement of equipment from foreign sources. Linde frequently utilizes currency contracts to hedge these exposures. At
December 31, 2019, Linde had a notional amount owtstanding of $9,713 million ($9,412 million at December 31, 2018) related to {oreign exchange contracts.
The majority of these were to hedge recorded balance sheet exposures, primarily intercompany loans denominated in non-functional currencies. See Note 14
to the consolidated financial starements.

Holding all other variables constant, if there were a 10% increase in foreign-currency exchange rates for the portfolio, the fair market value of fareign-
currency contracts outstanding at December 31, 2019 would increase by approximately $194 million and at December 31, 2018 would decrease by
approximately $307 million, which wauld be largely offset by an offsetting loss or gain on the foreign-currency fluctuation of the underlying exposure being
hedged.
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MANAGEMENT’S STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Linde’s consolidated financial statements are prepared by management, which is responsible for their faimess, integrity and objectivity. The
accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America applied
on a consistent basis, except for accounting changes as disclosed, and include amounts that are estimates and judgments. All historical financial information
in this annual report is consistent with the accompanying financial statements,

Linde maintains accounting systems, including internal accounting controls, monitored by a staff of internal auditors, that are designed to provide
reasonable assurance of the reliabitity of financial records and the protection of assets. The concept of reasonable assurance is based on recognition that the
cost of a system should not exceed the related benefits. The effectiveness of those systems depends primarily upon the careful selection of financial and other
managets, clear delegation of authority and assignment of accountability, inculcation of high business ethics and conflict-of-interest standards, policies and
procedures for coordinating the management of corperate resources, and the leadership and commitment of top management. In compliance with Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Linde assessed its internal control over financial reporting and issued a report {see below).

The Andit Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists solely of non-employes directors, is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the
accounting system and related controls and the preparation of annual financial statements. The Audit Committee periodicaily meets with management,
internal auditers and the independent accountants to review and evaltuate their accounting, auditing and financial reporting activities and responsibilities,
including management's assessment of internal control aver financial reporting. The independent registered public accounting firm and internal auditors have
full and free access to the Audit Committee and meet with the commitiee, with and without management present.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Linde’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the company’s principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, the company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal contrel over financial reporting based on the framework in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comumission (ofrer referred to as
COS0). Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2019.

Linde’s evaluation of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 did not include the internal controt over financial reporting
related to Linde AG which was acquired by Praxair in a merger accounted for as a business combination. In connection with its antitrust review of the
transaction, the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) imposed a Hold Separate Order {the “HSO™) on Linde that was lifted on March 1, 2019 after all
required asset divestitures in the U.S. were completed. The HSO required the companies to continue to operate globally as separate and independent
companies apart from each other in all material respects. As such, the HSO regulatory restrictions prohibited Linde from being able to perform procedures
pecessary 1o complete an overall assessment of Linde AG’s disparate internal control environment with operations in over 100 countries. Because of this, the
assessment of Linde AG’s internal control environment could only begin after the HS() was terminated on March 1, 2019, and as such Linde AG has been
excluded from the overall Linde internal control assessment as of December 31, 2019.

Total assets and sales for Linde AG represent approximately 23% and 62%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2019.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited and issued their opinion on the effectiveness of the
company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 as stated in their report.

s/ STEPHEN I. ANGEL /s/  KELCEY L. {OYT
Stephen F. Angel Kelcey E. Hoyt
Chief Executive Officer Chief Accounting Officer

/s/ MATTHEW J. WHITE

Matthew J. White
Chief Financial Officer

March 2, 2020
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Tc the Doard of Directors and Shareholders uf Lide plo

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consclidated balance sheets of Linde plc and its subsidiaries (the “Company™) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the
related consolidated statements of income, of comprehensive income, of equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2019, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consclidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's intermal control
over linancial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Jaterna! Control - Integrated Framework {2013} issued by the Commitiee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cemmission (COSO).

In our opinion, the conselidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Alse in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
{2013) issued hy the COS0.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal eontral over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report an Internal Control
Over Financial Reperting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial staternents and on the Company's internal
control over financial reporting based on cur audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accouating Oversight Board
{United States} (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rutes and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducied owr audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstaternent, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing pracedures o assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control aver financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our apinions.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management has excluded Linde Aktiengeseltschaft ("Linde AG") from
its assessment of internal control over financial reperting as of December 31, 2019 becaunse it was acquired in a merger accounted for as a business
combination during 2018 and subject to a hold separate order issued by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission until March 2019. We have also excluded Linde
AG from our audit of internal control over financial reporting. Linde AG is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total assets and tatal sales excluded from
management’s assessment and ouvr audit of internal control over financial reporting represent approximately 23% and 62%, respectively, of the related
consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

65



Tlable ot € ontenty

generally accepted accounting principles, A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that wansactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made anly in accordance with authorizations of management and directors
of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cottirel over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Alse, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness 1o future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies ot procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are maxters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i} relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (ii) invelved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter
in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below,
providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Revenue Recognition - Estimated Costs at Completion

As described in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements, $2,799 million of the Company’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 was
generated from the sale of equipment contracts. Sale of equipment contracts are generally comprised of a single performance obligation. Revenue from sale of
equipment is generally recognized over time as the Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date and performance does
nat create an asset with alternative use. For contracts recognized over time, revenue is recognized primarily using a cost incurred input method. Costs
incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion are used to measure progress toward satisfying performance obligations. Costs incurred include
material, labor, and overhead costs and represent work contributing and proportionate to the transfer of control 10 the customer.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to revenue recognition - estimated costs at completion is a critical audit
matter are there was significant judgment by management when developing the estimated costs at conupletion for the sale of equipment contracts. This in turn
led ta a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence relating to the estimated costs at
completion and management’s significant assumptions, including the estimated expected material and labor costs. In addition, the audit effort involved the use
of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in performing these procedures and evaluating the audit evidence obtained.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evafuating audit evidence in conrection with forming our averal! opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures also included, among others, testing management’s process for developing the estimated costs at completion for the
sale of equipment contracts and evaluating the reasonableness of management’s significant assumptions, including the estimated expected material and labor
costs. Evaluating the reasonableness of management’s significant assumptions involved evaluating management's ability to reasgnably estimate costs at
completion for the sale of equipment contracts on a sample basis by (i) performing a comparison of the originally estimated and actual casts incurred on
similar conipleted equipment contracts, and (ii) evaluating the timely identification of circumstances that may warrant a medificatien to estimated costs at
completion, including actual costs in excess of estimates. Professianals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating management’s
estimates and assumptions relating to the expected material and labor costs.

Goodwill Impairment Assessment

As described in Notes 2 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company's consolidated goodwill balance was $27,019 million as of December
31, 2019. Management performs an impairment test annually, or more frequendy if events or circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have been
incurred. The impairment test allows an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair valve of a reporting unit is
less than its carrying value. If it is determined that it is mare likely than not that the fair value of & reporting unit is less than its carrying
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value then management will estimate and compare the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. In estimating the fair value of
each reporting unit, management applied a multiple of earnings from a peer group te the Company’s forecasted earnings for the year ending December 31,
2019. The peer group is comprised of comparable entities with similar operations and economic characteristics.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the goodwill impairment assessment is a critical audit matter are
there was significant judgment by management when developing the fair value measurement of the reporting units. This in tum led to a high degree of auditor
judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence relating to management’s significant assumpticns for the multiples
of earnings from a peer group of comparable cntitics with similar operations and economic characteristics. In addition, the audit effort involved the use of
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in performing these procedures and evaluating the audit evidence obtained.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to management’s goodwill impairment assessment, including
controls over the valuation of the Company’s reporting units. These procedures also included, among others, i) tesdng management’s process for developing
the fair value measurement of the reporting units, ii) evaluating the appropriateness ot the multiples of earnings model, (iii) testing the completeness,
accuracy, and relevance of underlying data used in the model, and (iv) evaluating management’s significant assumptions for the multiples of earnings from a
peer group of comparable entities with similar operations and economic characteristics. Fvaluating management’s assumptions related to the multiples of
earnings involved evaluating whether the assumptions used by management were reasonable considering (i) the consistency with external market and industry
data and (ii} whether the assumptions were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge
were used to assist in the evaluation of the Company’s multiples of earnings model and significant assumptions for the multiples of earnings from a peer
group of comparable entities with similar operadons and economic characteristics.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Stamford, Connecticut
March 2, 2020

We have served as the Company s or its predecessor’s auditor since 1992,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data}

Year Ended Decernber 31, 2019 2018 2017

Sales % 28228 % 14836 % 11,358
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization 16,644 9,020 6,382
Selling, general and administrative 3,457 1,629 1,207
Depreciation and amortization 4,675 1,830 1,184
Research and development 184 113 93
Cost 1eduction programs and other charges 567 309 52
Net gain on sale of businesses 164 3,294 —
Other income (expenses) - net 68 18 4
Operating Profit 2,933 5,247 2,444
Interest expense — net 38 202 161
Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost 32) 4) {4)
Income From Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes and Equity Investments 2,927 5,049 2,287
Income taxes on continuing operations 769 817 1,026
Income From Continuing Operations Before Equity Investments 2,158 4,232 1,261
Income from equity investments 114 56 47
Income From Continuing Operations {Including Noncontrolling Interests) 2,272 4,288 1,308
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 109 117 —
Net Income (Including Noncontrolling Interests) 2,381 4,405 1,308
Less: noncontrolting interests from continuing operations (89) (15) (61)
Less: noncontrolling interests from discontinued operations (\3] [€)] —
Net Income — Linde plc $ 2285 % 4,381 % 1,247
Net Income ~ Linde plc

Income from continuing operatiens $ 2,183 % 4273 % 1,247
Income from discontinued operations 3 102 § 108 $ e
Per Share Data — Linde plc Shareholders

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 403 % 1293 % 4.36
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations 0.19 0.33 —
Basic earnings per share 5 4.22 13.26 4.36
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations L3 4.00 12.79 4,32
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations 0.19 0.32 —
Diluted earnings per share § 419 5 1311 § 432
‘Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (000°s):

Basic shares outstanding 541,094 330,401 286,261
Diluted shares outstanding 545,170 334,127 289,114

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
{Dollar amounts in milliong)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

NET INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS) 3 2,381 § 4405 § 1,308

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Translation adjustments:

Foreign currency translation adjustments 118 (401) 433
Reclassifications to net income {Note 4) 12 318 —
Income taxes 3 7 92
Translation adjustments 133 (76) 525
Funded status - retirement obligations (Note 18):
Retirement program Temeasurements (852) (260) (39)
Reclassifications to net income 154 94 55
Income taxes 154 (55) {3)
Funded status - retirement cbligations (544) {221) 1
Derivative instruments (Note 14):
Current year unrealized gain (loss) (32} — —
Reclassifications te net income — (1 —
Income taxes 7 — —_
Derivative instruments (25) (1) —
Securities (Note 9):
Curvent year unrealized gain (loss) 1 48] —

Reclassifications to net income — . —_
Income taxes — — _

Securities 1 1) —
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) {435) (299) 536
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS) 1,946 4,106 1,844
Less: nonconaolling interests {19} (83) (95)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - LINDE PLC $ 1,927 % 4,023 % 1,749

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
{Dollar amounts in millions)

December 31, 2019 2018
Assels
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,700 8 4,466
Accounts receivable —net 4,322 4,297
Caontract assets 368 283
Inventories 1,697 1,651
Assets held for sale 125 5,498
Prepaid and other current assets 1,140 1,077
Total Current Assets 10,352 17,272
Property, plant and equipment — net 25,064 29,717
Equity investments 2,027 1,838
Goodwill 27,019 26,874
Other intangible assets — net 16,137 16,223
Other long-term assets 2,013 1,462
Total Assets $ 86,612 § 93,386
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable % 3,266 $ 3,219
Short-term debt 1,732 1,485
Current portion of long-term debt 1,531 1,523
Conuwact liabilities 1,758 1,546
Accrued taxes 370 G657
Liabilities of assets held for sale 2 768
Other current tiabilities 3,501 3,758
Total Current Liabilities 12,160 12,956
Long-term debt 10,693 12,288
Other long-term labilities 4,888 3,435
Deferred credits 7,236 7,611
Total Liabilities 34,977 36,290
Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 113 16
Linde plc Shareholders’ Equity:
Ordinary shares (€0.001 par value, authorized 1,750,000,000 shares, 2019 issued: 552,012,862 ordinary
shares; 2018 issued: 551,310,272 ordinary shares) 1 1
Additional paid-in capital 44,201 40,151
Retained earnings 16,842 16,529
Accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss) (4,814) (4,456)
Less: Treasury stock, at cost (2019 — 17,632,318 shares and
2018 — 4,068,642 shares) (3,156) (629)
Total Linde plc Shareholders’ Equity 49,074 51,596
Noncontrolling interests 2,448 5,484
Total Equity 51,522 57,080
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 86,612 % 93,386

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Millions of dollars)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Increase {Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Operations
Net income — Linde plc $ 2285 % 4381 § 1,247
Less: income from discontinued operdtions, net of tax and noncontrolling interests {102} {108) —
Add: Nowcontrolling interests from continuing operations 89 15 61
Income from continuing cperanons (including noncontrolling interests) $ 2,272 g 4288 % 1,308
Adjustments to reconcile net income tr net cash pravided by operating activities:
Cost Reduction Programs and other (harges, nel of payments (236) a0 26
Amartization of merger-related inventory step-up 12 368 —
‘Tax Act income tax charge, nel _ (61) 394
Depreciation and amortization 3,875 1,830 1,184
Deferred income taxes, excluding Tax Act (3033 (187) 136
Share-based compensation 95 62 59
Net gain on sale of businesses, neq of tax (108 (2,923 —_
Non-cash charges and other (127) 175 43
Working capital
Accounts receivable 80 (124) (92)
Contract assets and lizbilities, net a7 — —
Inventory (81) (%) (22)
Prepaid and other current assets (72} 43 (66}
Payables and accroals (174) 287 22
Pension contributions (94) (87) (19)
Long-term assets, liabilities and other 93 (53) 68
Net cash provided by operdling activities 6,119 1,634 3,041
Investing
Capital expenditures (3.682) {1,883) (1,311)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (225) (25) (33)
Divestitures and asset sales. net of cash divested 5,096 5,908 30
Cash acquired in merger transaction - 1,363 —
Net cash provided by {used for) investing activities 1,189 5,363 (1,514}
Financing
Short-term debt borrowings (repayments} — net 224 208 (199)
Long-term debt borrowings 99 8 11
Long-term debt repayments (L.583) (3,124) (583)
Issuances of ordinary shares 72 77 120
Purchases of ordinary shares (2,658) {599) (12)
Cash dividends — Linde plc shareholders (1,891) (1,166} (901)
Noncontrolling interest transactions angd ather (3,260 {402y (82)
Net cash used for financing activities (8,597} (4,598) {1,656)
Discontinued Operations
Cash provided by operating activities $ 68 T _
Cash used for investing activities (60) (23) —_
Cash provided by financing activities 5 2 —
Net cash provided by discontinued uperations 14 27 —
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (77} (60) 22
Change in cash and cash equivalents (1,752) 3,966 ©
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning-of-period 4,466 617 524
Cash and cash equivalenls, including discontinued operations [ 2,714 % 46801 % 617
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Cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations (14} (137)

Cash and cash eqguivalents, end-of-period g 2,700 3 4,466 5 617
Supplemental Data

Income taxes paid $ 1,357 % 757 $ 565

[nterest paid, net of rapitalized interest {Note 9) 5 275 % 214 $ 184

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

{Dollar amounts in millions, except per share date, shares in thousands)

Linde plc Shareholders' Equity

- Accumulated Other
Drdinary shares Additional c i

Teeasury Stock

P Linde plk
Paid-in Retained Income (Loss) Sharehalders”  Nencontrolling
A tivity Shares Amaunls Capital Farnings (Note 9) Shares Ammiints F nuity Tnteresis Total Fauity
Balarce, December 31, 201 W2 5 4 5 4074 5 12,479 I SRAW $ (7 S 502§ 4w 5441
Net Incame 1,247 1,247 59 1306
Other comprehensive income (loss) 500 562 34 536
Naoacontrolling interests:
Dividends and cther capital reductions _ 35) (35)
Additions {Reductions) _ 15 15
Redemphion value adtastments (Note 16)
" ' (Rote 19} W (11 )
Dividends ($3.15 per common share} (501} (@on) N
Issuances of common stock:
For the dividend reinvestment and stock
purchase plan (30} 7 7 7
For employee savings and incentive
plans (49) (1,835) 134 85 85
Purchases of common stock 9 w I wm
Share-based compensation 5 59 59
Ralance, December 31, 2017 383,231 % 4 $ 4084 $ 13,224 £4.098) 96434 F {7,196} 3 LRULI 3 493 6,511
Net tncome 4381 4381 2 4,402
Other comprehensive income (lass) (265) (263) 59 (206)
Noncontrolling interests:
[xvidends and other capital reductions _ (43 (49)
Additions {(Reductions) (127) zm (186) (313
Redemption value adjnstmenrs (Note 16) @ ) 3
Dividends ($3.30 per common share)} (1,166) {1,166) (1,166)
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Linde ple Shareholders’ Eyuity

Accumulated Other

Ordinary shares Additional Comprehensive Treasury Stock Linde plc
Paid-in Retained [ncome (Loax) Shareholders* Noncont rotling
Activity Shares Ameunts Capital Eamings (Mote 9} Shares Amounis Lquity Lnterests 1083) Equity
Issuantes of common stack:
For the dividend reinvestment and stock
purchase plan {31) 5 5 S
For employee savings and incentive
plans 255 — (46} {1,199) 79 33 32
Purchases of common stock 4079 (630) (630) (630)
Share-based i
are-based compensation 2 62 g2
Tax Act Reclassification (Note 7} 3 93 $ {93) S — 3 —
Tmpact of merger (Notes 2 and 16} 167,824 5 {3) % 36178 @5324) & 7113 % 43,288 $ 5,146 $ 48,434
Uafance, December 1 2018 331l & 1 D 40,101 o 10,327 3 (+430) 4,003 B (UZ9) 31,390 i3 ERILN) 3 37080
Net I ilable for Linde ple sharehold
et Income available for Linde ple shareholders 2205 2,285 04 2,379
Other hensive I
ther comprehensive loss (338) 358) (77} (433)
Noncontrolling interests;
Dividends and other capital reductions — (132 (132)
Addirons (Reductions) - (Note 16) — {2,921) (2,925
Redemptien value adjustments (Note 1G)
Q)] ) (8}
Dividends ($3.50 per common sh:
(8350 on share} 1,891) (1891} (1,331)
Issuances of ordinary shares:
For the dividend reinvestment and stock
purchase pian
For employee savings and incentive
plans 703 — (45} (73) (770) 127 9 El
Purchases of ordinary shares
¥ 14,333 (2,654) (2.654) (2,654}
Share-based compensation
95 95 95
Balance, December 31, 2019 552,013 $ 1 $ 40,201 $ 16,842 % (4,614) 17,632 $ (3,156) § 45,074 5 2,448 5 51,522

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTE 1. FORMATION OF LINDE PLC AND BUSINESS COMBINATION OF PRAXAIR, INC. AND LINDE AG

Formation of Linde pic

Linde plc ("Linde" or “the company™), a public limited company incorporated in Ireland, was formed in accordance with the requirements cf the
husiness comhination agreement, dated as of June 1, 2017, as amended (the “business combination agreement”). Pursuant to the business combination
agreement, among other things, Praxair, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Praxair”), and Linde Aktiengesellschaft, a stock corperation incorporated under the
laws of Germany (“Linde AG™), agreed to combine their respective businesses through an all-stock transaction, and become subsidiaries of the company
(collectively referred to as “business combination™ or “merger”), On October 31, 2018, Linde completed the business combination. Prior to the business
combination, the company did not coenduct any business activities other than those required for its formation and matters contemplated by the business
combination agreement.

Business Combination of Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG

The husiness combination has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with the provisions of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 805, “Business Combinations”, with Praxair representing the accounting
acquirer. Pursuant to Rule 12g-3(a) under the Exchange Act, as of October 31, 2018, the company became the successor issuer to Praxair, Also, the Linde
shares are deemed to be registered under Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act, and the company is subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange
Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. The Linde shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") and the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange under the ticker symbol “LIN". Prior to the business combination, the Praxair shares were registered pursuant to Section 12(b}) of the Exchange Act
and listed on the NYSE. In connection with the completion of the business combination, the Praxair shares were suspended frem trading on the NYSE as of
close of business (New York Time) on Octaber 30, 2018. On Navember 1, 2018, Praxair filed a Form 25 o de-list and de-register its three series of Furo-
denominated notes, including its 1,.50%Notes due 2020, 1.20% Notes due 2024 and 1.625% Notes due 2025, that were listed on the NYSE. Trading of the
Furo-denominated notes on the NYSE was suspended as of close of business (New York Time) on November 9, 2018, and Praxair filed a Form 15 with the
SEC terminating the registration under the Exchange Act of its securities and suspending Praxair’s reporting obligations under Section 15(d) of the Exchange
Act.

n connection with the business combination, the company, Praxair and Linde AG entered into varicus agreements with regulatory authorities to satisfy
anti-trust requirements ta secure approval 1o consummate the business combination. These agreements included the sale of the majority of Praxair’s European
businesses {completed on December 3, 2018), the majarity of Linde AG’s Americas business (completed on March L, 2019}, select assets of Linde AG's
Scuth Korean industrial gases business {completed April 30, 2019), select assets of Praxair's Indian industrial gases business (completed July 12, 2019), select
assets of Linde AG's Indian industrial gases business {completed December 16, 2019) as well as certain divestitures of other Praxair and Linde AG businesses
in Asia that are currently expected to be sold in 2020 {collectively, the “merger-related divestitures™). See Note 4 for additional information relating to
merger-related divestitures.

Additonally, to obtain merger approval in the United States Linde, Praxair and Linde AG entered into an agreement with the U.5. Federal Trade
Commission ("FTC") dated October 1, 2018 (“hold separate arder” or “HSO™). Under the HSO, the company, Praxair and Linde AG agreed to continue to
operate Linde AG and Praxair as independent, ongoing, economically viable, competitive businesses held separate, distinct, and apart from cach other’s
operations; and not coordinate any aspect of their operations untl certain divestitures in the United States were completed, Accordingly, Linde had accounted
for Linde AG as a separate segment for 2018 reporting purposes effective with the merger date. Prior to the merger date, the company’s Linde AG segment
did not exist. Since the FTC hold separate order restrictions were lifted effective March 1, 2019, the company subsequently implemented a new segment
structure as follows: Americas, EMEA (Europe/Middle East/Africa), APAC (Asia/South Pacific) and Engineering. This new management crganization
structure was implemented during the first quarter 2019 and, accerdingly, segment information has been retrospectively recast for all prior periods. Refer to
Note 20 Segment Information for further details.

NOTE 2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation — The consotidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (" U.S. GAAP") and include the accounts of all significant subsidiaries where control exists and, in limited situations, variable-
interest entities where the company is the primary
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beneficiary. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation and any significant related-party transactions have been disclosed.

Equity investuments generally consist of 20% to 50% owned operations where the company exercises significant influence, bur does not have control.
Equity income from equity investments in corporations is reperted on an after-tax basis. Pre-tax income from equity investments that are partnerships or
limited-liability corporations ("LL.C"Y is included in other income {expenses) — net with related taxes included in Income taxes. Equity invesunents are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances reflect that an impairment loss may have incuered.

Changes in awnership interest that result either in consolidation or deconsolidation of an investment are recorded at fair value through earnings,
including the retained ownership interest, while changes that do not result in either consolidation or deconsolidation of a subsidiary are treated as equity
transactions.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. While actval results could differ, management believes such estimates to be
reasonable.

Operations — Linde is the |argest industnal gases company globally. 1he company produces, sells and distributes aunospherle, process and specidlly
gases, and high-performance surface coatings to a diverse group of industries including aeraspace, chemicals, food and beverage, electronics, energy,
healthcare, manufacturing, and metals. Linde’s Engineering business offers its customers an extensive range of gas production and pracessing services
including suppling plant components and services directly to customers.

Revenue Recognition — Effective January 1, 2018, Linde adapted the FASB's Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09 ("ASC 606") reladng to
Revenue Recognition. Revenue is recognized as control of goods or services are transferred 1o customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which an entity expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for the goods or services. See Note 21 for additional details regarding Linde's revenue
recognition policies. The adoption of ASC 606 resulted in no differences in revenue recognition compared to previous pelicies.

Cash Equivalents — Cash equivalents are considered to be highly liquid securities with original maturiries of three months or less.
Inveniories — Inveniories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the average-cost method.

Property, Plaitt and Equipment — Net — Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. The company capitalizes
interest as part of the cost of constructing major facilities {(see Note 10). Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method based on the estimated useful
lives of the assets, which range from 3 years 1o 40 years (see Note 10). Linde uses accelerated depreciation methods for tax purposes where appropriate.
Maintenance of properiy, plant and equipment is generally expensed as incurred.

The company performs a test for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an individual asset or
assel group may not be recoverable. Should projected undiscounted future cash flows be less than the carrying amount of the asset or asset group, an
impairment charge reducing the carrying amount to fair value is required. Fair value is determined based an the most appropriate valuation technique,
including discounted cash flows,

Asset-Retirement Obligations — An asset-retirement obligation is recognized in the period in which sufficient information exists to determine the fair
value of the liability with a corresponding increase to the carrying ameunt of the related property, plant and equipment which is then depreciated over its
useful life. The liability is initially measured at discounted fair value and then accretion expense is recorded in each subsequent period. The company’s asset-
retirement obligations are primarily associated with its on-site long-term supply arangements where the company has built a facility on land leased from the
customer and is obligated ta remove the facility at the end of the conract term. The company’s asset-retirement obligations are not material to its consolidated
financial statements.

Foreign Currency Transiation — For most foreign operations, the local currency is the functional currency and translation gains and losses are reported
as part of the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) component of equity as a cumulative translation adjustment (see Note 9).

Financigl Instruments — Linde enters into various derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to fluctuating interest rates, currency
exchange rates, commodity pricing and energy costs. Such instruments primarily include interest-rate swap and treasury rate lock agreements; currency-swap
agreements; forward contracts; currency options; and commodity-swap agreements. These instruments are not entered into for rading purposes. Linde only
uses commaonly traded and non-leveraged instruments.
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There are three types of derivatives the company enters into: (i} those relating to fair-value exposures, (ii) those relating to cash-flow exposures, and
(iii) those relating to foreign currency net investment exposures. Fair-value exposures relate to recognized assets or liabilities, and firm commitments; cash-
flow exposures relate to the variability of future cash flows associated with recognized assets or liabilities, or forecasted transactions; and net investment
exposures relate to the impact of foreign currency eachange rate changes on the carying value of net assets denominated in foreign currencies.

When a derivative is executed and hedge accounting is appropriate, it is designated as either a fair-value hedge, cash-flow hedge, or a net investment
hedge. Currently, Linde designates all interest-rate and treasury rate locks as hedges for accounting purposes; however, currency contracts are generally not
designated as hedges for accounting purposes unless they are related to forecasted transactions. Whether designated as hedges for accounting purposes ar not,
all derivatives are linked to an apprepriate underlying exposure. On an ongoing basis, the cocmpany assesses the hedge effectiveness of all derivatives
designated as hedges for acceunting purpeses to determine if they continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the
underlying hedged items. If icis determined that the hedge is not highly effective, then hedge accounting will be discontinued prospectively.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as fair-value hedges are recognized in earnings as an offset to tite change in the fair values of the
underlying exposures being hedged. The changes in fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash-flow hedges are deferred in accumnulated other
eomprehensive income (loss) and are reclassified to earnings as the undetlying hedged transaction affects earnings. Provided the hedge remains highly
effective, any ineffectiveness is deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and are rectassified to earnings as the underlying hedged
transaction affects earnings. Hedges of net investments in foreign subsidiaries are recognized in the camulative translation adjustment component of
accumulated ather comprehensive income (loss) on the consolidated balance sheets to offset transtation gains and losses asseciated with the hedged net
investment. Derivatives that are entered into for risk-management purposes and are not designated as hedges (primarily related to anticipated net income and
currency derivatives other than for firm commitments) are recorded at their fair market values and recognized in current earnings.

See Note 14 for additional information relating to financial instruments.

Goodwill — Acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method which requires allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on estimated fair values. Any excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired is recorded as goodwill.
Allocations of the purchase price are hased on preliminary estimates and assumptions at the date of acquisition and are subject to revision hased on final
infermation received, including appraisals and other analyses which support underlying estimates.

The company performs a goodwill impairment test annually or more frequenty if events or circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have
been incurred. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019, the company changed the date of its annual goodwill impairment test from Aprit 30 to October 1.
The change was made to more closely align the impairment testing date with the company’s planning process.

The impairment test allows an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than carrying value. If it is determined that it i5 more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than carrying value then the company
will estimate and compare the fair value of its reporting units to their carrying value, including goodwill. Reporting units are determined based on one level
below the operating segment level, In estimating the fair value of each reporting unit, management applied a multiple of earnings from a peer group to the
company’s forecasted earnings for the year ending December 31, 2019. The peer group is comprised of comparable entities with similar operations and
economic characteristics.

See Notes 3 and 11 for additional information relating to goodwill.

Other Intangible Assets — Other intangible assets, primarily customer relationships and brands/tradenames, are amortized over the estimated period of
benefit. The determination of the estimated period of benefit will be dependent upen the use and underlying characteristics of the intangible asset. Linde
evaluates the recoverability of its intangible assefs subject to amortization when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not
be recoverable. If the carrying value is not recoverable, impairment is measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its estimated fair value.
Fair value is generally estimated based on either appraised value or other valuation technigues. Indefinite lived intangible assets related to the Linde brand ave
evaluated for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate an impairment loss may have occurred.

See Notes 3 and 12 for additional informatien relating to other intangible assets.

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued QOperations — Assets held for sale, as well as liabilities directy related to these assets, are classified separately
in the consolidated balance sheets as held for sale if the requirements of the FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 360, Property, Plant and
Equipmertt, are satisfied. The main requirements of
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ASC 360 are: (i) management having the authority to approve the action has committed to a plan to sell the assets and an active program to locate a buyer has
been initiated, (ii) the assets are available for sale in their present condition at a reasonable market price, and (iii) a sale within the next twelve manths is
probable. Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Amortization and depreciation has
heen discontinued. The precess involved in determining the fair value less costs to sell involves estimates and assumptions that are subject to uncertainty.

Discontinued operations are reported as soon as a business is classified as held for sale, or has already been disposed of, and when the business to be
disposed of represents a strategic shift that has {or will have) a majer effect on the company’s operations and financial results. Businesses acquired with the
intent of divesting are also required to be reported as discontinued operations. The prefitioss from discontinued operations is reported separately from the
expenses and income from continuing operations in the consolidated statements of income. In the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows from
discontinued cperations are shown separately from the cash flows from continuing operations. The information provided in the Notes relates to continuing
operaticns. If the information relates exclusively to discontinued operatdons, this is highlighted accordingly.

See Note 4 for additional information relating to assets held for sale and discontinued operations.

Income Taxes — Deferred income taxes are recorded for the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and labilites
using currently enacted tax rates. Valuation allowances are established against deferred tax assets whenever circumstances indicate that it is more likely than
not that such assets will not be realized in future periods.

Under the guidance for accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, the corapany can recognize the benefit of an income tax position only if it is maore
likely than not (greater than 5095) that the tax position will be sustained upon tax examination, based solely on the technical merits of the tax position.
Otherwise, no benefit can be recognized. The tax benefits recognized are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being
realized upon ultimate settiement. Additionally, the company accrues interest and related penalties, if applicable, on all tax exposures for which reserves have
been established consistent with jurisdictional tax laws. Interest and penalties are classified as income tax expense in the financial statements.

See Note 7 for additional information relating to income taxes, including the 1J.S, Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted in December 2017.

Retirement Benefits - Most Linde employees participate in a form of defined benefit or contribution retirement plan, and additionally certain
employees are eligible to participate in various post-employment heaith care and life insurance benefit plans. The cost of contribution plans is recognized in
the year earned while the cost of other plans is recognized over the employees” expected service period to the company, all in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards. The funded status of the plans is recorded as an asset or liability in the consolidated balance sheets, Funding of retirement benefits
varies and is in accordance with local laws and practices.

See Note 18 for additional information relating to retirement programs.

Share-based Compensation— The company has historically granted share-based awards which consist of stock options, restricted stock and
performance-based stock. Share-based compensation expense is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the stated vesting period. For stock awards
granted to full-retirement-eligible employees, compensatien expense is recognized over the period from the grant date to the date retirement eligibility is
achieved. For performance-based awards, compensation expense is recognized oaly if it is probable that the performance condition will be achieved.

See Note 17 for additional disclosures relating 1 share-based compensation.
Reclassifications — Certain prior years’ amounts have been reclassified te conform to the current year’s presentation.

Segment Presentation Change - As a result of the merger and effective with the lifting of the hold separate order in March 2019, new reportable
segments were implemented. The new segments are: Americas, EMEA (Europe/Middle East/Africa). APAC (Asia/South Pacific); and Engineering. All
periods presented were recast to conferm to the new segment structure. See Note 20.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards Implemented in 2019

Leases — In February 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance on the accounting and financial statement presentation of leases. The new
guidance requires lessees to recagnize a right-of-use asset and lease liability for all leases, except those that meet certain scope exceptions,
and reguires expanded guantitative and qualitative disclosures. This guidance is effective beginning in 2019 and requires companies to
transition using a modified retrospective approach. Linde has applied the practical expedient which allows prospective transition to the new
lease accounting standard on January 1, 2019. The company elected the package of practical expedients relating to the reassessment of the
lease portfalio pertaining to (i) whether expiring or existing contracts contain lease components, (ii) lease classification under ASC 842 and
(iii) whether initial direct costs were capitalized under ASC 840. The company further implemented internal controls and key system
functionality to enable the preparation of financial information on adopticn.

The standard had an immaterial impact on our consolidated balance sheets and consolidated income statements. The mast significant impact
was the recognition of right of use ("ROU") assets and lease liabilities for operating leases, while the accounting for finance leases remained
substantially unchanged. The company recognized bath right of use assets and lease liabilities of $1.2 billion upen adoption. The adoption of
the new lease accounting standard had no impact on retained earnings (See Note 6).

Derivatives and Hedging - In August 2017, the FASB issued updated guidance on accounting for hedging activities. The new guidance
simplifies hedge effectiveness documentation requirements, changes both the desigration and measurement for qualifying hedging
relationships and the presentation of hedge results. This guidance was effective for the company beginning in the first quarter of 2019, The
adoption of the standard had an immaterial impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Accounting Standards to be Implemented

Credit Losses on Financial Instruments — In June 2016, the FASB issued an update on the measurement of credit losses. The guidance
introduces a new accounting model for expected credit losses on financial instruments, including trade receivables, based on estimates of
current expected credit losses. This guidance will be effective for the company beginning in the firse quarter 202¢ and requites companies ta
apply the change in accounting on a prospective basis. The company is currently evaluating the impact this update will have on the
consolidated financial statements and does not expect this guidance to have a material impact.

Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment - [n January 2017, the FASB issued updated guidance on the measurement of goodwill. The
new guidance eliminates the requirement to calculate the implied fair value of goodwill to measure a goodwill impairment charge. The
guidance will he effective for the company beginning in the first quarter 2020 with early adoption permitted. The company does not expect
this guidance to have a material impact.

Fair Value Measurement Disclosures - In August 2018, the FASB issued guidance that modifies the disclosure requirements for fair value
measurements. The guidance is effective in fiscal vear 2020, with early adoption permitted. Certain amendments must be applied
prospectively while other amendments must be applied recospectively. The company is evaluating the impact this guidance will have on the
disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Retirement Benefit Disclosures - In August 2018, the FASB issued guidance that modifies the disclosure requirements for employers that
sponsor defined benefit pension or other postretirement benefit plans. The guidance is effective in fiscal year 2021, with early adoption
permitted, and must be applied on a retrospective basis. The company is evaluating the impact this guidance will have on the disciosures in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 3. BUSINESS COMBINATION
Merger of Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG

As described in Note 1, en October 31, 2018 Praxair and Linde AG combined their respective businesses through an all -stock transaction ang became
subsidiaries of the company.

In connection with the business combination, each share of common stock of Praxair par value $0.01 per share, (excluding any shares held in treasury
immediately prior to the effective time of the merger, which were automatically canceled and retired for no consideration) was converted into cne ordinary
share, par value €0.001 per share, of Linde plc. Additicnally, each tendered share of common stock of Linde AG was converted into 1.54 ardinary shares of
Linde plc.

As provided in the business combination agreement, at the effective time of the business combinarion ourstanding Praxair stock options and other equity
awards were generally converted into stock options and equity awards on a 1:1 basis with respect to Linde shares. Qutstanding Linde AG share-based
compensation awards were either settled in cash (for the portion vested), or were converted inte similar stock options and equity awards with respect to Linde
shares (for the portion unvested), after giving effect to the 1.54 exchange ratio. See Notes 16 and 17 for additional information.

Allocation of Purchase Price

In accordance with the FASB’s ASC 8065, "Business Combinations", Praxair was determined 1o be the accounting acquirer. As such, the company has
applied the acquisition method of accounting with respect to the identifiable assets and liabilities of Linde AG, which have been measured ar fair value as of
the date of the business combination.

In accordance with the business combination agreement, Linde AG sharcholders that accepted the exchange offer received Linde shares in exchange for
Linde AG shares at an exchange ratio of 1.54 Linde shares for each Linde AG share. Because Praxair is the accounting acquirer, the fair value of the equity
issued by Linde pic o Linde AG shareholders in the exchange transaction was determined by reference to the market price of Praxair shares. Accordingly, the
purchase consideration below reflects the estimated fair value of the 92% of Linde AG shares tendered and Linde shares issued in exchange for these Linde
AG shares, which is based on the final closing price of Praxair shares prior to the effective time of the merger on October 31, 2018 of $164.50 per share.

The purchase price and fair value of Linde AG’s net assets acquired as of the merger date on October 31, 2018 is presented as follows:

{in thousands, except vilue per share daia, Linde AC exchange ratio, and purchase price)

Linde AG common stock tendered as of October 31, 2018 (i} 170,875 Shares
Business combination agreement exchange ratio (ii) 1.54:1
Linde pic ordinary shares issued in exchange for Linde AG 263,148
Per share price of Praxair, Inc. common stock (iii) $164.50
Purchase price (millions of dellars) 543,288

(i) Number of Linde A(; shares lendered in the 2017 Exchange Offer.
(ii}  Exchange ratio for Linde AG shares as set forth in the husiness combination agrecment.

(i} Closing price of Praxair shares on the New York Stock Exchange prior to the effective time of the business combination
on October 31, 2018.

In accordance with ASC 805, Linde AG's assets and liabilities were measured at fair value at October 31, 2018, primarily using Level 3 inputs except
debt which was Level 1. Fair value represents management's best estimate of assumptions about future events and uncertainties, including significant
judgments related o future cash flows {sales, costs, customer attrition rates, and contributory asset charges), discount rates, competitive trends, market
comparables, and others. Inputs used were generally obtained from historical data supplemented by current and anticipated market conditions and growth
rates.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, Linde made measurement period adjustments to reflect facts and circumstances in existence as of the effectve
date of the Merger. The more significant measurement period adjustments made retlect: the agreed upon sale price of Linde AG’s Korean business resulting
in an increase to assets held for sale and corresponding decrease 1o goodwill of $344 million; an adjustment to the sale value of the Linde AG Americas
businesses resulting in a decrease to assets held for sale and corresponding increase to goodwill of $211 million; refinement in the
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valuation of other intangible assets resulting in an increase to intangible asset values and corresponding decrease to goodwill of $657 million; refinement in
the valuation of property, plant and equipment resulting in a decrease ta property, plant and equipment and correspanding increase to goodwill of $407
million; an increase to deferred income taxes with a corresponding increase to goedwill of $276 million; and an increase to the fair value of noncontrolling
interest with a corresponding increase o goodwill of $222 million. The net impact of these and other less significant adjustments made during the twelve
moath period resulted in a net increase of $110 million to goodwill. The valuation process to determine the fair values is complete. The following table
summarizes the final allocation of purchase price to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by Linde, with the excess of the purchase price
over the fair value of Linde AG’s net assets recorded as goodwill.

Millions of doliars Fair Value
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents % 1,360
Accounts receivable — net 2,857
Inventories 1,439
Assets held for sale 5,375
Prepaid and other current assets 1,251
Property, plant and equipment 18,974
Eguity investments 1,521
Goodwill 24,256
Other intangible assets 16,250
Other long-term assets 805
Total Assets Acquired $ 74,088
Less: Liabilities Assumed
Accounts payable 3 3,360
Short-term debt 1,177
Current portion of long-term debt 1,864
Accrued taxes 159
Liabilities of assets held for sale 676
Qther current liabilities 3,058
Long-term debt 6,295
Other long-term liabilities 2,009
Deferred credits, inclnding deferred income taxes 6,834
Total Liabilities Assumed $ 25,432
Less: Redeemable noncontrolling interests 92
Less: Noncontrolling interests 5,276
Purchase Price (i) $ 43,288

(i See above for the caleulation of the purchase price.

Summary of Significant Fair Value Methods

The methods used to determine the fair value of significant identifiable assets and liabilities included in the allocation of purchase price are discussed
below.

Inventories

Acquired inventory is comprised of finished gocds, work in process and raw materials. The fair value of finished goods was calculated as the estimated
selling price, adjusted for costs of the selling effort and a reasonable profit allowance relating to the selling effoert. The fair value of work in process inventory
was primarily calculated as the estimated selling price, adjusted for estimated costs to complete the manufacturing, estimated costs of the selling effort, as
well as a reasonahle profit
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margin on the remaining manufacturing and selling effort. The fair value of raw materials and supplies was determined based on replacement cost which
approximates historical carrying value. The fair value step-up of inventories is being recognized in “Cost of sales” as the inventory is sold.

Assets held for sale and Liabilities of assets held for sale

As described in Note 1, as a condition of the European Commission ("EC™), the U.S. Department of Justice ("DQJ"}, and other governmental regulatory
authorities approval of the merger, Linde plc, Praxair and Linde AG were required to divest various businesses in Europe, the Americas and Asia. The fair
value of these businesses has been determined based on the estimated net selling prices or sales agreements, See Note 4 for further information on merger-
related divestinires.

Property, Plant and Equipment

The fair value of property, plant and equipment was primarily calculated using replacement costs adjusted for the age and condition of the asset, and is
summarized below:

Property, plant and equipment ("PP&E") (in millions)

Production plants $ 10,358
Storage tanks 1,807
Transportation equipment and other 543
Cylinders 2,487
Buildings 1,953
Land and improvements 677
Construction in progress 1,149
Fair value of PP&E $ 18,974

Identifiable Intangible Assets

The fair value of identifiable intangible assets is summarized below:

Weighted Average
Amgrtization Period

{in years) (in milligns)
Identifiable intangible assets
Customer relationships 29 3 12,550
Linde brand Indefinite 1,868
Brands/Tradenanies 28 845
Other intangibles 18 987
Fair value of identifiable intangible assets 28 $ 15,250

The fair value for all other identifiable intangible assets is based on assumptions that market participants woultd use in pricing an asset, based on the
maost advantageous market for the asset (i.e., its highest and best use).

The fair value of the customer relationships intangible asset was valued using a multi-period excess earnings methad, a form of the income approach,
which incorporates the estimated future cash flows to be generated from Linde AG’s existing customer base. Excess earnings are the earnings remaining after
deducting the market rates of return on the estimated values of contributory assets, including debt-free net working capizal, tangible assets, and other
identifiable intangible assets. The excess earnings are thereby calculated for each year of multi-year projection periods and discounted to present value.

Other intangibles primarily includes acquired technology. Linde brand, brands/tradenames and other intangitles were valued using the relief from
royalty method under the income approach; this method estimates the cost savings generated by a company related to the ownership of an asset for which it

would otherwise have had to pay royalties or license fees on revenues earned through the use of the asset and discounted to present value.

Pension and Other Postretirement Liabilities
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Linde recognized a pretax net liability representing the unfunded portion of Linde AG'’s defined-benefit pension and other postretirement benefit
("OPEB") plans. Refer to Note 18 for further information on pensions and OPEB arrangements.

Long-term Debt
The fair value for long-term debt was primarily cbtained frem third party quotes, as the majority of the Linde AG bond portfolio is publicly traded.
Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities

The deferred income tax assets and liabilities include the expected future federal, state and foreign tax consequences associated with temporary
differences between the preliminary fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the respective tax bases. Tax rates utilized in calculating
deferred income taxes generally represent the enacted statutory tax rates at the effective date of the merger in the jurisdictions in which legal title of the
underlying asset or liability resides.

Refer to Note 7 for further information related to income taxes,
Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests include the fair vatue of noncontrolling interests of Linde AG, including approximately $3.2 bitlion relating to the 8% of Linde
AG shares which were not tendered in the Exchange Offer and were the subject of a cash-merger squeeze-out. The company’s whaolly-owned indirect
subsidiary, Linde Intermediate Iolding AG ("Linde Holding"}, which directly owns the 92% of Linde AG shares acquired in the Exchange Offer, determined
the adequate cash compensation to be paid to the 8% remaining Linde AG minarity shareholders in exchange for the transfer of their Linde AG shares for
each Linde AG share. The cash-merger squeeze-out was approved by the shareholders of Linde AG at an extracrdinary shareholders meeting of Linde AG en
December 12, 2018 and completed on April 8, 2019, The remaining noncontrolling interests relate to the fair value of historic noncontrolling interests of
Linde AG and its subsidiaries.

Equity Investments
The fair value of equity investments was determined using a discounted cash fiow approach.
Other Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed (excluding Goodwill)

Linde utilized the carrying values, net of allowances, to value accounts and notes receivable and accounts payable as well as other current assets and
liabilities as it was determined that carrying values represented the fair value of those items at the merger date.

Goodwill

The excess of the consideratien for the merger over the preliminary fair value of net assets acquired was recorded as goodwill, The merger resulted in
the recognition of 524,256 million of goodwill, which is not deductible for tax purposes. The goodwill balance is primarily attributed to the assembled
workforce, expanded market opportunities and cost and other operating synergies anticipated upon the integration of the operations of Praxair and Linde AG.

Results of Linde AG Operations in 2018

The results of operations of Linde AG have been included in the company’s consolidated statements of income since the merger. The fellowing table
provides Linde AG “Sales” and “Income (loss) from continuing operations™ included in the company’s results for the period November 1 throngh December
31, 2018.

Miltions of dolars

Linde AG Results of Operations
Sales $ 2,873

Inconte (loss) from continuwing operations* 3 (385)

November 1, - December 31,

* Includes net charges of $451 million related to the impacts of purchase accounting.
Unaudited Pro Forma Information - 2018 and 2017
Linde's unaudited pro forma results presented below were prepared pursuant to the requirements of ASC 805 and give effect to the merger as if it had
been consummated on Januvary 1, 2017. The pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only, and do not necessarily represent what the

revenue or results of eperations would have been had the merger been completed on January 1, 2017. In addition, these results are not intended to be a
projection of future operating results and do not reflect synergies that might be achieved.
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The unaudited pro forma results include adjustments for the preliminary purchase accounting impact (including, but not limited to, depreciaticn and
amortization assgciated with the acquired tangible and intangible assets, amartization of the fair value adjustment to invesument in nonconsolidated affiliates,
and teduction of interest expense related to the fair value adjustment to long-term debt along with the related tax and non-conwolling interest impacts), the
alignment of accounting policies, adjustrments due te TFRS compliant reparting conversion to U.S. GAAP and the eliminaticn of transactions between Praxaic
and Linde AG,

The unaudited pro forma results for all periods presented below exclude the results of eperations of the Linde AG merger-related divestitures (See Note
4) as these divestitures are reflected as discontinued operations, The Praxair merger-related divestitures {See Note 4) are included in the results from
continuing operations, including the results from Praxair's European business through the disposition date of December 3, 2018, in the unaudited pro forma
results presented below, for all periods presented, as these divestitures do not qualify for discontinued operations.

The unaudited pro forma results are summarized below:

Millions of dollars 2018 2017
Sales (a) b 29774 % 28,449
Income from continuing operations $ 4,739 § 871

(2) Includes sales from Praxair's merger-related divestitures of $1,625 million and $1,553 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively.

Significant nanrecurring amounts reflected in the pro forma results are as follows:

A 33,294 million gain {$2,923 million after tax) was recorded in the fourth quarter 2018 as a result of the divestiture of Praxair’s European industrial
gases business and is included in the December 31, 2018 pro forma income from continuing operations.

From January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2018, Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG collectively incurred pre-tax costs of $736 million ($680 million after
tax) to prepare for and close the merger. These merger costs were reflected within the results of operations in the pro forma results as if they were incurred on
January 1, 2017. Any costs incurred related to merger-related divestitures and integration and 1o prepare for the intended business separations were reflected
in the pro forma results in the period in which they were incureed.

The company incurred pre-tax charges of $368 million { $279 million after tax) and $1C¢ million ($8 millicn after tax) in 2018 related to the fair value
step-up of inventories acquired and sold as well as a pension settlement due to the payout (o certain participants as a result of change in control provisions
within a U.S, nonqualified pension plan, respectively. The 2018 pro forma results were adjusted to exclude these charges. The pro forma results for 2017 were
adjusted to include these charges, as well as charges incurred subsequent to December 31, 2018 but less than a year from the date of the merger of $13 million
($10 million after tax) related to the remaining fair value step-up of inventories to be sold and 351 million (340 million after tax) related to an additional
pension setflement within the U.S. nonqualified pension plan that occurred in the first quarter of 2019 upon payment. See Note 18 for further information
relating to the U.S. nongqualified pension plan settlements.

2019 & 201& Non-Merger Related Acquisitions

Non-mierger related acquisitions of $225 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 and $25 million during the year ended December 31, 2018,
largely in the Americas, are not material, individually or in the aggregate.

2017 Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2017, Linde had acquisitions totaling $33 million, primarily acquisitions of packaged gas businesses and a carbon
dioxide joint venture in North America.
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NOTE 4. MERGER-RELATED DIVESTITURES, DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND NET ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

As described in Note 1, as a condition of the European Commission ("EC"), the U.S. Depariment of Justice ("DOJ"), and other governmental regulatory
authorities approvat of the merger, Linde plc, Praxair and Linde AG were required to divest the following businesses:

Praxair Merger-Related Divestitures - Primarily European Industrial Gases Business

As a condition of the EC regulatory approval of the merger transaction, Praxair agreed to sell the majority of its industrial gases business in Europe. The
sale was completed on December 3, 2018.

+  The Societa Iialiana Acetlene e Derivati S.p.A. {"SIAD") Sale and Purchase Agreement dated December 5, 2017 whereby Praxair agreed,
inter alia, to sell its 34% non-controlling participation in its Italian joint venture SIAD to its joint venture partner Flow Fin in exchange for
Flow Fin’s 40% non-controlling participation in Praxair’s majority-owned Italian joiot venture, Rivoira S.p.A., and cash payment of a net
purchase price of €90 milion ($102 million as of October 31, 2018) by Praxair to Flow Fin. This nansaction was completed on October 31,
2018, and;

+  the Praxair Furope Sale and Purchase Agreement dated July 5, 2018 pursuant to which Praxair sold the majerity of its European businesses
to Taiyo Nippon Sanso Corperation for €5,000 million in cash consideration (33,700 million at December 3, 2018), reduced by estimated

normal closing adjustments of €86 million (596 million). These transactions were completed on December 3, 2018.

In connection with these transactions, in 2018 the company recognized a net pre-tax gain of $3,294 million ($2,923 million after tax) in the consolidated
statements of income and related to the EMEA segment.

The net carrying value of Praxair's Furopean business assets and liabilities divested on December 3, 2018 is presented below:
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Miilions of doftars Carrying Value

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents % 38
Accounts receivable — net 31
Inventories 67
Prepaid and other current assets 22
Property, plant and equipment — net 1,342
Equity investrments 234
Goodwill 620
Other intangible assets — net 115
Other long-term assets 36
Tuw! Assets Drivesied 3 3,785
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 215
Accrued taxes 27
Other cwrrent liabilities 111
Long-term debt 2
Other long-term liabilities 92
Deferred credits 174
Total Liabilities Divested $ 621
Noncontroling interests $ 200
Accumulated other comprehensive income (foss)
Pension/OPEB funded status obligation, net of taxes 8)
Cumulative translation adjustment, net of taxes (318)
Net Assets Divested 3 2,290

Additionally, to satisfy regulatory requirements in other jurisdictions, Praxair agreed to sell certain eperations in Chile, China, India and South Kerea. The
Chilean business was sold as part of the Linde AG Americas SPA (as defined below), the select Indian assets were sold in July 2019, and other sales are
expected in 2020, Effective October 22, 2018, the date of final regulatory approvals, these businesses have been accounted for as assets held for sale on the
consolidated balance sheets. These businesses were evaluated far discontinued operarions accounting treatment under U.S. GAAP and it was determined that
they did not meet the definition of a discontinued operation as these transactions did not represent a strategic shift with a major effect, after considering the
impact of the merger.

The sale of the select Indian assets was completed on July 12, 2019 with a sale price of $218 million and resulted in a gain of $164 million recognized in "Net
gain on sale of businesses” in the consolidated statements of income.

Linde AG Merger-Related Divestitures - Primarily Americas Industrial Gases Business

As a conditien of the U.5. regulatory approval of the merger, Linde AG agreed to sell the majority of its industrial gases business in the Americas, as
described below:

+  The Linde AG Americas Sales and Purchase Agreement, dated July 16, 2018, as and further amended on September 22, 2018, October 19,
2018, and February 20, 2019 whereby Linde AG and Praxair, Inc. entered into an agreement with a consortium comprising companies of
the German industrial gases manufactarer Messer Group and CVC Capital Partmers Fund VII to sell the majority of Linde AG’s industrial
gases business in North America and certain industrial gases business activities of Linde AG's in South America for $2.9 billion in cash
consideration after purchase price adjustments for certain items relating to assets and liabilities of the sold businesses. In addition,
divestitures include $0.5 billion of proceeds for incremental plant sales within the Americas under other agreements. These transactions
were completed on March i, 201Y.
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= On April 30, 2019, Linde completed the sale of select assets of Linde Korea to IMM Private Equity Inc., to satisfy requirements of the
Korea Fair Trade Commission. The assets divested include bulk and on-site business in Giheung, Pohang and Seosansites as well as oxygen

and nitrogen on-site generators. The sale price of $1.2 billion is subject to customary adjustments.

*  On December 16, 2019, Linde completed the sale of select assets of Linde India with a sale price of $193 million,

The net carrying value of Linde AG's Americas business assets and liabilities divested on March 1, 2019 is presented below:

Miflions of doflurs Carrying Value
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 200
Accounts receivable — net 479
Inventories 181
Prepaid and other current assets 409
Property, plant and equipment — net 1,590
Equity investments 37
Goodwill 3
Other intangible assets —net 10
Other long-term assets 76
Asset adjustments for estimated fair value 1,850
Total Assets Divested % 4,635
Liabilities
Accounts payable k3 94
Accrued taxes 60
Other current liabilities 767
Long-term debt 2
Gther long-term liabilities 93
Deferred credits 177
Total Liabilities Divested $ 1,198
Cumulative translation adjustment, net of taxes 12
Net Assets Divested % 3,449
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The net carrying value of Linde AG's South Korean business assets and liabilities divested on April 30, 2015 is presented below:

Millions of dollgrs Carrying Value
Assets
Accounts receivable — net $ 27
Inventories 16
Praperty, plant and equipment — net 389
Asset adjustments for estimated fair value 879
Total Asses Divested $ 1,31
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 2
Accrued taxes 12
Other current liabilities 29
Long-term debt &
Other long-term liabilities 3
Deferred credits 3
Total Liabilities Divested 5 83
Net Assets Divested 3 1,228

Discontinued Operations

Only the sales of the Linde AG merger-related divestitures meet the criteria for discontinued operations, Praxair merger-related divestitures do not
qualify as discontinued operations. As such, aperations related to the Linde AG merger-related divestitures are included within Income from discontinued
operations, net of tax for periods subsequent 10 the merges, as summarized below:

November 1, - December 31,

Mithons of dollars 2019

Net sales ] 449 § 388

Cost of sales 251 173

Other operating costs 43 90

Operating prafit 5 155 & 125

Income from equity investments 8 1

Income taxes 54 9

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 3 109 § 117
Noncontrolling interests (7 9
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax and noncontrolling interests $ 102 % 108

For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 there were no material amounts of capital expenditures ot significant operating or investing non-cash
itemns related 10 discontinued operations.

Net Assets Held for Sale
Net assets held for sale includes both the Linde AG merger-related divestitures that meet the criteria for discantinued operations and the Praxair merger-
velated divestitures that do not. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the following assets and liabilities are reported as components of the net assets held for

sale in the ransnlidated balance sheets;
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Miliions of dollars December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Assets
Cash and cash equivatents $ 4 % 182
Accounts receivable — net 2 297
Inventories — 209
Prepaid and other current assets — 54
Property, plant and equipment —net 1 2,005
Other Assets 43 187
Asset adjustments for estimated fair value (Note 3) 75 2,564
Total Assets Classified as Assets Held for Sale $ 125 % 5,498
Liabilities
Accounts payable 2 125
Deferred credits — 206
Other liabilities — 437
Total Liabilities Classified as Assets Held for Sale 2 768
Net Assets Classified as Held for Sale $ 123 % 4,730

NOTE 5. COST REDUCTION PROGRAMS AND OTHER CHARGES
2019 Charges

Cost reduction programs and other charges were $567 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 ($444 million, after-tax and noncontrolling
interests). The following is a summary of the pre-tax charges by repurtable segment {or the year
ended December 31, 2019.

Year Ended December 31, 2019

s (nher cost reduction reduz‘::]l ;':ztgrdm Transaction related

(millions of dollars) Severance cusls charges related charges and other charges Total

Americas $ 3 5 20 56 34§ 90
EMEA 105 16 121 21 142
APAC 40 10 50 72 122
Engineering 1 12 13 ©) 4
Other 22 42 64 145 209
Total 5 204 5 100 § 304 % 263 % 567

Cost Reduction Programs
Total cost reduction program related charges were $304 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 ($233 million after-tax).
Severarce costs

Severance costs of $204 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 are for the elimination of approximately 2,400 positions, largely in EMEA, APAC,
and the Americas, of which approximately 1,500 have terminated employment at December 31, 2019. The majority of these actions are anticipated to he
completed within the next 12 months.

Other cost reduction charges

Other cost reduction charges of $100 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 are primarily charges related o the execution of the company's
synergistic actions including location consolidations and business rationalization projects, software and process harmonization, and assoctated non-recurring
COStS.

Transaction Related and Other Charges

On October 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG combined under Linde ple, as contemplated by the business combination agreement {see Note 1). Linde incurred
merger-related costs and other charges which totaled $263 million ($211 million, afier tax and noncontrolling interests) for the year ended December 31,
2019. 2019 includes other charges for an asset impairment related to a joint venture in APAC of approximately $73 million (342 million, after tax and
noncentrolling interests) resulting from an unfavorable arbitration ruling.

Cash Requirements

The total cash requirements of the cost reduction program and other charges during the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 are estimated to be
approximately $460 million, of which $260 million was paid throngh December 31, 2019, Total cost reduction programs and other charges, net of payments
in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 also reflects the impact of cash payments of liabilities, included
merger-related tax liabilides, accrued as of December 31, 2018.

The following table summarizes the activities related to the company’s cost reduction related charges for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019:



Total cost

Other cost reduction Transaction
oy Severance reduction program related and other

(miltions of dotlars) costs charges related charges charges Total
2019 Cost Reduction Programs and Other Charges $ 204 % 100 5 304 % 63§ 567
Less; Cash payments 1) (57} (148) 112 (260)
Less: Non-cash charges — (21} (21) (78) (99)
Foreign currency translation and other 4 %) (2) (S) )
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 17 % 16 8 133 % 67 % 200

2018 Charges

Cost reduction programs and other charges were $309 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 ($306 million, after-tax and non-controlling
interest).

Transaction Related and Other Charges

On October 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG combined under Linde plc, as contemplated by the business combination agreement (see Note 1). in
connection with the business combination, Linde incurred transaction costs which totaled $236 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 ($236
million after-tax).

Also included in Cost Reduction Pragrams and Other Charges are other charges of $73 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 (370
million after-tax} comprised of the following; (i) a $40 million charge ($40 million after-tax) related to an unfavorable development related 1o a supplier
contract in China, (ii) restructuring charges of $21 million ($18 million after-tax) and (iii) a $12 million charge ($12 miltion after-tax} assnciated with the
transition to hyper-inflationary acceunting in Argentina.

2017 Charges
Transaction Related and Other Charges

In connection with the intended business combination, Linde incurred transaction costs which totated $52 million for the year ended December 31,
2017 ($48 million after-tax).

Classification in the consolidated financial statements

The pre-tax charges far each year are shown within operating profit in a separate line item on the consclidated statements of income. In the
consolidated balance sheets, reductions in assets are recorded against the carrying value of the related assets and unpaid anmounts are recorded primaiily as
short-term liabilities. On the consolidated statements of cash flows, the pre-tax impact of these charges, net of cash payments, is shown as an adjustment to
reconcile net income to met cash provided by operating activities, In Note 20 - Segment Information, Linde excluded these charges from its management
definition of segment operating profit; a reconciliation of segment operating profit 1o consolidated operating profit {5 shown within the segment operating
profit table.
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NOTE 6. LEASES

In the normal course of its business, Linde enters into various leases as the lessee, primarily involving manufacturing and distribution equipment and vfflice
space. Linde determines whether a contract is or contains a lease at contract inception. Total lease and rental expenses related to operating lease right of use
assets for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 was $364 million, respectively. Operating leases costs are included in selling, general and
administrative expenses and cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization. The related assets and obligaticns are included in other long term assets
and other current liabilities and cther long term liabilities, respectively. Total lease and rental expenses related to finance iease right of use assets for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2019 was $31 milion, and the costs are included in depreciation and amortization and interest. Related assets and
obligations are included in property, plant and equipment - net and deht, respectively. Linde includes renewal options that are reasonably certain to be
exercised as part of the lease term. Operating and financing lease expenses above include short term: and variable lease costs which are immaterial.

As most leases do not provide an implicit rate, Linde uses the applicable incremental borrowing rate at lease commencement to measure lease liabilities and
right-af-use assets. Linde determines incremental borrowing rates through market sources.

The company has elected to apply the short-term lease exception for all underlying asset classes. Shori-term leases are leases that, at the commencement date,
have a lease term of twelve months or less and do not include a purchase option that the lessee is reascnably certain to exercise. Leases that meet the short-
term lease definition are rot recognized on the balance sheet, but rather expensed on a straight-line basis aver the lease term.

Some leasing arrangements require variable payments that are dependent on usage, output, or may vary for other reasons, such as insurance. The company
does not have material variable lease payments.

Gains and losses on sale and leaseback transactions were immaterial. Operating cash flows used for operating leases for the twelve months ended December
31, 2019 was $341 million. Cash flows used for finance leases for the same period were immaterial.

Supplemental balance sheet informnation related to leases is as follows:

(Millions of dollars) December 31, 2019
Operating Leases

Operating lease right-of-use assets 1,025
Other current liabilities 260
Other long-term liabilities 716
Total operating lease liabilities 976
Finance I eases

Finance lease right-of-use assets 140
Current portion of long-term debt 32
Long Term debt 117
Tetal finance lease liabilities 149

Supplemental operating lease information:

December 31, 2019
Weighted average lease term (years) 7
Weighted average discount rate 2.97%

Future operating and finance lease payments as of December 31, 2019 are as follows (millions of dollars):
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Peripd  Operating Leases Financing Leases

2020 % 273 8 38

2021 208 31

2022 163 27

2023 110 18

2024 75 10

Thereafter 251 81
Total future undiscounted lease payments 1,082 205
Less imputed interest (106} (56)
Total reported lease liability $ 976 $ 149

Prior to the adoption of the new lease accounting standard, aperaring and finance lease commitments on an undiscounted basis were approximately $1.3
billion and $104 million, respectively, at December 31, 2018 under long-term non-cancelable leases. The amounts payable for operating leases were as
follows:

{Millions of dollars) Operating Leases
2019 % 305
2020 236
202t 186
2022 145
2023 102
Thereafter 326
Total S 1,300

In limited instances Linde acts as a lessor, primarily for assets to provide industrial gas to specific customers. These leases are not significant to the
consolidated balance sheets or consolidated stalements of income.

NOTE 7. INCOME TAXES

The year ended December 31, 2019 reflects a full year of Linde plc; the year ended December 31, 2018 reflects Praxair for the entire year and Linde AG

for the period beginning October 31, 2018 (the merger date), including the impacts of purchase accounting. The amounts for historical periods prior to 2018
solely reflect the results of Praxair. (See Notes 1 and 3.)

Pre-tax income applicable (0 U.S. and foreign operations is as follows:

(Millions of doltars)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

United States 3 1,161 % 931 % 1,003
Foreign (a) 1,766 4,118 1,284
Total income before income taxes 5 2927 % 5049 § 2,287

{a) 2019 includes a $164 million gain related to the Indian divestiture and 2018 includes a $3,294 million gain related to Europe divestiture (See Note 4).

Provision for Income Taxes

The followiag is an analysis of the proviston for income taxes:
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(Miilions of dollars)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 (a) 2018 (b) 2017 (¢)
Current tax expense {benefit)
U.S. federal 5 64 3 390 % 565
State and local 39 (N 84
Foreign 969 620 374
1,072 1,003 1,023
Deferred tax expense (benefit)
LS. federal 85 8 (221)
State and local — 15 19
Foreign (388) (209) 205
(303} (186) 3
Total income taxes $ 769 $ 817 § 1,026
{a) 2019 includes $70 million related to divestitures, foreign current tax expense of $48 million and foreign deferred tax expense of $22 million

(b) 2018 includes a benefit of $61 million related to the Tax Act (See below) and a charge of $371 million ($252 million U.S., $4 million state, $114
million foreign current tax expense and $1 million of U.S. deferred income tax expense) related to divestitures (See Note 4).

(c) 2017 includes a charge of $394 mitlion related to the Tax Act (See below).
U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (Tax Act) 2018 and 2017

On December 22, 2017 the U.S. government enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Act"). This comprehensive tax legislation significantly revised
the U.S. corporate income tax rules by, among other things, lowering the corporate income tag rate from 35% to 21%, implementing a terriforial tax system
and imposing a ane-time tax on accumulated eamings of foreign subsidiaries. The company recorded a net provisional income tax charge of $394 million
comprising (i} an estimated $467 million U.S. Federal and state tax charge for deemed repatriation of accumulated foreign earnings; (ii) an estimated $260
million charge for foreign withholding taxes related 10 anticipated fulure repatriation of foreign earnings; and (iii} an estimated $333 million deferred tax
benefit for the revaluation of net deferred tax liabilities from 35% to the new 21% tax rate. The $467 million U.S. federal and state tax charge for deemed
repatriation of accumulated foreign earnings includes $422 million of deemed repatriation tax payable over eight years.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the company completed its accounting and updated its provisional estimates in accordance with SAB 118 resuldng in a net
reduction 1o tax expense of $61 million, $41 million U.S. federal and $20 million of state income tax (net of federal tax benefit). This resulted in a deemed
repatriation tax payable of $261 million and $251 million and is payable over the remaining six and seven years, respectively of which $235 million and $265
million is classified as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 as other leng-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets (See Note 9).

Further, the Tax Act endcted new provisions related to the taxation of foreign earnings, known as GILTL. The company has elected as an accounting
policy to account for GILTI as period costs when incurred.

Additionally, in the fourth quarter of 2018 the company adopted Accounting Standards Update 2018-02, "Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income”, electing to reclassify the income tax effects of the Tax Act from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
("AOCI™ to retained earnings, This resulted in a net reduction to AOCI and a net increase 1o retained earnings of $93 million, $98 million directly related to
the federal income tax rate ¢hange reduced by $5 million indirectly related to the federal tax rate change on state income taxes.

Effective Tax Rate Reconciliation

For purposes of the effective tax rate reconciliation, the company utilized the U.S. statutory income tax rate of 21%6 in 2019 and 2018 and 35% in 2017.
An analysis of the difference between the provision for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the U.S. statutory income tax rate to pre-tax
income follows:
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{Dollar amourns in millions}

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2H8 2017

1S, statutory income tax 5 615 210% § 1,060 21.0% % 801 35.0%

State and lacal taxes — net of federal benefit 31 1.1% 30 0.6% 32 1.4 %

U.S. tax credits and deductions (a) (31) {1.1)% (12) (0.2)% (27} (1.2)%

Foreign tax differentials (b) 113 39% 57 1.1% (145) (6.3)%

Share-Based compensation (41) (1.4Y% 22) (0.4)% (35) (1.5)%

Tax Act — — % (61) (1.2)% 394 17.2 %

Divestitures (€) 36 12% (321) (6.4)% — —%

Other — net {d) 46 1.6 % 86 1.7 % 6 0.3%

Provision for income taxes $ 769 263% $ 817 16.2% § 1,026 449 %

(a) U.5. tax credits and deductians relate to foreign derived intangible income in 2019 and 2018, the research and experimentation tax credit in 2019,
2018 and 2617 and manufacturing deduction in 2017.

(b} Primarily related to differences between the U.5. tax rate (21% in 2019 and 2018 and 35% in 2017} and the statutory tax rate in the countries where
the company operates. Other permanent items and tax rate changes were not significant.

(©) Divestitures primarily relate to the sale of the company's Indian business in 2019 and European business in 2018 (See Note 4),

(d) Other - net includes $26 million and $34 millien of U.S tax related to GILTT in 2019 and 2018, respectively and an increase in unrecognized tax

benefits in Europe of $44 million in 2018.
Net Deferred Tax Liabilities

Net deferred tax liabilities included in the cansolidated balance sheets are comprised of the following:

(Millions of doflars)

December 31, 2019 2018
Deferred tax liabilities
Fixed assets $ 3,539 % 3,935
Goodwill 145 124
Other intangible assets 3,688 3,684
Subsidiary/equity investments 664 570
Other (a) 789 648
$ 8825 § 8,961
Deferved tax assets
Camryforwards b 41 8 526
Benefit plans and related (b) 721 575
Inventory 72 63
Accruals and other () 1,167 1,112
5 2,401 3 2,276
Less: Valuation allowances {d) (222) (237)
5 2,179 % 2,039
Net deferred tax liabiliries $ 6,646 % 6,922
Recorded in the conselidated balance sheets as (Note 9):
Other long-term assets 243 510
Deferred credits 6,889 7,432
% 6,646 % 6,922
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(a) Includes $255 millien in 2019 related to right-of-use lease assets.
{b) Includes deferred taxes of $446 million and $292 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to pension / OPEB funded status (See Notes 9 and
18).
(9] Includes $255 million retated to lease liabilities in 2019 and $81 million and $104 millicn in 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to research and
developmenl costs.
(d) Summary of valuatien allowances relating to deferred tax assets follows (millions of dollars):
2019 2018 2017
Balance, January 1, $ 237) % (76) % (132)
Income tax {charge) benefit (i) (30 (51) 59
Merger with Linde AG 18 (121) —
Other, including write-offs (ii) 26 7 —
Translation adjustments 2 4 (3)
Balance, December 31, $ (222) § (237) % (76)

(i) 2017 inckudes a $59 million benefit related to the utilization of foreign tax credits under the Tax Act.
(ii) 2019 includes $26 million related to the squeeze out of Linde AG (See Note 3).

The company evaluates deferred tax assets quarterly to ensure that estimated future taxable income will be sufficient in character (e.g., capital gain
versus ordinary income treatment), amoun{ and timing to result in their recovery. After considering the positive and negative evidence, a valuation allowance
is established to reduce the assets to their realizable value when management determines that it is more likely than not (i.e., greater than 50% likelihood) that
a deferred tax asset will not be realized. Considerable judgment is required in establishing deferred tax valuation allowances.

At December 31, 2019, the company had $441 million of deferred tax assets relating to net operating losses (“NOLs”) and tax credits and $222 million
of valuaticn allowances. These deferred tax assets include $312 million relating to NOLs of which $55 million expire within 5 years, $115 millicn expire after
5 years and $142 million have no expiration. The deferred tax assets also include $129 million related to credits of which $6 million expire within 5 years,
$183 million expire after 5 years, and $10 million have no expiration, The valuation allowances of 5222 million primarily relate to NOLs and are required
because management has determined, based on financial projectiens and available tax strategies, that it is unlikely that the NOLs will be utilized befare they
expire. If events or circumstances change, valuation allowances are adjusted at that time resulting in an income tax benefit or charge.

The company has $664 million of foreign income taxes accrued related to its investments in subsidiaries and equity investments as of December 31,
2019. A provision has not been made for any additional foreign income tax at December 31, 2019 on approximately 331 billion related to its investments in
subsidiaries because the company intends 1o yemain indefinitely reinvested, While the $31 billion could become subject to additional foreign income tax if
there is a sale of a subsidiary, or earnings are remitted as dividends, it is not practicable to estimate the unrecognized deferred tax liability.

Uncertain Tax Positions

Unrecognized income tax benefits represent income tax positions taken on income tax returns but not yet recegnized in the consolidated financial
staternents, The company has unrecognized income tax benefits totaling $472 million, $319 million and $54 miltion as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. If recognized, essentially all of the unrecognized tax benefits and related interest and penalties would be recorded as a benefit to income tax
expense on the consolidated statements of income.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
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(Millions of doflars} 2013 2018 2017
Unrecognized income tax benefits, January 1 5 319 % 54 3 56
Additions for tax positions of prior years (a) 151 104 48
Reductions for tax positions of prior years 3) N {26)
Additions for current year tax positicns (b) 33 179 —
Reductions for settlements with taxing authorities (c) (26) 3) (26)
Foreign currency translation and other (2) 8) 2
Unrecognized income tax benefits, December 31 k] 472 8 319§ 54
(a) Increase primarily relates to tax positiens in the United States and Evrope, $66 million in 2019 related to the merger with Linde AG.

(b) 2018 includes $167 millicn related to the merger with Linde AG.

(c) Settlements are uncertain tax positions that were effectively settled with the taxing authorities, including positions where the company has agreed to
amend its tax returns to eliminate the uncertainty.

The company classifies interest income and expense related to income taxes as tax expense in the consolidated statements of income. The company
recognized net interest expense of $1 million, $32 million and $8 millicn for the years ended December 31, 2619, December 3§, 2018 and December 31,
2017, respectively. The company had $65 miltion and $48 million of accrued interest and penalties as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively which were recorded in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets (See Note 9).
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As of December 31, 2019, the company remained subject to fxamination in the following major tax jurisdictions for the tax years as indicated below:

Major tax jurisdictions
North and South America
United States
Canada
Mexico
Brazil

Europe and Africa
France
Germany
Netherlands
Republic of South Africa
Spain
United Kingdom

Asia and Australia
Australia
China
India
Korea
Taiwan

Open Years

2016 through 2019
2012 through 2019
2013 through 2019
2005 through 2019

2014 through 2019
2015 through 2019
2015 through 2019
2015 through 2019
2006 through 2019
2015 through 2019

2014 through 2019
2014 through 2019
2006 through 2019
2014 through 2019
2015 through 2019

The company is currently under audit in a number of jurisdictions. As a result, it is reasonably possible that some of these matters will canclude or
reach the stage where a change in unrecognized income tax benefits may occur within the next twelve months, At the time new information becomes
availahle, the company will recerd any adjustment to income tax expense as required. Final determinations, if any, are not expected to be material to the

censolidated financial statements. The company is also subject to income taxes in many hundreds of state and local taxing jurisdictions that are open o tax

examinations.
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NOTE 8. EARNINGS PER SHARE — LINDE PLC SHAREHOLDERS

Basic and Diluted earuings per share - Linde plc shareholders is computed by dividing [ncome From Continuing Operations, [ncome From discontinued
operations, net of tax, and Net income — Linde plc for the period by the weighted average number of either basic or diluted shares vuistanding, as follows:

2019 2018 2017

Numerator (Millions of dellars)
Income From Continuing Operations $ 2,183 % 4273  § 1,247
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 102 108 —
Net Income — Linde plc $ 2,285 % 4381 § 1,247
Denominator (Thonsands of shares)
Weighted average shares ontstanding 540,859 330,088 285,893
Shares earned and issuable under compensation plans 235 313 368
Weighted average shares used in basic eamings per share = 541,094 330,401 286,261
Effect of dilatve securities

Stock options and awards 4,076 3,726 2,853
Weighted average shares used in diluted earnings per share * 545,170 334,127 299,114
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 403 % 12093 &% 4.36
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations 3 019 % 033 § —
Basic Earnings Per Share $ 422 8 1326 § 4.36
Diluted earnings per share from: continuing operations $ 400 % 1279 3 4.32
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations % 019 % 032 % —
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 419 § 1311 § 4.32

* As aresult of the merger, share amounts for the year ended December 31, 2018 reflect a weighted average effect of Praxalr shares ontstanding prior to
October 31, 2018 and Linde plc shares cutsianding on and after October 31, 2018,

There were no antidilutive shares for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 ar 2017.

NOTE 9. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects Praxair for the entire year and the Linde AG for the period beginning after October 31, 2018 {the merger
date), including the impacts of purchase accounting. The amounts for histerical periods prior to 2018 solely reflect the results of Praxair. See Notes 1 and 3.

Income Statement

(Millions of doltars)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling $ 1,600 % 757§ 511

General and administrative 1,857 872 696
$ 3457 5 1629 % 1,207

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

Depreciation and Amertization (a)

Depreciation $ 3940 % 1615 $ 1,093

Amortization of intangibles (Note 12) 735 215 91

Depreciation and Amortization % 4875 % 1,830 % 1,184

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

Other Income (Expenses) — Net

Currency related net gains {losses) 3 (ny s 4 % 3)

Partnership income 8 8 6

SeveranCe expense (7) (%) (5)

Asset divestiture gains (losses) — net 10 6 4

Other — net 68 7 3
b 68 % 18 %

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 207

Interest Expense — Net



Interest incurred on debt
Interest income

Amortization on acquired debt
Interest capitalized

Bond redemption (b)

Year Ended December 31,
Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests' operations (c)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests’ operations {Note 16}
Noncontrolling interests from continuing operations

Nonconirolling interests from discontinued operations

Balance Sheet

(Millions of dellars}
December 31,

Accounts Receivable
Trade and Other receivables
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (d)

December 31,
Inventories

Raw materials and supplies
Work in process
Finished goods
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284 297 230
(112) (80) (41
(96) (21) —
(38) (20) (28)
I 26 —
38 202 161
2019 2018 2017
87 12 59
2 3 2
89 15 61
7 9 —
2019 2018
4,628 4,410
(306) (113)
4,322 4,297
2019 2018
396 339
331 321
970 991
1,697 1,651
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December 31,

Prepaid and Other Current Assets
Prepaid and other deferred charges (e)
VAT recoverable

Unrealized gains on derivatives (Note 14)
Other

December 31,
Other Long-term Assets

Pension assets (Note 18)

Insurance contracts (f)

Long-term receivables, net (g}

Operating lease assets {Note 6)

Deposits

Investments carried at cost

Deferred charges

Deferred income taxes (Note 7)
Unrealized gains on derivatives (Note 14)
Other

December 31,
Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses

Payroll

VAT payabte

Pension and postretirement (Note 18)
Interest payable

Operating lease liability {Note 6)
Employee benefit accrual

Insurance reserves

Unreatized losses pn derivatives {Note 14)
Other
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2019 2018
516 533
275 250
85 66
264 228
1,140 1,077
2019 2013
78 140
75 75
150 135
1,025 —
56 61
40 76
90 148
243 510
82 127
174 150
2,013 1,462
2019 208
1,079 1,187
613 658
268 235
27 117
127 137
260 —
88 104
38 36
54 36
941 1,248
3,501 3,758
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December 31, 2019 2018
Other Long-term Liabilities

Pension and postretirement (Note 18) % 2548 % 2,004
Tax liabilities for uncertain tax positions 342 191
Tax Act liabilities for deemed repatriation (Note 7) 235 265
Operating lease liability (Note 6) 716 —
Interest and penalties for uncertain tax positions (Note 7) 65 48
Insurance reserves 28 24
Asset retirement obligation 293 300
Unrealized [osses on derivatives (Note 14) 45 43
Other 616 560
$ 4888 % 3,435
December 31, 2019 2018
Deferred Credits
Deferred income taxes (Note 7) $ G389 3§ 7,432
Other 347 179
$ 7,236 3 7,611
December 31, 2019 2018

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Cumulative translation adjustment - net of taxes:

Americas (h) $ (3,357) § (3,375)
EMEA (h) (136) 105

APAC (h) (140) {114)
Engineering (29) 40

Other 282 (246)

(3,380) (3,590)

Derivatives — net of taxes (27) (2)

Unrealized gain (loss) on securities — €8]

Pension/OPEB funded staws obligation (net of $446 million and $292 miltion tax benefit in 2015 and 2018) (Note

18) (1,407) (863)

3 (4814 3% (4,456)

{a) Depreciation and amortization expense in 2019 inclede $1,298 million and $642 miilion, respectively, of Linde AG purchase accounting impacts. In

2018, depreciation and amoertization expense include $225 million and $121 million, respectively, of Linde AG purchase accounting impacts.

(b) In December 2018, Linde repaid $600 million of 4.50% notes due 2019 and €600 million of 1.50% notes due 2020 resulting in a $26 millicn interest
charge ($20 million after-tax}.

{c) Noncontrolling interests from continuing operations includes a $1 million berefit and a $35 million charge in 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to
the 8% of Linde AG Shares which were not tendered in the Exchange Offer. Linde AG completed the cash merger squeeze-our of all its minority
shares on April 8, 2019 (see Note 3).

In addition, 2019 and 2018 noncontrolling interests from continuing operations include $54 million and $24 million, respectively, of Linde AG
purchase accounting impacts.
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(e)
0
(g)
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Provisions ta the allowance for deubtful accounts were $170 million, $25 million, and $33 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. The
allowance activity in each period related primarily to write-offs of uncollectible amounts, net of recoveries and currency movements.

Includes estimated income tax payments of $115 million and $172 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Consists primarily of insurance contracts and other investments to be utilized for non-qualified pension and OPEB obligations.

Long-term receivables are not material and are largely reserved, The balances at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are net of reserves of $44 million and
$46 miklion, respectively. The amounts in both perieds relate primarily to long-term notes receivable from customers and govennment receivables in
Brazil. Collectability is reviewed regularly and uncotlectible amounts are written-off as appropriate.

Americas consists of currency translation adjustments primarily in Canada, Mexico, and Brazil. EMEA relates primarily to Germany, the United
Kingdom and Sweden. APAC relates primarily v China, Korea, India and Australia.

NOTE 10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT -NET

Significant classes of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

(Millions of dollars) Depreciable Lives
December 31, (Yrs) 2069 2018
Production plants (primarily 15-year life) (a) 10-20 3 25493 $ 24,726
Storage tanks 15-20 4,295 4,061
Transportation equipment and cther 3-15 2,809 2,654
Cylinders 10-30 4,184 3,955
Buildings 25-40 3,162 3,083
Land and improvernents (b) 0-20 1,229 1,162
Construction in pragress 3,146 2,296
44,218 41,937
Less: accumulated depreciation (15,254) (12,220}
5 29064 % 29,717

(a) - Depreciable lives of production plants related to long-term custemer supply contracts are consistent with the contract lives.

{b) - Land is not depreciated.
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NOTE 11. GOODWILL

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

(Millions of dollars) Americas EMEA APAC Engineering Other Total
Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 2306 § 695 $ 5 % — % 173§ 3,233
Addition due to Merger (Note 3) 6,850 10,802 5,193 1,060 201 24,146
Acquisitons {Note 3) 5 — — — 5
Purchase adjustments & other 12 — — — 12
Foreign currency translation (39) 83 43 15 4 98
Disposals (Note 4) —_ (620) — — (620)
Balance, December 31, 2018 9,174 10,950 5,295 1,075 370 26,874
Acquisitions (Note 3) 135 — — — — 135
Measurement pericd adjustments (Note 3) (255) (636) {323) 1,410 (42) 154
Foreign currency translation (12) (81) (15) (15) 21 (144)
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 9,042 § 10,243 § 4957 % 2470 % 307 §% 27,019

Linde has historically perfonmed its goodwill impairment tests annually during the second guarter of each year, and has determined that the fair value
of each of its reporting urits was substantially in excess of its carrying value. For the second quarter 2019 test, Linde applied the FASB’s accounting guidance
which allows the company to first assess qualitative factors to determine the extent of additional quantitative analysis, if any, that may be required to test
goodwill for impairment. Based on the qualitative assessments performed, Linde concluded that it was more likely than not that the fair value of each
reporting unit substantially exceeded its carrying value and therefore, further quantitative anatysis was not reguired. As a result, no impairment was recorded.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019, the company changed the date of its annual goodwill impairment test from April 30 to October 1. The
change was made to maore closely align the impairment testing date with the company’s planning process. The change in annual impairment testing date did
not delay, accelerate or avoid an impairment charge. The company has determined this change in the method of applying an accounting principle is preferable,

Linde's impairment test performed during the fourth quarter of 2019 estimated the fair value of each reporting unit by applying multiples of eamings
from a peer group to the company’s forecasted earnings for the year ending December 31, 2019. The peer group is comprised of comparable entities with
similar operations and economic characteristics. Linde concluded the fair value of reporting units exceeded its carrying value and therefore recognized no
impairment. There were no indicators of impairment through December 31, 2019. Reporting units with greater concentration of Linde AG assets fair valued
during the recent merger are at greater risk of impairment in future periods.
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The following is a summary of Linde’s other intangible assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018:

(Miilions of doflars) For the year ended December 31, 2015 Customer Relationships Brands/Tradenames Other Imtangible Assets Total
Cost:

Balance, December 31, 2013 $ 13288 % 2268 8% 1,366 % 16,942
Additions (primarily acquisitions) 30 6 51 87
Foreign currency translation (59) {21) (11) (91)
Measurement period adjustments (Note 3) (8) 492 178 662
Other * (46) (1) 28 a9

Balance, December 31, 2019 13,205 2,764 1,612 17,581

Less: accumulated amortization:

Balance, December 31, 2018 (317) (22) (380} (719)
Amoitization expense (Note 9) (584) (47) (104) (735)
Foreign aurency translation — — 2 2
Other * 16 — (8) 8

Balance, December 31, 2019 (885) {G9) {490) (1,444)

Net intangible asset balance at December 31, 2015 $ 12,320 % 2,695 & 1,122 § 16,137
(Millions of dofiars) For the year ended December 31, 2018 Customer Relationships Brands/Tradenames Other Intangible Assets Total
Cost:

Balance, December 31, 2017 3 772 % 46 % 619 % 1,437
Additions due to merger (Note 3) 12,555 2,226 811 15,592
Additions (primarily acquisitions) 1 — 26 27
Foreign currency translation 121 24 ()] 136
Disposals (Note 4) (141) 8) 78) (227)
Other * (20) — 3 (23)

Balance, December 31, 2018 13,288 2,288 1,366 16,942

Less: accumulated ameortization:

Balance, December 31, 2017 (260) (18} (374) (652)
Amortization expense {(Note 3) (135) ()] (71) (215)
Foreign currency tanslation 4 — 8 12
Disposals (Note 4) 55 5 52 112
Other * 19 — 5 24

Balance, December 31, 2018 (317 (22) (380) (719)

Net balance at December 31, 2018 % 12,871 % 2,266 % 98 % 16,223
* Other primarily relates to the write-off of fully amortized assets and reclassifications.

There are no expected residual values related to these intangible assets. Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
was $735 million, $215 million and $91 million, respectively. The remaining weighted-average amortization period for intangible assets is approximately 28

years.
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Total estimated annual amortization expense related to finite-lived intangibles is as follows:

(Millions of datlars)

20020 % 718
2021 713
2022 595
2023 570
2024 556
Thereafter 11,115
Total ameortization related to finite-lived intangible assets 14,267
Indefinite-lived intangible assets at December 31, 2019 1,870
Net intangible assets at December 31, 2019 % 16,137
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NOTE 13. DEBT

The following is a summary of Linde’s outstanding debt at December 31, 2019 and 2018:

(Millions of doltars)
Short-term

Commercial paper and 1).5. bank borrowings
Other bank borrowings (primarily international)
Total short-term debt
Long-term (a}
(U.S, dollar denominated unless otherwise noted)
1.90% Notes due 2019 (b)
Variahle rate nntes dne 2014 (h)
1.75% Euro denominated notes due 2019 (b,c)
4.25% AUD deneminated notes due 2019 (b)
Variable rate notes due 2019 (b)
2.25% Nates due 2020
1.75% Euro denominated notes due 2020 ()
0.634% Euro denominated notes due 2020
4.05% Notes due 2021
3.875% Eure denominated notes due 2021 ()
3.00% Notes due 2021
0.250% Euro denominated notes due 2022 {c)
2.45% Notes due 2022
2 .20% Notes due 2022
2.70% Notes due 2023
2.00% Furo denominated notes due 2023 (c)
5.875% GBP denominated notes due 2023 (c)
1.20% Euro denominated notes due 2024
1.875% Euro denominated notes due 2024 {c)
2.65% Notes due 2025
1.625% Euro dencminated notes due 2025
3.20% Notes due 2026
3.434% Notes due 2026
1.652% Euro denominated notes due 2027
1.00% Euro denominated notes due 2028 {c)
1.90% Euro denominated notes due 2030
3.55% Notes due 2042
Gther
International bank borrowings
Obligations under capital lease

Less: current portion of long-term debt
Total long-term debt
Total debt

(a) Amounts are net of unamortized discounts, premiums and/or debt issuance costs as applicable.
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2019 2018
996 § 829
736 656
1,732 1,485
— 500
— 150
— 578
- 71
— 200
300 299
1,137 1,185
56 58
499 499
711 755
459 498
1,129 1,156
599 598
499 498
499 498
776 805
456 454
615 628
361 373
393 398
556 568
725 725
196 195
93 96
872 861
118 121
662 662
10 to
309 291
149 81
12,224 13,811
(1,531) (1,523)
10,693 12,288
13956 § 15,296
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(b In February 2019, Linde repaid $500 miltion of 1.9% notes that became due; in May 2019 Linde repaid 3150 million of variable notes that became
due; in June 2019 Linde repaid €500 million of 1.75% notes that became due and the associated interest rate swap was settled; also in June 2019
Linde settled AUD100 million of variable rate notes that became due; and in August 2015 Linde repaid $200 million of variable rate notes that
became due.

(c) December 31, 2019 and 2018 included a cumulative $38 million and $14 million adjustment to carrying value, respectively, related to hedge
accounting of interest rate swaps.

Credit Facilities

On March 26, 2019 the company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an unsecured revolving credit agreement ("the Credit Agreement”) with a
syndicate of banking institutions, which became effective on March 29, 2019. The Credit Agreement pravides for total commitments of $5.0 billion, which
may be increased up to $6.5 billion, subject to receipt of additional commitments and satisfaction of customary conditions. There are no financial
maintenance covenants contained within the Credit Agreement. The revolving credit facility expires on March 26, 2024 with the optien to request two one-
vear extensions of the expiration date. In connection with the effectiveness of the Credit Agreement, Praxair and Linde AG terminated their major respective
existing revolving credit facilities. No berrowings were outstanding under the Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2019,

On September 3, 2019 Linde and the company’s subsidiaries Praxair and Linde AG entered into a series of parent and subsidiary goarantees related to
currently outstanding notes issued by Praxair and Linde AG as well as the $5 billion Credit Agreement.

Other Debt Information
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the weighted-average interest rate of short-term borrowings outstanding was 0.6% for both periods.

Expected maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

{Millions of doliars)

2020 % 1,531
2021 1,855
2022 2,330
2023 1,798
2024 983
Thereafter 3,727

$ 12,224

As of Decernber 31, 2019, the amount of Linde's assets pledged as collateral was immaterial.

See Note 15 for the fair value information related (o debt.

NOTE 14, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In its normal vperations, Linde is exposed to market risks relating 1o fluctuations in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, energy costs and 1o a
lesser extent precious metal prices. The objective of financial risk management at Linde is to minimize the negative impact of such fluctuations on the
company’s earnings and cash flows. Te manage these risks, among other strategies, Linde routinely enters into various derivative financial instruments
(“derivatives™) including interest-rate swap and treasury rate lock agreements, currency-swap agreements, forward contracts, currency options, and
commodity-swap agreements, These instruments are not entered inte for rading purposes and Linde only uses commonly waded and non-leveraged
instruments,

There are three types of derivatives that the company enters into: (i} those relating to fair-value exposures, (ii) those relating to cash-flow exposures,
and (iii) those relating to foreign currency net investment exposures. Fair-value exposures relate to recognized assets or liabilities, and firm commitments;
cash-flow exposures relate to the variability of future cash flows associated with recognized assets or liabilities, or forecasted transactions; and net investment
exposures relate to the impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes on the carrying value of net assets denominated in foreign currencies.

When a derivative is executed and hedge accounting is appropriate, it is designated as either a fair-value hedge, cash-flow hedge, or a net investment
hedge. Currently, Linde designates all interest-rate and treasury-rate locks as hedges for accounting purposes; hawever, cross-currency interest rate countracts
are generally not designated as hedges for accounting



Table of Condents

purposes. Certain currency contracts related to forecasted transactions are designated as hedges for accounting purposes. Whether designated as hedges for
accounting purposes or not, all derivatives are linked to an appropriate underlying expasure. On an ongoing basis, the company assesses the hedge
effectiveness of all derivatives designated as hedges for accounting purposes to determine if they continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of the underlying hedged items. If it is determined that the hedge is not highly effective, then hedge accounting will be discontinued
prospectively.

Counterparties to Linde’s derivatives are major banking institutions with credit ratings of investment grade or better. The company has Credit Support
Annexes ("CSAs") in place with their principal counterparties to minimize potential default risk and to mitigate counterparty risk. Under the CSAs, the fair
values of derivatives for the purpose of interest rate and currency management are collateralized with cash on a regular basis. As of December 31, 2019, the
impact of such collateral posting arrangements on the fair value of derivatives was insignificant. Management believes the risk of incurring losses on
derivative contracts related to credit risk is remote and any losses would be immaterial.

The following table is a summary of the notional amount and fair value of derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 2018 for consolidated
subsidiartes:

Fair Value
(Millions of doilars) Notional Amounts Assels (a) Liabilities (a)
December 31, 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging
Instruments:
Currency contracts:
Balance sheet items $ 7936 % 6,357 % 62 % 24§ 37 3 42
Forecasted transactions 748 945 14 15 15 17
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 1,029 2,110 35 112 40 40
Commodity contracts N/A N/A — 27 — 9
Total 9,713 9,412 111 178 92 108
Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments:
Currency contracis:
Balance sheet items $ 27 8 — 3 2 0% — % 3% —
Forecasted wansactions 464 158 9 2 3 3
Commodity contracts N/A N/A 6 — 1 —
Interest rate swaps 1,908 2,164 39 13 — 10
Total Hedges $ 2399 % 2322 % 5% % 15§ 708 13
Total Derivatives 3 12,112 $ 11,734 $ 167 % 193 $ 9% % 121

(a) Current assets of $85 million are recorded in prepaid and other current assets; long-term assets of $82 million are recorded in other long-term assets;
current liabilities of $54 million are recarded in other current liabilities; and long-term liabilities of $45 million are recorded in other long-term liabilities.

Balance Sheet Items

Foreign currency contracts related o balance sheet items consist of forward contracts entered into to manage the exposure to fluctuations in foreign-
currency exchange rates on recorded balance sheet assets and liabilities denominated in currencies ather than the functional currency of the related gperating
unit. Certain forward currency contracts are entered info to protect underlying monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies from fareign
exchange risk and are not designated as hedging instruments. For balance sheet items that are not designated as hedging instruments, the fair value
adjustments on these contracts are offset by the fair value adjustments recorded on the underlying monetary assets and liabilites.

Forecasted Transactions

Foreign currency contracts related te forecasted transactions consist of farward contracts entered into to manage the exposure to fluctuations in foreign-
currency exchange rates on (1) forecasted purchases of capital-related equipment and services, (2) forecasted sales, or (3} other forecasted cash flows
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the related operating units. For forecasted transactions that are designated as cash flow
hedges, fair value adjustments are

1086



Lable of Lontenty

recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income (" AQCI™) with deferred amounts reclassified to earnings over the same time period as the income

statement impact of the associated purchase. For forecasted transactions that do not qualify for cash flow hedging relationships, fair value adjustments are
recorded directly to earnings.

Interest Rate/Cross-Currency Interest Rate Swaps

Cross-currency interest rate swaps are entered intto to limit the foreign currency risk of future principal and interest cash flows associated with intercompany
lpans, aad ta a more limited extent bonds, denominated in non-functional currencies. The fair value adjustments on the cross-currency swaps are recorded to
earnings, where they are offset by fair value adjustments on the underlying intercompany loan or bond.

Commaodity Contracts

Commodity contracts are entered into to manage the exposure to fluctuations in commeodity prices, which arise in the normal course of business from its
procurement transactions. To reduce the extent of this risk, Linde enters into a limited number of electricity, natural gas, and propane gas derivatives. The fair
value adjustments for the majority of these contracts are recorded to AOCI and are eventually offset by the income statement impact of the underlying
commodity purchase.

Net investient hedges

As of December 31, 2019, Linde has not designated any hedges of net investment positions in foreign operations. Linde had previously designated Euro-
denominated debt instruments as net investment hedges to reduce the company's exposure to changes in the currency exchange rate on investments in foreign
subsidiaries with Euro functdonal currencies. Exchange rate movements of $206 million relating to the previcusly denominated Euro-denominated debt
incurred in the financial periods prior to de-designation will remain in AQCI, until appropriate, such as upon sale or liquidation of the foreign operations at
which time amounts will be reclassified 1o the consolidated statements of income. Exchange rate movements related to the Euro-denominated debt occurring
after de-designation are shown in the consclidated statements of income.

Interest Rate Swaps

Linde uses interest rate swaps to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities as a result of interest rate
changes. These interest rate swaps effectively convert fixed-rate interest exposures to variable rates; fair value adjustments are recognized in earnings along
with an equally offsetting charge/benefit Lo earnings for the changes in the fair value of the underlying financial asset or financial liability. The noticnal value
of outstanding interest rate swaps of Linde with maturity dates from 2020 through 2028 was $1,908 million at December 31, 2019 and $2,164 at
December 31, 2018 (see Note 13 for further information).

Terminated Treasury Rate Locks

The unrecognized aggregate losses related to terminated treasury rate lock contracts on the underlying $500 million 3.00% fixed-rate notes that mature in
2021 and the $500 million 2.20% fixed-rate nates that mature in 2022 at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 were $2 million (net of taxes of $1
million) and $2 million (net of taxes of $1 million), respectively. The unrecognized gains/(losses) for the treasury rate locks are shown in AQCI and are
being recognized on a straight line basis to interest expense - net over tite term of the underlying debt agreements.

Impact of derivative instruments on earnings and AOCI

The following table summarizes the impact of the company's derivatives on the consolidated statements of income:

Amount of Pre-Tax Gain (Loss)
(Millions of dollars} Recognized in Earnings *

December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

Currency contracts:
Balance sheet items:

Debt-related $ 253 % (1) 3% 121
Other balance sheet items 65 3 —
Total 3 318 3 (115) 3 121

* The gains {losses) on balance sheet items are offset by gains (losses) recorded on the underlying hedged assets and liabilities. Accordingly, the gains (losses) fur the derivatives and the underlying
hedged assets and liabilities relatedt to debt items are recorded in the consolidated statements of income as interest expense-net. Cther balance sheet items and anticipated net incorne gains (losses)
are recorded in the consolidated statements of income gy other income (expenses)-nel.
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The amounts of gain or loss recognized in ACCI and reclassified to the consolidated statement of income was immaterial for the year ended December 31,
2019. Net losses expected to be reclassified to earnings during the next twelve months are also not material.

The gains (losses) on net investment hedges are recorded as a component of AQCI within foreign currency translation adjustments in the consclidated balance
sheets and rhe consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The gains (losses) on treasury rate locks are recorded as a component of AQCI within
derivacive insttuments in the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The gains (losses} on net investment
hedges are reclassified to earnings only when the related currency translation adjustments are required to be reclassified, usually upon sale or liquidatian af
the invesiment. The gains (losses) for interest rate contracts are reclassified to earnings as interest expense —net on a straight-line basis over the remaining
maturity of the underlying debt.
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NOTE 15. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES
The fair value hierarchy pricritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels as follows:

Level 1 —quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable
Level 3 — inputs that are unobservable (for example cash flow modeling inputs based on assumptions)

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table summarizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Fair Value Measurements Using

(Millions of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Assets

Derivative assets % — % — 8 167 % 193 § — 5 —

Iavestments and securities * 18 22 — — 28 30

Total $ 18 % 22 5 167 % 193 % 28 % 30

Liahilities

Derivative liabilities 5 — & — 8 99 % 121§ — 8 —

*  Tnvestments and securities are recorded in prepaid and other current assets and other long-term assets in the company's consolidated balance sheets.

Level 1 investments and securities are marketable securities traded on an exchange. Level 2 investments are based on market prices obtained from
independent brokers or determined using quantitative models that use as their basis readily observable market parameters that are actively quated and can be
validated through external sources, including third-party pricing services, brokers and market transactions. Level 3 investments and securities consist of a
venture fund. For the valuation, Linde uses the net asset value received as part of the fund's quarterly reporting, which for the most part is nat based on quoted
prices in active markets. In order to reflect current market conditions, Linde proportionally adjusts these by observable market data (stock exchange prices) or
current transaction prices.

The following table summarizes the changes in level 3 investments and securities for the year ended December 31, 2019. Gains (losses) recognized in
earnings are recorded to interest expense - net in the company's consolidated statements of income.

{Millions of dollars) 2019
Balance at Januvary 1 .$—30
Additions 1
Gains (losses) recognized in earnings (3)
Balance at December 31 $—28

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, short-term debt, accounts receivable-net, and accounts payable approximate carrying value because of the
short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based on the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues. Long-term debt is categorized within
either Level 1 or Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy depending on the wading volume of the issues and whether or not they are actively quoted in the market
as opposed to traded through over-the-counter transactions. At December 31, 2019, the estimated fair value of Linde’s long-term debt portfolio was $12,375
million versus a carrying value of $12,224 million. At December 31, 2018 the estimated fair value of Linde’s long-term debt portfolio was $13,725 million
versus a carrying value of $13,811 million. As Linde AG's assets and liahilities were measured at estimated fair value as of the merger date, differences
between the carrying value and the fair value not significant; remaining differences are attributable to interest rate increases subsequent to when the debt was
issued and relative to stated coupon rates.
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NOTE 16. EQUITY AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Linde plc Shareholders’ Equity

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Linde has total authorized share capital of €1,825,000 divided into 1,750,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.001 each,
25,000 A ordinary shares of €1.00 each, 25,000 deferred shares of €1.00 each and 25,000,000 preferred shares of €0.001 each.

At December 31, 2019 there were 552,012,862 and 534,380,544 of Linde plc ordinary shares issued and outstanding, respectively. At December 31,
2019 there were no shares of A ordinary shares, deferred shares or preferred shares issued or outstanding.

At December 31, 2018 there were 551,310,272 and 547,241,630 of Linde plc ordinary shares issued and outstanding, respectively. At December 31,
2018, there were no shares of A ordinary shares, deferred shares or preferred shares issued or sutstanding,

Linde’s Board of Directors may from time to ime authorize the issuance of one or more series of preferred stock and, in connection with the creation of
such series, determine the characteristics of each such series including, without limitation, the preference and relative, participating, optional or other special
rights, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of the series.

2018 Merger of Pravair and Vinde AG

Following is a summary of the Linde plc sharehclders' equity transactions related to the merger:

Additienal Paid in

Ordinary Shares Capital Treasury Stock
{Dollar amourtts in millions, shares in thousands) Shares Amount Shares Amount
Merger with Linde AG (a) 263,148 % — % 43,288 — 3 —
Conversion of Praxair to Linde plc shares (b} — 3) 3 — —
Cancellation of Praxair Treasury stock (¢) (95,324) — (7,113) (95,324) 7,113
Impact of Linde AG merger 167,824 § 3) § 36,178 (95,324) $ 7,113

(a)  The total fair value of consideration transferred for the merger was $43,288 million, resulting in an increase to "Additional paid-in capital” in
stockholders' equity (see Note 3 for additicnal information).

{b)  On Qctober 31, 2018, the conversicn of Praxair common stock and Linde AG comman stock into Linde ordinary shares resulted in a $3 millian
decrease to "Ordinary Shares” with a corresponding increase to "Additional paid-in capital” in stockholders' equity.

(c)  Each share of Praxair common stock held in treasury immediately prior to the merger was canceled. The elimination of Praxair's historical treasury
stock at cost resulted in a $7,113 million decrease in “Treasury stock" and "Additional paid-in capital” in steckholders' equity.

As indicated above, in connection with the merger, Praxair and Linde AG common stock was converted into shares of Linde plc ordinary shares. The
following table provides a summary of the share activity resulling from the merger:

(in thousands. except Linde AG exchange rotie)
Linde plc shares exchanged for Linde AG shares

Linde AG common stock tendered as of October 31, 2018 (i) 170,875
Business combination agreement exchange ratio (ii) . 1.54
Linde plc ordinary shares issued in exchange for Linde AG 263,148
Linde plc shares issued to Praxair shareholders upon conversion

Praxair shares ootstanding at merger date 287,907
Total Linde plc shares issued at merger date 551,055

——
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(i) Number of Linde AG shares tendered in the 2017 Exchange Offer.

(i) Exchange ratio for Linde AG shares as set forth in the bnsiness comhbination agreement.

QOther Linde pic Ordinary Share and Treasury Stock Transactions

Linde may issue new ordinary shares for dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plans and employee savings and incentive plans. The number of
new Linde ordinary shares issued from the merger date through December 31, 2019 was 958,253 shares.

On December 10, 2018 the Linde board of directors approved the repurchase of $1.0 billior of its ordinary shares under which Linde had repurchased
6,385,887 shares through December 31, 2019 (4,068,642 shares were repurchased through December 31, 2018). Linde completed the repurchases under this
program in the first quarter of 2019.

Subsequently, on January 22, 2019 the company’s board of directors approved the additional repurchase of $6.0 billion of its ordindry shares under
which Linde had repurchased 12,016,083 shares through December 31, 2019.

Noncontrolling Interests

Noacontrolling interest ownership changes are presented within the consolidated statements of equity. The $2,921 million decrease during 2019 was primarily
driven by Linde AG completion of the cash merger squeeze-out of all its minoricy shares on April 8, 2019. This represents the 8% of Linde AG shares which
were not tendered in the Exchange Offer and were the subject of a cash-merger squeeze-out (See Note 3).

The $186 million decrease during 2018 primarily relates to the sale of Praxair's industrial gases business in Europe (see Notes 1 and 4). The "Impact of
Merger” line item of the consolidated statements of equity includes the fair value of the noncontrolling interests acquired from Linde AG, including the 8% of
Linde AG shares which were not tendered in the Exchange Offer and were intended to be the subject of a cash-merger squeeze-out (See Note 3).

The $15 million increase during 2017 relates to additional funding provided to PG Technologies, LLC ("PGT"} by the joint venture parner.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests with redemption features, such as put/sell opticns, that are not solely within the company’s control (“redeemable
noncontrolling interests™) are reported separately in the consolidated balance sheets at the greater of carrying value or redemption value, For redeemable
noncontrolling interests that are not vet exercisable, Linde calculates the redemption value by accreting the carrying value to the redemplion value over the
pericd until exercisable. If the redemption value is greater than the carrying value, any increase is adjusted directly to retained earnings and does not impact
net income. At December 31, 2019, the redeemable noncontrolling interest balance includes industrial gas businesses in EMLA and Americas where the
noncontrolling shareholders have put eptions.
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NOTE 17. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Share-based compensation expense was $95 million in 2019 ($62 million and $59 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively). The related income tax
benefit recognized was $42 million in 2019 ($30 million and $53 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively). The expense was primarily recorded in selling,
general and administrative expenses and no share-based compensation expense was capitalized.

Summary of Plans

The 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long-Term [rcentive Plan was initially adopted by the board of directors and shareholders of Praxair, Inc. on April 28, 2009 and
has been amended since its initial adoption ('the 2009 Plan"). Upon completion of the business combination of Praxair, Inc. with Linde AG on October 31,
2018, the 2009 Plan was assumed by the company. Pricr to April 28, 2009, Praxair, Inc. granted equity awards under the 2002 Praxair, Inc. Long-Term
Incentive Plan , (“the 2002 Plan”) which was also assumed by the company upon completion of the business cambinaticn. The 2009 Plaa permits awards of
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and restricted stock units, performance-based stock units and other equity awards to eligible officer
and non-officer employees and non-employee directors of the company and its affiliates. As of December 31, 2019, 6,454,428 shares remained available for
equity grants under the 2009 Plan, of which 1,757,354 shares may be granted as awards other than optians or stock appreciation rights.

In 2005, the board of directors and shareholders of Praxair, Inc. adopted the 2005 Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors of Praxair,
Inc. ("the 2005 Plan"). Upont completion of the business combination in October 2018, the 2005 Plan was also assumed by the company. Under the 2005 Plan,
the aggregate number of shares available for option and other equity grants was limited to a total of 500,000 shares. The 2005 Plan expired on April 30, 2010,
by its own terms, and no shares were available for grant thereafter.

Upon the completion of the business combinatian, all options cutstanding under the 2009 Plan, the 2002 Pian and the 2005 Plan were converied into
options to acquire the same number of shares of the cormpany and «t the same exercise price per share that applied prior 1o the business combination.

Exercise prices for options granted under the 2009 Plan may not be less than the closing market price of the company’s ordinary shares on the date ot
grant and granted options may not be re-priced or exchanged witliout shareholder approval. Options granted under the 2009 Plan subject only to time vesting
requirements may become partially exercisable after a mimmum of one year after the date of grant but may not become fully exercisable until at least three
years have elapsed from the date of grant, and alt options have a maximum duration of ten years. Options granied under predecessor plans had similar terms.

In connection with the business combination, on October 31, 2018 the company's Board of Directors adopted the Long Term Incentive Plan 2018 of
Linde plc (“the LTIP 2018"), the purpose of which is to replace certain outstanding Linde AG cquity based awards that were terminated. Under the LTIP
2018, the aggregate number of shares available for replacement option rights and replacement restricted share units was set at 473,128. As of December 31,
2019, 260,794 shares remained available for grant, and since the company was obligated to make these replacement awards in 2019, it does not anticipate any
further grants under this plan.

Exercise prices for the replacement option rights that were granted in 2015 under the LTIP 2018 were equal to EUR 1.67 ($1.92 as converted at an
exchange rate from the dme the exchange offer was completed as the eption rights are exercisable in U.S. dollars on the NYSE) as prescribed in the business
combination agreement. Each replacement option right granted under the LTIP 2018 is subject to vesting hased on continued service until the end of the four-
year waiting period applicable to the relevant Linde AG award that had been granted before the business combination. After vesting, each option right will be
exercisable for one year.

In order to satisfy option exercises and other equity grants, the company may issue authorized but previously unissued shares or it may issue treasury
shares.

Stock Option Fair Value

The company utilizes the Black-Scholes Options-Pricing Model to determine the fair value of stock options consistent with that used in prior years.
Management is required to make cer1ain assumptions with respect to selected model inputs, including anticipated changes in the underlying stock price (i.e.,
expected vatatility) and option exercise activity (i.e., expected life). Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the company’s stock aver the
most recent period commensurate with the estimated expected life of the company’s stock options and other factors. The expected life of options granted,
which represents the period of time that the options are expected to be outstanding, is based primarily on histarical exercise experience. The expected
dividend yield is based on the company’s most recent history and expectation of dividend payouts. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve
in effect ar the time of grant for a period commensurate with the estimated expected Yife. If faciors change and result in different assumptions in future
periods, the stock opticn

112



Table on € onluny

expense that the company records for future grants may differ significantly from what the company has recorded in the cusrent period.

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2019 was $23.38 ($19.29 in 2018 and $12.40 in 2017) based on the Black-Scholes Options-
Pricing model. The increase in grant date fair value year-over-year is primarily attributable to the increase in the company's stock price. The weighted-average
fair value of replacement option rights granted in 2019 was $160.08 based on intrinsic value method.

The following weighted-average assumptions were used to value the grants in 2019, 2018 and 2017:

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Dividend yield 2.0% 2.1% 2.7%
Volatility 14.3% 14.4% 14.0%
Risk-free interest rate 2.38% 2.67% 2.13%
Expected term years 6 5 6

The following table summarizes option activity under the plans as of December 31, 2019 and changes during the period then ended (averages are
calculated on a weighted basis; life in years; intrinsic value expressed in millions):

Number of Average Average Aggregate
Options Exercise Remaining Tntrinsic

Activity (000°s) Price Life Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2019 10,624 % 117.65
Granted 1,486 157.14
Exercised (2,705) 103.87
Cancelled or expired (108) 158.17
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 T 9297 s 127.04 60 § 798
Exercisable at December 31, 2019 6306 § 117.26 50 % 603

The agpregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the company’s closing stock price of $212.90 as of December 31, 2019 and the exercise
price multiplied by the number of in the money options cutstanding as of that date. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during 2019 was 5219
million ($113 million and $137 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively}.

Cash received from option exercises under all share-based payment arrangements for 2019 was $64 million ($66 millien and $107 million in 2018 and
2017, respectively). The cash tax benefit realized from share-based compensation totaled $56 million for 2019 ($30 million and $51 million cash tax benefit
in 2018 and 2017, respectively).

As of December 31, 2019, $32 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of approximately 1 year.

Performance-Based and Restricted Stock Awards

In 2019, Linde granted 261,760 performance-based stock awards under the 2009 Plan to senior management that vest, subject to the attainment of pre-
established minimum perfermance criteria, principally on the third anniversary of their date of grant. These awards are tied to either after tax return on capital
{("ROC") performance or relative total shareholder return ("TSR") performance versus that of the S&P 500 (weighted 67%) and Ewrofirst 300 (weighted
33%). The actual number of shares issued in settlement of a vested award can range from zero to 200 percent of the target number of shares granted based
upon the company’s attainment of specified performance targets at the end of a three-year period. Compensation expense related to these awards is recognized
over the three-year performance period based on the fair value of the clesing market price of the company’s ordinary shares on the date of the grant and the
estimated performance that will be achieved. Compensation eapense for ROC awards will be adjusted during the three-year performance period based vpon
the estimated performance levels that will be achieved. TSR awards are measured at their grant date fair value and not subsequently re-measured.

The weighted-average fair value of ROC performance-based stock awards granted in 2019 was $168.47, and during 2017 was $109.68. These fair
values are based on the closing market price of Linde's ordinary shares on the grant daie adjusted for dividends that will not be paid during the vesting period.
There were no ROC performance-based stock awards granted in 2018,
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The weighted-average fair value of performance-based stock tied to relative TSR performance granted in 2019 was $215.85, and during 2017 was
$124.12, and was estimated using a Monte Carle simulation performed as of the grant date. There were no performance-based stock tied to relative TSR
performance granted in 2018,

Upon completion of the merger, each outstanding ROC and TSR performance-based award granted prior to 2018 was converted into a Linde RSU
based on performance achieved as of immediately prier to the closing of the merger, and became subject to service-vesting conditions only. This resulted in
the conversien of 435,000 performance-based shares inte 704,000 restricted stock units. Compensation expense related to these awards will continue to be
recognized over the remainder of the respective three-year service period.

There were 161,072 restricted stock units granted to employees by Linde during 2019. The weighted-average fair value of restricted stock units granted
during 2019 was $165.04 ($144.86 in 2018 and $111.95 in 2017). These fair values are based an the clasing market price of Linde's ardinary shares on the
grant date adjusted for dividends that will not be paid during the vesting period. Compensation expense related to the restricted stock units is recognized over
the vesting period.

The following table summarizes non-vested performance-based and restricted steck award activity as of December 31, 2019 and changes during the
period then ended (shares based on warget amounis, averages are calculated on a weighted basis):

Performance-Based Restricted Stock
Number of Average Number of Average

Shares Grant Date Shares Grant Date

{000°s) Fair Value (000's) Fair Value
Non-vested at January &, 2019 — % — 1,071 § 118.84
Granted 262 184,29 161 165.04
Vested — — (330) 107.10
Cancelled and Forfeited (16) 184.26 (18) 146.32
Non-vested at December 31, 2019 246 % 184.29 884 % 129.43

Thete are approximately 7 thousand performance-based shares and 11 thousand restricted stock shares that are non-vested at December 31, 2019 which
will be settled in cash due to foreign regulatory limitatons. The liability related to these grants reflects the current estimate of performance that will be
achieved and the current share price.

As of December 31, 2019, $23 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to performance-based awards and $21 million of unrecognized
compensaticn cost related to the restricted stock awards is expected to be recognized primarily through the first quarter of 2022,

NOTE 18. RETIREMENT PROGRAMS
Defined Benefit Pension Plans - U.S.

Linde has two main U.S. retirement programs which are non-contributory defined benefit plans: the Linde U.S. Pension Plan and the CBI Pension Plan.
The latter program benefits primarily former employees of CBI Industries, Inc. which Linde acquired in 1996, Effective July 1, 2002, the Linde U.S. Pension
Plan was amended to give participating employees a one-time choice to remain covered by the old formula or (o elect coverage under a new formula, The old
formula is based predominantly on years of service, age and compensation levels prier to retirement, while the new formula provides for an annual
contribution to an individual account which grows with interest each year at a predetermined rate. Also, this new formula applies to all new employees hired
after April 30, 2002 into businesses adopting this plan. The U.S. and international pension plan assets are comprised of a diversified mix of investments,
including domestic and international corporate equities, government securities and corporate debt securities. Linde has several plans that provide
supplementary retirement benefits primarily to higher level employees that are unfunded and are ronqualified for federal tax purposes. Pension coverage for
employees of certain of Linde’s international subsidiaries generally is provided by those companies through separate plans. Obligatiens under such plans are
primarily provided for through diversified investment portfolios, with same smaller plans provided for under insurance policies or by book reserves.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans - Infernational

Linde has international, defined benefit commitments primarily in Germany and the United Kingdom (U.K.). The defined benefit commitments in
Germany relate to old age pensions, invalidity pensions and surviving dependents pensions. These commitments also take into account vested rights for
periods of service prior to January 1, 2002 based on earlier final-salary pension plan rules. In addition, there are direct commitments in respect of the salary
conversion scheme for the form of cash balance plans. The resulting pension payments are calculaled on the basis of an interesi guarantee and the
performance of the corresponding investment. There are no minimum funding requirements. The pension obligations in Germany are pardy funded by a
Contractual Trust Agreement {(CTA). Defined benefit commitments in the U.K. prior to July 1, 2003 are earnings-related and dependent on the period of
service. Such commitments relate to old age pensions, invalidity pensions and surviving dependents pensions. Beginning in April 1, 2011, the amount of
future increases in inflation-linked pensions and of increases in pensionable emolumenis was restricted.

Multi-employer Pension Plans

In the United States Linde participates in eight multi-employer defined benefit pension plans {"MEPs"), pursuant to the terms of collective bargaining
agreements, that cover approximately 200 union-represented employees. The collective bargaining agreements expire on different dates through 2026. In
connection with such agreements, the company is required to make periodic contributions to the MEPs in accordance with the terms of the respective
collective bargaining agreements. Linde’s participation in these plans is not material either at the plan level or in the aggregate. Linde’s contributions ta these
plans were $2 million in 2018, 2018, and 2017 (these costs are not included in the tables thac follow). For all MEPs, Linde’s contributions were significantly
less than 1% of the total contributions to each plan for 2018 and 2017, Total 2019 contributions were not yet available from the MEPs.

Linde has obrained the most recendy available Pension Protectien Act ("PPA") annual funding notices from the Trustees of the MEPs. The PPA
classifies MEPs as either Red, Yellow or Green Zone plans. Among other factors, plans in the Red Zone are generally less than 65 percent funded with a
projected insolvency date within the next twenty years; plans in the Yellow Zone are generally 65 te 80 percent funded; and plans in the Green Zone are
generally at least 80 percent funded. Red Zone plans are considered to be in "critical” or “critical and declining” status, while Yellow Zone plans are
considered to be in "endangered” starus. Plans that are in neither "critical” nor “endangered” status are considered to have Green Zone status. Accarding to the
most recent data available, four of the MEPs that the company participates in are in a Red Zone status and four are in a Green Zone status. As of
December 31, 2019, the four Red Zone plans have pencing or have implemented financial improvement or rehabilitation plans. Linde does not currently
anticipate significant future obligations due to the funding status of these plans. If Linde determined it was probable that it would withdraw from an MEP, the
company would record a liability for its portion of the MEP's unfunded pension obligations, as calculated at that time, Historically, such withdrawal payments
have not been significant.



Defined Contribution Plans

Linde’s U.S. business emplayees are eligible to participate in the Linde defined contribution savings plan. Employees may contribute up to 40% of their
compensation, subject to the maximum allowable by IRS regulations. For the U.S. packaged gases business, company contributiens to this plan are calculated
as a perrentage nf salary hased on age plus service. U.S. employees other than those in the packaged gases business have company contributions to this plan
calculated on a graduated scale based on employee contributions to the plan. The cost for these defined contribution plans was $47 million in 2019, $33
millton in 2018 and $29 million in 2017 {these costs are not included in the tables that follow).

The defined contribution plans include a non-leveraged employee stock ownership plan ("ESOP") which covers all employees participating in this plan.
The collective number of shares of Linde ordinary shares in the ESOP totaled 2,070,100 at December 31, 2019,

Certain international subsidiaries of the company also sponsor defined contribution plans where contributions are determined under various formulas.
The expense for these plans was $95 million in 2019, $32 million in 2018 and $21 million in 2017 (these expenses are not included in the tables that follow).

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB)

Linde provides health care and life insurance benefits to certain eligible retired empioyees. These benefits are provided through various insurance
companies and healthcare providers. The company does not currently fund its postretirement benefits obligadons. Linde’s retiree plans may be changed or
terminated by Linde at any tine for any reason with no liability to current or future retirees.

Linde uses a measurement date of December 31 for its pension and other post-retirement benefit plans.
Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs

The components of net pension and postretirement benefits other than pension ("OPEB") costs for 2019, 2018 and 2017 are shown in the table below
(2018 reflects the impact of the Linde AG merger on October 31, 2018 (see Notes 1 and 3) and the divestiture of Praxair’s European industrial gases business
on December 3, 2018 (sec Notes 1 and 4)):

Pensions OPEB

(Millions of doflars)
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017

Amount recognized in Operating Profit

Service cost $ 142§ 74 % 46 % 2 % 2 8 3

Amount recognized in Net pension and OPEB cost
(benefit), excluding service cost

Interest cost 261 128 t03 7 5 5
Expected return on plan assets (462) (219} {i61) — —_— —
Net amartization and deferral 61 71 68 {4) (1] 3)
Curtailmem and termination benefits (a) 8 — — — — (18)
Setilement charges (b) 97 14 2 — — —
$ @35 % 6y § 12 3 3 3 2% (16)

Amaowunt recognized in Net gain on sale of businesses
Senlement gains from divestitures (¢) — (44} — — —_ -
Ne1 periodic benefit cost (benefit) $ 107§ 24 3% 58 % 5 % 4 § (13}

(a) In 2019, Linde recorded curtailment gains of $9 million and a charge of $17 million for termination benefits, primarily in connection with a defined
benefit pension plan freeze. The curtailment gain recorded during the year ended December 31, 2017 resulted from the termination of an OPEB plan in South
America in the firsl quarter.

(b) In the third and fourth quarters of 2019, Linde recorded pensicn settlement charges of $40 million and $6 million, respectively, related 10 lump sum
payments made from a U.S, qualified plan. These payments were triggered by merger-related divestitures. In the first quarter of 2019, benefits of $91 million
were paid related to the settlement of a U.S. non-qualified plan, Such benefits were triggered by a change in control provision and resulted in a settlement
charge of $51 million.

2018 includes the impact of a $4 million charge and a $10 million charge recorded in the third and fourth quarters, respectively. In the third quarter, a series of
lump sum benefit payments made from the U.S. supplemental pension plan triggered a settlement of the related pensicn obligaticn. In the fourth quarter, a
change in control provision triggered the settlement of a U.S. non-qualified plan.

2017 includes the impact of a $2 million charge related to a series of lump sum benefit payments for empleyees under an international pension plan.

(c) In connection with Praxair merger-related divestitures, primarily the Eurepean industrial gases business, certain European pension plan obligations were
settted, This resulted in the recognition of associated pension benefit obligations and deferred losses in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
within operating profit in the "Net gain on sale of businesses"” line item.
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Funded Status

Changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets for Linde’s pension and OPEB programs, including reconciliation of the funded status of the plans to
amounts recorded in the consalidated balance sheet, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are shown below.
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[Millions of dollars)
Year Ended December 31,

Change in Benefit Obligation ("PBO")
Benefit obligation, January 1
Merger impact (a)
Service cost
Interest cost
Divestitures (b)
Parti¢ ipant contributions
Plan amendment
Actuarial nss {gain)
Benefits paid
Plan settlement
Plan curtailment
Foreign currency translation and other
changes
Benefit obligation, December 31
Accumulated benefit ohligation ("ABU™)
Change in Plan Assets
Tair value of plan assets, January 1
Merger impact (a)
Actual return on plan assets
Campany contributions
Benefits paid from plan assets
Dhivestitures (b}

Foreign currency translation and other
changes

Fair value of plan assets, December 31
Funded Status, End of Year
Recorded in the Balance Sheei (Note 3)
Other long-term assets
Other current liabilities
(hher long-term liabilities
Net amount recognized, December 31

Amounts recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) consist of:

Net actuarial loss (gain)
Prior service cost (credit}
Deferred tax benefit (Note 7)

Amount recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) (Note 9)

Pensions
2019 2018 OPEE
U.S. International U.s. International 2019 2018

2,508 % 7533 % 2215 % 725 % 184 146
— 415 6,520 — 53
38 104 42 32 2 2

81 180 74 54 5
1 — — (106) — —

— 20 4 8 9
— 13 — 1 — —
266 1,045 (100) 7 8 (1
{105) (333) (111) (B4) (20) (19)
(235) — (27) — — —
— @ — — 2 —
— 136 — (20 1 o))
2552 § 8689 3§ 2508 § 7533 % 192 184

2464 § 8,553 2428 § 7,185

1,952 & 6,292 § 1,655 % 967 % — —_
— — 475 5,880 _— —
341 595 72) {88 — —
-— 94 —_ 75 —_ —_
(244) (268) (106) (69) — —
n — — (49) — —

— 172 — {24) — —
2048 % 6888 % 1952 % 6292 % — —
(504 % (L801) & {(556) § (1.241) % (192) (184}
— % 7 3 47 8 93 % — —
©) (10) (94) (10) (a (13)
{498) (1,869) (509) (1,324) {181 (171)
GM) $ (1,801) % (556) % (1241} $ (192) (184)
753 8 1,110 % 834 % 339 0§ (10) (23)
— 4 — 10 4) (5)
(1900 (251) (212) {87} 3) 7
563 % 863 § 622 3 262§ (19) (21}
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(a) Represents Linde AG plan assets and benefit obligations assumed as part of the merger. Such plan assets and benefit obligaticns were remeasured as of the

merger date and all subsequent activity through December 31, 2018 is presented within the respective capticns above.

(b) Represents plan assets and benefit obligations associated with the divestiture of the majority of the Praxair industrial gases business in Europe.

Comparative funded status information as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 for select internarional pension plans is presented in the table below as the benefit

obligations of these plans are considered to be significant relative to the tatal benefit obligation:

(Millions of doltars)

Benefit obligation, December 31

Fair value of plan assets, December 31
Funded Status, End of Year

(Millions of dollars)
Benefit obligation, December 31
Fair value ot plan assats, December 31

Funded Status, End of Year

Other
United Kingdom Germany International Total International
2019 2019 2019 2019
5221 % 2,180 $ 1,288 3% 8,689
4,777 1,119 992 6,888
(444 (LO61) $ 296) $ (1,801)
Other
United Kingdom Germany International Total International
2018 2018 2018 2018
4444 3 1916 % 1473 0% 7,533
4,339 1.043 910 6,292
(105} % ®73) 3 (263) % (1,241)

The changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income in 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Pensions OPEB
(Millions of dollars) 201% 2018 2019 20138
Current year net actuarial losses (gains)* 834 % 26 % 8 % (1
Amortization of net actuarial gains (losses) (59) (70} 3 2
Divestimres — (12) e —
Flan amendmuent () — — .
Amortization of prior service credils {(Cusis) 2) 1 1 1
Pension sertlements 97 (14) — _
Curtailments — — 2 _
Forelgn currency translation and other changes 12 (16) — ]
Toral recognized in other comprehensive income 684§ 173 0% 14 % N
* Pension net actuarial losses in 201% are largely driven by lower discount rates across all significant penston plans. In the U.S., the benefit from the

actual return on assets more than offset the impacts of unfavorable liability experience, resulting from the low discount rate envirnnment. For the
international plans, the unfavorable impact of lower discount rates putweighed favorable plan asset experience. Pension net actuarial losses in 2018
are driven by lower U.S. discount rates, which mare than offset favarable plan asset experience. OPEB net actuaria! losses in 2019 relate to the low
interest rate environment, which was partially offset by favorable actual benefit payment experience. Net actuarial gains in 2018 relate to the benefits

frem higher U.S. discount rates and favorable actual participant experience.

The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) that are expected to be recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost during

2020 arc as follows:

(Milions of dotiars)
Net actuarial loss (gain)

Prior service cost {credit)

Pension OPEB
S 88 § (2)
2 n
$ 90 % 3
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The fellowing table provides information for pensicn plans where the accumulated benefit obligation exceeds the fair value of the plan assets:

Pensions
(Milions of dollars) 2015 2018
Year Ended December 31, U.S. International U.S. International
Praojected benefit obligation ("PBO™) $ 2552 % 7,768 % 2,13 % 6,681
Accumulated benefit obligation ("ABO™) $ 2,464 % 7664 % 2,060 % 6,586
Fair value of plan assets % 2,048 § 5849 % 1,482 § 5,307
Assumptions

The assumptions used to determine benefir obligations are as cf the respective balance sheet dates and the assumptions
used to determine net benefit cost are as of the previous year-end, as shown below:

Pensions
u.s. International OPEB
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Weighted average assumprions used 1o determine
benefit obligations at December 31,
Discount rate 3.20% 4.20% 1.91% 2.72% 3.19% 4.16%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.25% 3.25% 2.46% 2.38% N/A N/A
Weighted average assumptions used to determine net
periadic benefit cost for vears ended December 31,
Discount rate 4,20% 3.73% 272% 2.73% 4.16% 3.81%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.25% 3.25% 2.38% 2.45% N/ N/A
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets (1) 7.27% 7.62% 5.15% 5.13% N/A N/A
(1) The expected long term rate of return on the U.S. and international plan assets is estimated based on the plans’ investment strategy and asset

allocation, historical capital market performance and, to a lesser extent, historical plan performance. For the U.S. plans, the expected rate of return of
7.27% was derived based on the target asset allocarion of 40%-60% equity securities (approximately B.5% expected return), 30%-50% fixed income
securities (approximately 5.3% expected return) and 5%-15% alternative investments (approximately 6.8% expected return). For the international
plans, the expected rate of return was derived based on the weighted average target asset allocation of 15%-25% equity securities (approximately
6.1% expected return), 30%-50% fixed income securities (approximately 4.8% expected return), and 30%-50% alternative investments
(approximately 5.2% expected return). For the U.S. plan assets, the actual annualized total return for the most recent 10-year period ended December
31, 2019 was approximately 9.2%. Fer the international plan assets, the actual annualized total return for the same period was approximately 7.0%.
Changes to plan asset allocations aad investment strategy over this time period limit the value of historical plan performance as factor in estimating
the expected long term rate of return. For 2020, the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets will be 7.00% for the U.S, plans, Expected

weighted average returns for international plans will vary.
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OPEB
Assumed healtheare cost trend races 2019 2018
Historical Praxair, Inc. plans
Healihcare cost trend assumed 7.00% 6.25%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend yate) 5.00% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2027 2023
Histericol Linde AG plans
Healthcare cost trend assumet] 549% 5.49%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate wend rate) 4.50% 4.50%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2038 2038

These healthcare cost trend rate assumptions have an impact on the amaunts reported. However, cost caps limit the impact on the net OPEB benefit cost
in the U.S. To illustrate the effect, a one-percentage point change in assumed healthcase
cost trend rates would have the following effects:

One-Percentage Point

(Millions of dollars) Increase Decrease
Effect on the total of service and interest cnst components of net OPEB benefit cost 3 - % —
Etfect on GPER benefit obligation 3 7 % ®)

Pension Plan Assets

The invesunents of the U.S. pension plan are managed to meet the future expected benefit liabilities of the plan over the long term by investing in
diversified portfolios consistent with prudent diversification and historical and expected capital market returns. Investment strategies are reviewed by
management and investment performance is tracked against approptiate benchmarks, There are no concentrations of risk as it relates to the assets within the
plans. The internaticnal pension plans are managed individually based on diversified investment portfolios, with different target asset allocations that vary for
each plan. Linde’s U.S. and international pensicn plans’ weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the target asset allocation
range for 2019, by major asset category, are as follows:

U.s. International
Asset Category Target 2019 Target 2018 2019 2018 Target 2019 Target 2018 219 2018
Equity securities 40%-60% 40%-60% 55% 48% 15%-25% 15%-25% 23% 20%
Fixed income securities 30%-50% 30%-50% 30% 40% 30%-50% 30%-50% 41% 46%
Other 5%-15% 5%-15% 15% 13% 30%-50% 30%-40% 36% 34%
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The following table summarizes pension assets measured at fair value by asset category at December 31, 2019 and 2018. During the years presented,
there has been no ransfer of assets between Levels 1, 2 and 3 (see Note 15 for definition of the levels):

Fair Value Measurements Using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 ** Total
(Millions of doflars} 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Cash and cash equivalents $ 436 $ 348 3 — 3 —  § — 5 — % 436 $ g
Equity securities:
Global equities 1,395 1,131 —_ — — — 1,395 1,131
Mutual funds 1o 74 52 43 — — 162 17
Fixed income securities:
Government bonds — — 1,642 1,772 — — 1,642 1,772
Emerging market debi —_ —_ 459 522 — —_ 459 522
Muwal funds 225 109 14 21 — — 239 130
Corporate bonds — — 401 382 — — 401 382
Bank lcans — — 210 313 — — 210 313
Alternative investmenis:
Real estate funds — — — - 316 298 316 298
Private debt —_ —_ —_ — 1,003 671 1,003 671
Other investments — — 33 33 — — 33 33
Liquid alternative — — 1,087 1,192 —_ —_ 1,087 1,192
Total plan assets at fair value,
December 31, $ 2166 § 1662 $ 3898 $ 4278 § 1319 3 569 3§ 7383 3 6909
Pocled funds * 1,553 1,335
Total fair value plan assets
December 31, $ 8936 3§ 8244

* Pooled funds are measured using the net asset value ("NAV™) as a practical expedient for fair value as permissible under the accounting standard for fair
value measurements and have not been categorized in the fair value hierarchy.

** The following table summarizes changes in fair value of the pension plan assets classified as level 3 for the periods ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Insurance Real Estate

(Millions of dellars) Contracts Funds Private Debe Total

Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 50 % 158 % — % 208
Assumed in Linde NG merger — 148 667 815
Gain/{Loss} for the period — 9 4 i3
Merger-related divestitures (49) — — (49)
Sales — (17 — (17)
Foreign currency translation m — — {1
Balance, December 31, 2018 $ — 8 298 §$ 67t § 469
Gain/(Loss) for the period — 24 30 54
Acquisitions —_ — 14 14
Purchases — 26 304 330
Sales — (22) (33) (55)
Transfer into / (out of) Level 3 — {10) — (1)
Foreign currency translation — — 17 17
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ — 5 316 $ 1,003 § 1,319

The descriptions and fair value methodologies for the company's pension plan assets are as follows:
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Cash and Cash Equivalents — This category includes cash and short-term interest bearing investnents with maturities of three months or less.
Investments are valued at cost plus accrued interest. Cash and cash equivalents are classified within level 1 of the valuation hierarchy.

Equity Securities — This category is comprised of shares of comman stock in U.S. and international campanies from a diverse set of industries and size,
Common stock is valued at the closing market price reported on a U.S. or international exchange where the security is actively maded, Equity securities are
classified within level 1 of the valuation hierarchy.

Mutual Funds — These categories consist of publicly and privately managed funds that invest primarily in marketable equity and fixed income
securities. The fair value of these investments is determined by reference to the net asset value of the underlying securities of the fund. Shares of publicly
traded mutual funds are valued at the net asset value quoted on the exchange where the fund is traded and are primarily classified as level 1 within the
valuvation hierarchy.

U.S. and International Government Bonds — This category includes U.S. weasuries, U.S. federal agency obligations and international government debt.
The majority of these investments do not have quoted market prices available for a specific government secwity and so the fair value is determined using
quoted prices of similar securities in active markets and is classified as level 2 within the valuation hierarchy.

Corporate Bonds — This categoery is comprised of corporate bords of U.S. and international companies from a diverse set of industries and size. The fair
values for 1.5, and intemational ¢orporate bonds are determined using quoted prices of similar securities in active markets and observable data or broker or
dealer quotations. The fair values for these investments are classified as level 2 within the valuation hierarchy.

Pooled Funds - Paoled fund NAVs are provided by the irustee and are determined by reference to the fair value of the underlying securities of the trust,
less its liabilities, which are vatued primarily through the use of directy or indirectly observable inputs. Depending an the pooled fund, underlying securities
may include marketable eguity securites or fixed income securities,

Bank Loans - This category is comprised of traded syndicated loans of larger corporate borrowers. Such loans are tssued by sub-investment grade rated
companies both in the U.S. and internationally and are syndicated by investment banks to institutional investors. They are regularly traded in an active deater
market comprised of large investment banks, which supply bid and offer quotes and are therefore classified within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

Liquid Alternative Investments - This category is comprised of investments in alternative mutual funds whose holdings include liquid securities, cash,
and derivatives. Such funds focus on diversification and employ a variety of investing strategies including long/short equity, muld-srrategy, and global macro.
The tair value of these investments is determined by reference to the net asset value of the underlying holdings of the fund, which can be determined using
observable data (e.g., indices, vield curves, quoted prices of similar securities), and is classified within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

Insurance Contracts — The fair value of insurance contracts is determined based on the cash surrender value of the insurance contract, which is
determined based on such factors as the fair value of the underlying assets and discounted cash flows. These coatracts are with highly rated insurance
companies. Insurance contracts are classified within level 3 of the valwation hierarchy,

Real Estate Funds — This categary includes real estate properties, partnership equities and investments in operating companies. The fair value of the
assets is determined using discounted cash flows by estimating an income stream for the property plus a reversion into a present value at a risk adjusted rate,
Yield rates and growth assumptions utitized are derived from market ransactions as well as other financial and industry data. The fair value for these
investments are classified within level 3 of the valvation hierarchy.

Private Debt - This category includes non-traded, privately-arranged loans between one or a small group of private debt investment managers and
corporate borrowers, which are typically too small to access the syndicated market and have no credit rating. This category also includes similar oans to real
estate companies or individual properties. Loans included in this categary are valued at par value, are held to maturity or ta call, and are classified within level
3 of the valuation hierarchy.

Contributions

At a minimum, Linde contributes to its pension plans to comply with local regulatory requirements (e.g., ERISA in the United Siates). Discretionary
contributions in excess of the local minimun requirements are made based on many factors, including long-term projections of the plans’ funded status, the
economic environment, potential risk of overfunding, pension insurance costs and alternative uses of the cash. Changes to these factors can impact the timing
of discretionary contributions from year to year, Pension contributions were $94 million in 2019, $87 million in 2018 and $19 million in 2017. Estimated
required contributions for 2020 are currently expected to be in the range of $50 million 10 $80 million.
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following table presents estimated future benefit payments, net of participant contibutions:

{Millions of dollars)

Pensions

Year Ended December 31, .S,

2020 3
2021

2022

2023

2024

2025-2029
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187
143
164
147
149
760

31
323
335
342
352
879

15
14
14
14
12
55
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NOTE 19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The company accrues non income-tax liabilities for contingencies when management believes that a loss is probable and the amounts can be reasonably
estimated, while contingent gains are recognized only when realized. In the event any losses are sustained in excess of accruals, they will be charged against
income at that time. Attormey fees are recorded as incurred. Commitments represent obligations, such as those for future purchases of goods or services, that
are not yet recorded on the company’s balance sheet as liabilities. The company records liabilidies for commitments when incurred (i.e., when the goods or
services are received).

Contingent Liabilities

Linde is subject to various lawsuits and government investigations that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of business. These actions are
based upon alleged envircnmental, tax, anritrust and personal injury claims, among others. Linde has strong defenses in these cases and intends to defend
itself vigorously. It is possible that the company may incur losses in connection with some of these actions in excess of accrued liabilities. Management does
not anticipate that in the aggregate such losses would have a materiai adverse effect on the company’s consolidated financial position or liquidity; however, it
is possible that the final outcomes could have a significant impact on the company’s reported results of operations in any given period.

Significant matters are:

. During May 2009, the Brazilian government published Law 11941/2009 instituting a new voluntary ammesty program {“Refis Program™) which
allowed Brazilian companies to settle certain federal tax disputes at reduced amounts. During the 2009 third quarter, the company decided that it
was economically beneficial o setde many of its outstanding, federal 1ax disputes and such disputes were enrolled in the Refis Program, subject
to final calcelation and review by the Brazilian federal government. The company recorded estimated liabilities based on the terms of the Refis
Program. Since 2009, Linde has been unable to reach final agreement on the calculations and initiated litigation against the government in an
attempt to resolve certain items. Open issues relate to the following matters: (i) application of cash deposits and net operating loss carryforwards
to satisfy obligations and (ii) the amount of tax reductions avaiiable under the Refis Program. It is difficult to estimate the timing of resolution of
legal matters in Brazil.

. At December 31, 2019 the most significant non-income and income tax claims in Brazil, after enroltment in the Refis Program, relate 1o state
VAT tax matters and a federal income tax matter where the taxing authorities are challenging the tax rate that should be applied to income
generated by a subsidiary company. The total estimated exposure relating to such claims, including interest and penalties, as appropriate, is
approximately $260 million. Linde has not recorded any liabilitics related to such claims based or management judgments, afier considering
judgments and opinions of outside counsel. Because litigation in Brazi! historically takes many years to resolve, it is very difficult to estimate
the timing of resolution of these matters; however, it is possible that certain of these matters may be resolved within the near term. The company
is vigorously defending against the proceedings.

. On September 1, 2010, CADE (Brazilian Administrative Council for Economic Defense) announced alleged anticompetitive activity on the part
of five industrial gas companies in Brazil and impaosed fines. Originally, CADE imposed a civil fine of R$2.2 billion Brazilian reais ($546
million) oa White Martins, the Brazil-based subsidiary of Praxair, Inc. The fine was reduced to R$1.7 biltion Brazilian reais ($422 million} due
to a calculation error made by CADE. On September 14, 2015, the fine against White Martins was overtumed by the Ninth Federal Court of
Brasilia. CADE appealed this decision on June 30, 2016.

Similarly, on September 1, 2010, CADE imposed a civil fine of R$237 million Brazilian reais ($59 miilion) on Linde Gases Lida., the former
Brazil-based subsidiary of Linde AG, which was divested to MG Industries GmbH on March 1, 2019 and with respect to which Linde provided
a contractual indemnity. The fine was reduced to R$188 million Brazilian reais (347 million) due to a calculation error made by CADE. On May
6, 2014 the fine against Linde Gases Ltda. was everturned by the Seventh Federal Court in Brasilia. CADE appealed this decision on October
27, 2016.

Linde has strong defenses and is confident that it will prevail on appeal and have the fines overturned, Linde strongly believes that the
allegations of anticompetitive activity against our current and former Brazilian subsidiaries are not supported by valid and sufficient evidence.
Linde believes that this decision will not stand up to judicial review and deems the possibility of cash cutflows to be exremely unlikely. As a
zesult, no reserves have been recorded as management does not believe that a loss from this case is probable.
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. On and after April 23, 2019 former shareholders of Linde AG filed appraisal proceedings at the District Court (Landgericht) Munich I
(Germany), seeking an increase of the cash consideration paid in connection with the previously completed cash merger squeeze-out of alt of
Linde AG’s minority shareholders for €189.46 per share. Any such increase would apply to all 14,763,113 Linde AG shares that were
outstanding on April 8, 2019, when the cash merger squeeze-out was completed. The period for plaintiffs to file claims expired on July 9, 2019.
The company believes the consideration paid was fair and that the claims lack metit, and no reserve has been established. We cannot estimate
the timing of resolution.

Commitments

At December 31, 2019, Linde had undrawn outstanding letters of credit, bank guarantees and surety bonds valued at approximately $3,276 million from
financial institutions. These relate primarily to customer contract performance guarantees (including plant construction in connection with certain on-site
contracts), self-insurance claims and other commercial and gevernmental requirements, including foreign litigation matters,

Other commitments related to leases, tax liabilities for uncertain tax positions, long-term debt, other post retirernent and pension obligations are
summarized elsewhere in the financial statements (see Notes 6, 7, 13, and 18).
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NOTE 20. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Effective October 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG completed the previously announced merger, resulting in the formation of Linde plc (see Note 1
for addiricnal information on the merger). As a result of the merger and effective with the lifting of the hold separate order effective on March 1, 2019, new
operating segments were created which are used by the company's Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") to allocate company resources and assess
performance. Linde’s operatiens cansist of two major product lines: industrial gases and engineering. As further described in the following paragraph, Linde’s
industrial gases operations are managed on a geographic basis, which represent three of the company's new reponable segments - Americas, EMEA
(Europe/Middle East/Africa), and APAC (Asia/South Pacific); a fourth reportable segment which represents the company's Engineering business, desigrs and
manufactures equipment for air separation and other industrial gas applications specifically for end customers and is managed on a worldwide basis operating
in all three geographic segments. Other consists of carporate costs gnd a few smaller businesses which individually do not meet the quantitative thresholds for
separate presentation,

The industrial gases product line centers on the manufacturing and distribution of atmospheric gases (oxygen, nitrogen, argon, rare gases) and
process gases {carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen, electronic gases, specialty gases, acetylene). Many of these products are co-products of the same
mduulacturing process. Linde manufactures and distributes nearly all of its products and manages 1is customer relationships on a regional basis. Linde’s
industrial gases are distributed to various end-markets within a regional segment through one of three basic distribution methods: an-site or tonnage; merchant
or bulk; and packaged or cylinder gases. The distribution metheds are generally integrated in order to best meet the customer’s needs and very few of its
products can be economirally transported outside of a region. Therefore, the distribution economics are specific to the various geographies in which the
company operates and are consistent with how management assesses performance.

The company’s measure of profit/loss for segment reporting purposes remains unchanged - Segment aperating profit. Segment operating profit is
defined as operating profit excluding purchase accounting impacts of the Linde AG merger, intercompany royalties, and items net indicative of ongoing
business trends. This is the manner in which the company’s CODM assesses performance and allocates resources. Similarly, total assets have not been
included as this is not provided ta the CODM for their assessment. For a description of Linde's previous aperating segments, refer to Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements of Linde's 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The table below presents information about reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017. The year ended December 31,
2019 reflects the results of bath Praxair and Linde AG for the entire year. The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year
and the results of Linde AG for the period beginning afler October 31, 2018 (the merger date), including the impacis of purchase accounting (See Notes 1, 3
and 4 to the consolidated finzncial statements). The historical periods prior to 2018 reflect the results of Praxair. Pricr periods presented have been recast to be
consistent with the new segment structure;

(Millions of doltars} 2019 2018 2mn7

Sales (a)

Americas k3 10,993 & g.017 % 7,204

EMEA 6,643 2,644 1,520

APAC 5,839 2,446 1,571

Engineering 2,799 459 N/A

Other 1,954 1,270 1,063
Total Sales $ 28,228 % 14836 & 11,358
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Operating Profit

Americas

EMEA

APAC

Engineering

Other
Segment operating profit

Cost reduction programs and other charges

Net gain on sale of business

Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG
Total operating profit

Depreciation and Amortization

Americas

EMEA

APAC

Engineering

Other
Segment depreciation and amortization

Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG
Total depreciation and amortization

Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions
Aumericas

EMEA

APAC

Engineering

Other

Total Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions

Sales by Major Country
United States
Germany
China
United Kingdom
Australia
Brazil
Other - foreign
Total Sales by Major Country
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2019 2018 2017
2,578 2,053 1,854
1,367 481 317
1,198 465 329
390 14 N/A
{245) (37) @
5,288 2,976 2,496
{567) (309) (52)
164 3,294 N/A
(1,952) (714) N¢A
2,933 5,247 2,444
2019 2018 2017
1,195 860 778
749 269 168
613 271 178
35 5 N/A
143 79 60
2,735 1,484 1,184
1,940 346 N/A
4,675 1,830 1,184
2019 2018 2017
1,314 1,068 921
738 329 141
1,231 372 207
79 27 N/A
45 112 75
3,907 1,908 1,344
2019 2018 2017
8,604 5,942 4,973
3,630 868 401
2,005 1,032 735
1,653 398 131
1,127 183 N/A
994 1,003 1,100
10,215 5,410 4,018
28,228 14,836 11,358
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2019 2018 2017
Long-lived Assets by Major Country (b)
United States $ 7498 § 7,189 $ 4,979
Germany 2,429 2,411 413
China 2,254 2,237 1,060
United Kingdom 1,479 1,582 55
Australia 1,214 1,476 N/A
Brazil 956 1,012 1,204
Other - foreign 13,234 13,810 4,114
Total long-lived assets $ 29,064 $ 29,717 % 11,825
(a) Sales reflect external sales only and include Linde AG sales from the merger date of October 31, 2018 forward. Intersegment sales, primarily from
Engineering to the industrial gases segments, wete not material.
(b Long-lived assets include property, plant and equipment - net and reflect the impact of the merger with Linde AG (refer to Note 3).
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21. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is accounted for in accordance with ASC 606. Revenuve is recognized as cantrol of goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that
retlects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for the goods or services.

Contracts with Customers

Approximately 83% of Linde's consolidated sales are generated from industrial gases and related products in three geographic segments (Americas,
EMEA, and APAC) and the remaining 17% is related primarily to the Engineering segment, and to a lesser extent Other (see Note 20 for operating segment
details). Linde serves a diverse group of indusuies induding healthcare, energy, manufacuring, food, beverage carbonation, fiber-optics, steel making,
aerospace, chemicals and water treatiment.

Industrial Gases

Within each of the company’s geographic segments for industrial gases, there are three basic distribution methods: (i) on-site or tonnage; (ii) merchant or bulk
liquid; and (iii) packaged ct cylinder gases. The distribution method used by Linde to supply a customer is determined by many factors, including the
customer’s volume requirements and location. The distribution method generally determines the contract terms with the customer and, accordingly, the
revenue recognition accounting practices. Linde's primary products in its industrial gases business are atmospheric gases (nxygen, nitrogen, argon, rare gases)
and process gases (carbon dioxide, helivm, hydrogen, electronic gases, specialty gases, acetylene). These products are generally sold through one of the three
distribution methods.

Following is a description of each of the three industrial gases distribution methods and the respective revenue recognition policies:

On-site. Customers that require the largest volumes of product and that have a relatively constant demand pattern are supplied by cryogenic and process gas
an-site plants. Linde constructs plants on or adjacent to these customers” sites and supplies the product directly to customers by pipeline. Where there are
large concentrations of customers, a single pipeline may be connected to several plants and custemers. On-site product supply contracts generally are total
requirement contracts with terms typically ranging from 10-20 years and contain minimum purchase requirements and price escalation provisions. Many of
the cryogenic on-site plants also produce liquid products for the merchant market. Therefore, plants are typically not dedicated to a single customer.
Additionally, Linde is responsible for the design, construction, operations and maintenance of the plants and our customers typically have no involvement in
these activities. Advanced air separation processes also allow on-site delivery to customers with smaller volume requirements,

The company’s performance obligations related to on-site customers are satisfied over time as customers receive and obtain control of the product. Linde has
elected to apply the practical expedient for measuring progress towards the completion of a performance obligation and recognizes revenue as the company
has the right to invoice each customer, which generally comresponds with product delivery. Accordingly, revenue is recognized when product is delivered to
the customer and the company has the right to invoice the customer in accordance with the contract terms. Consideration io these contracts is generally based
on pricing which fluctuates with various price indices. Variable components of consideration exist within on-site contracts but are considered constrained.

Merchant. Merchant deliveries generally are made from Linde's plants by tanker trucks to storage containers at the customer's site. Due to the relatively high
distribution cost, merchant oxygen and nitrogen generally have a relatively small distribution radius from the plants at which they are produced. Merchant
argon, hydrogen and helium can be shipped much longer distances. The customer agreements used in the merchant business are usually three to seven year
supply agreements based on the requirements of the customer. These contracts generally do not contain minimum purchase requirements or volume
commitments.

The company’s performance obligations related to merchant customers are generally satisfied at a point in time as the customers receive and obtain control of
the preduct. Revenue is recognized when product is delivered to the customer and the company has the right to inveice the customer in accordance with the
contract terms. Any variable components of consideration within merchant contracts are constrained however this consideration is net significant.

Packaged Gases. Customers requiring small volumes are supplied products in containers called cylinders, under medium to high pressure. Linde distributes
merchant gases from its production plants to company-owned cylinder filling plants where cylinders are then filled for distribution to customers. Cylinders
may be delivered to the customer’s site or picked up by the customer at a packaging facility or retail store. Linde invoices the customer for the industrial gases
and the use of the cylinder container(s). The company also setls hardgoods and welding equipment purchased from independent manufacturers. Packaged
gases are generally sold under one to three-year supply contracts and purchase orders and do not contain minimum purchase requirements or volume
commitments.
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The company’s performance obligations related to packaged gases are satisfied at a point in time. Accordingly, revenue is recognized when product is
delivered to the customer or when the customer picks up product from a packaged gas facility or retail store, and the company has the right to payment from
the customer in accordance with the contract terms. Any variable consideration is constrained and wilk be recognized when the uncertainty related to the
consideration is resolved.

Linde Engineering

The company designs and manufactures equipment for air separation and other industrial gas applications manufactured specifically for end customers. Sale
of equipment contracis are generally camprised of a single performance abligation. Revenue from sale of equipment is generally recognized over time as
Linde has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date and performance does not create an asset with alternative use. For contracts
recognized over time, revenue is recognized primarily using a cost incurred input methed. Costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion
are used 10 measure progress toward satisfying performance obligations. Costs incurred include material, labor, and overhead costs and represent work
contributing and proportionate to the transfer of control to the customer. Contract medifications are typically accounted for as part of the existing contract and
are recognized as a cumulative adjustment for the inception-to-date effect of such change.

Contract Assets and Liabilities

Contract assets and lahilities result from differences in timing of revenue recognition and customer invoicing. Contract assets primarily relate to sale of
equipment contracts for which revenue is recognized cver time. The balance represents unbilled revenue which accurs when revenue recognized under the
measure of progress exceeds amounts invoiced to custemers, Customer invoices may be based on the passage of time, the achievement of certain contractual
milestones or a combination of both criteria. Conrract liabilities include advance payments or right to consideration prior to performance under the contract.
Conract liabilities are recognized as revenue as performance obligations are satisfied under contract terms. Linde has contract assets of $368 million at
December 31, 2019. Total contract liabilities are $2,106 million at December 31, 2619 (cucrent of $1,758 million and $348 millien within other long-term
liabilities in the consglidated balance sheets). Total contract liabilities were $1,934 million at December 31, 2018 (current contract liabilities of $1,546
million, $234 million classified as deferred income within other current liabilities and $154 millien in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheets). Revenue recegnized for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 that was included in the contract liability at December 31, 2018 was $1,168
million. Contract assets and liabilities primarily relate to the Linde Engineering business acquired in the merger. The industrial gases business does not
typically have material contract assets or liabilities.

Payment Terms and Other

Linde generally receives payment after performance obligations are satisfied, and customer prepayments are not typical for the industrial gases business.
Payment terms vary based on the country where sales originate and local customary payment practices. Linde does not offer extended financing outside of
customary payment terms. Amounts billed for sales and use taxes, value-added taxes, and certain excise and other specific transactional taxes imposed on
revenue producing transacticns are presented on a net basis and are not included in sales within the consolidated statement of income. Additionally, sales
returns and allowances are not a normal practice in the industry and are not significant.

Disaggregated Revenue Information

As described above and in Note 20, the company manages its industrial gases business on a geographic basis, while the Engineering and Other businesses are
generally managed on a global basis. Furthermore, the company believes that reporting sales by distribution method by reportable geographic segment best
illustrates the nature, timing, type of customer, and contract terms for its revenues, including terms and pricing.

The follewing tables show sales by distribution method at the consolidated level and for each reportable segment and Other for the years ended December 21,
2019 and 2018. The year ended December 31, 2019 reflects the results of both Praxair and Linde AG for the entire year. The year ended December 31, 2018
reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year and the results of Linde AG for the period beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger date),
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(Millions of dollars) Year Ended December 31, 2019

Sales Americas EMEA APAC Engineering Other Total %
Merchant $ 2,946 § 1856 § 2,080 $ — 5 184 § 7,066 25%
On-Site 2,758 1,434 2,060 - — 6,252 22%
Packaged Gas 5,185 3,347 1,562 — 19 10,113 36%
Other 104 6 137 2,799 1,751 4,797 17%
5 10993 3 6,643 $ 5,839 §$ 2799 % 1,954 $ 28,228 100%
(Millions of dollars) Year Ended December 31, 2018
Sales Americas EMEA APAC Engineering Other Total %
Merchant b 2,775 $ 832 % 826 $ — % 119 $ 4552 31%
On-Site 2,405 536 1,156 — — 4,097 28%
Packaged Gas 2,800 1,271 443 — 3 4,517 30%
Other 37 5 21 459 1,148 1,670 11%
b 8,017 % 2644 % 2,446 $ 459 $ 1,270 $ 14,836 100%

Remaining Performance Obligations

As described above, Linde'’s contracts with ou-site customers are under long-tenn supply arrangements which generally require the customer to purchase their
reguirements from Linde and also have minimum purchase requirements. The company estimates the consideration related to minimum purchase
reguirements is approximately $48 billion. This amount excludes all sales above minimum purchase requirements, which can be significant depending on
customer needs. In the future, actual amounts will be different due to impacts from several factors, many of which are beyond the company’s control
including, but not limited to, timing of newly signed, terminated and renewed contracts, inflationary price escalations, currency exchange rates, and pass-
through costs related to natural gas and electricity. The actual duration of long-term supply contracts ranges up to twenty years. The company estimates that
approximately half of the revenue related to minimum purchase requirements will be earned in the next five years and the remaining thereafter.
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NOTE 22. QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share dota)

2019

Sales

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization
Operating profit

Net income - Linde plc

Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Basic Per Share Data

Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Weighted average shares (0007s)
Diluted Per Share Data

Income from continuing operations
Incorne from discontinued operations
Weighted average shares (000°s)

2018

Sales

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization
Operating profit

Net income — Linde plc

Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Basic Per Share Data

Income {rom continuing operations*
Income from discontinued operations*
Weighted average shares (000’s)
Diluted Per Share Data

Income from continuing operations*
Income from discontinued operations*
Weighted average shares (000%s)

calculated for the year.

1Q (a) 2Q {a) 3Q(a) 4Q{) YEAR (a)
6,944 7,204 7,000 7,080 § 28,228
4116 4,280 4,061 4,187 16,644
1,223 1,195 1,095 1,162 4,675

609 669 1,000 655 2,933

517 522 735 511 2,285

435 513 728 507 2,183

82 9 7 4 102

0.80 095 1.35 094 § 4.03
0.15 0.02 0.01 001 0.19
545,554 542,561 539,753 536,768 541,094
0.79 0.94 1.34 094 % 4,00
0.15 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.19
549,147 546,488 543,616 540,919 545,170

1Q (@) 2Q (a) 3Q (a) 4Q) (a) YEAR (a)
2,983 3,044 3,008 5801 % 14,836
1,661 1,706 1,698 3,955 9,020

311 311 306 902 1,830

653 689 669 3,236 5,247

462 480 461 2,978 4,381

462 480 461 2,870 4,273

—— — — 108 108

1.61 1.67 1.60 627 § 12.93

— — — 0.24 0.33
287,504 287,803 288,093 457,518 330,401
1.59 1.65 1.58 622 § 12.79

— — — 023 .32
290,803 290,508 291,513 461,150 334,127

(a) 2019 and 2018 include the impact of the following maiters (see Notes 3, 4, 5, 7, 13 and 18):
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Operating

Profiv/ Income from Continuing

(Millions of dollars) (Loss) Operations

Q1
Cost reduction programs and other charges 89 5 (81)
Pension settlement charge — (38)
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (531) (378)

Q2
Cost reduction programs and other charges (141) (123}
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (515} (368)

Q3
Cost reduction programs and other charges (125) (91)
Pension settlement charge — (30)
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (425) (312)
Gain on sale of business 164 108

Q4
Cost reduction programs and other charges (212) (160}
Pension settlement charge — (4)
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (481) (354)

Year 2019 (2,355) % (1,831)

Operating
Profit/ Income from Continuing

{Miilions of dollars) (Loss) Operations

Q1

Cost reduction programs and other charges
Q2

Cost reduction programs and other charges
Q3

Cost reduction programs and other charges

Pension settiement charge
Q4

Cost reduction programs and other charges

Gain on sale of business

Bond redemption

Pension settlement charge

Tax Act and other tax charges

Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG
Year 2018
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(19} 8 (18)
(24) (21)
(31) (29)
— )]
(235) (238)
3,294 2923
— (20)
— 8)
— 17
(714) (451)
2271 § 2,152
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation of the effectiveness of Linde’s disclosure controls and procedures, which was made under the supervision and with the
participation of management, including Linde’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the principal executive ¢fficer and principal
financial officer have each conclnded that, as of the end of the annual perind covered by this report, such disdosure controls and procedures are effective in
ensuring that information required to be disclosed by Linde in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and accumulated and
communicated to management including Linde's principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Refer to Item 8 for Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting as of December 31, 2019.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in Linde’s internal conirol over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2019 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, Linde’s internal contrsl over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Nona.
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PART II1

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Certain information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned “Corporate Governance and Board Matters -
Director Nominees” and “Corporate Governance And Board Matters - "Delinguent Section 16 {a) Reports” in Linde’s Proxy Statement to be filed by April 30,
2020 for the Annual General Meeting.

Identification of the Audit Committee

Linde has a separately-designated standing Audit Committee established in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 as amended (the “Exchange Act™). The members of that audit committee are Prof. Dr. Clemens Borsig (chairman), Dr. Nance K. Dicciani, Dr. Thomas
Enders, Edward G. Galante, Larry D. McVay and Dr. Victoria Ossadnik, and each member is independent within the meaning of the independence standards
adopted by the Board of Directors and those cf the New York Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Linde Board of Directors has determined that Prof. Dr. Clemens Borsig is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined by Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of
Regulation S-K of the Exchange Act and is independent within the meaning of the independence standards adepted by the Board of Directors and those of the
New York Stock Exchange.

Code of Ethics

Linde has adopred a code of ethics that applies to the company’s directors and all employees, including its Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, and Chief Accounting Officer. This code of ethics, including specific standards for implementing certain provisicns of the code, has been approved
by the Linde Board of Directors and is named the “Code of Business Integrity”. This document is posted on the company’s public website, www.linde.com
but is not incorporated herein.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned “Executive Compensation Matters” and “Corporate
Governance and Board Matzers - Director Compensation” in Linde’s Proxy Statement to be filed by April 30, 2020 for the Annual General Meeting.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Equity Compensation Plans Information - The table below provides information as of December 31, 2019 about company shares that may be issued
upon the exercise of optiens, warrants and rights granted to employees or members of Linde’s Board of Directors under equity compensation plans that were
assumed by Linde npon the completion of the business combination an October 31, 2018.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS TABLE

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities to ‘Weighted-average future issuance under

be issued upon exercise exprcise price of equity compensation plans

of outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column
Equity compensation plans appraved by
shareholders 10,426,688 (1) N] 127.04 6,715,222 (2)
Equity compensation plans not approved by
shareholders —-— — —
Total 10,426,688 3 127.04 6,715,222

(4} This amount includes 883,922 restricted shares and 246,220 performance shares.

()  This amount includes 6,454,428 shares available for future issuance pursuant to the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long Term Incentive
Plan assumed by Linde, and 260,794 shares available for future issuance pursuant to the Long Term Incentive Plan 2018 of Linde plc.

Certain information required by this item regarding the beneficial ownership of the company’s ordinary shares is incorporated herein by reference o the
secticn captioned “Information on Share Ownership™ in Linde’s Proxy Statement to be filed by Apiil 30, 2020 for the Annual General Meeting.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned “Corporate Gevernance And Board Martets - Review,
Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons,” “Corporate Governance And Board Matters — Certain Relationships and Transactions,” and
“Corporate Governance And Board Matters — Director Independence” in Linde’s Proxy Statement to be filed by April 30, 2020 for the Annual General
Meeting.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this item is incarporated herein by reference to the section captioned “Audit Matters™ in Linde’s Proxy Statement to be filed
by April 3C, 2020 for the Annual General Meeting.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
(1) The company’s 2019 Censolidated Financial Statements and the Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are included

in Part I, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules — All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required
information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits — The exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the accompanying index.

136



Luble ol Contents

Exhibit No.

2.1

2.1a

2.2

**7 7

*+2.3a

**J.3b

*+3.3c

4.01

4.02

4.03

4.04

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Linde plc and Subsidiaries

Description

Pusiness Combinativn Apreement by and gmong Linde Ahvieneosellsceheln, Pragie o, Zamaligih PLC. Zamatighe Hobdeg ] 1 C and Zamalight
Subti, Inc dated as of June 1. 2007 (Hiled gy Fahibit 2.1 w Prasair, Inc's Cunend Reporton borm 8-k dated Jupe 1 2007, Filing Noo 1-11037.
and_is Tncorporated herein by teferenee.)

Amend.nent Nrw 1, ddted Yugust T, 2017, 0 the Busineys Comoinativg Aereement, by aad smong Prasgir. o, Linde Ahtiengesellschatn,

Linde ple, Zamdlighy ofeen L1 and Zamohighe Subeo, Inc, (1 iled as 1 alsihie 200t Pravair, Toes Cueemd Bepot o Fotm 8-k (ated Mgt
A0, 2007 Filing Mo 1-81007, wad i ipcorporated herehy by pehieence)

Sale and Purchase Apeement, dated Tuly 3, 2018, by and among Praxai dne., Taive Nippon Semso Corporation (" Taivo™, aned | e ple with

respeyt o the sale ol o msajosity_of Pravaii's husinesses in Byrape to Taiya in connection with the Business Combinatuon \sgrcement (Filed ay
Exhibar 2 Lo the Company's Duanerlv Bejuor on barm 1= Tor the guenae ended Sepeealae 30, 2008, 1 5le o 13070, and 14 inorparaied
herchy v referenie

Sabe ond Purchase Agiecment doted Tulv 1, 2008, byl ameng Linde WG Peanair, Tne., 3G Todusirios SmbiH, Mesaer Cangda Dne, 3y
Induistries US AL I (the M entides ang Muesser Canada, Tae being soliecively_ceberred 1o as 7 Messer”), and Linde ple with respeet 1o the sale
ehoenain asyers of Linde My da e Ynegivas and conjgm avsets of Peanai doc, o Moseer o comnecrion with the Business Combipation
Agreement (Uiled as badibit 2.2 whe Company s Quarter]y Repoaton Fors 100 Dor the guacter ended Seploggher 30, 2008, File S, 1-38730.
dnet is incurpordated hereby by relerence)

Eist_ Amendment datea Seprember 21, 2018 1 the Sale ol Porebase dereement, dated Toly 16, 2088 by and emony 1 ode NG, Prasain dac,

Messer, and 1 inde pic with respec oo the sdle ot certain addigional assets of Linde VG i the Americads Lo Messer in connection with tw

Business Cowbination Aeieenent (Fied gs Vxhibic 2.3 o dhe Company’y Quaitedy, Report o benom 10-03 oc e guanign ended Sepembuer 30,
2018, Lile No. 1-48730, and is fncarporared herely by referenge ).

Second Ymeadmen dated Ddoher 19, 20038 ¢ the Salo and Purchase Yoceorem, dagedd loly 16, 2234, ¢ amenelod by the g Agrendmeat
theeeto, by and omone Lingde VG, Prosar Messer, amd Linde ple, with respecito the sale of copain sdditiopal asseis of Liade VG in the
Americ ds ty Messer i conaection wilh ghe Business Combination Sercement | Fited gs Pabibic 2.2 60 the Compaeny’s Quactery fie
10-03 ror the quarter ended Septombec 30,2018, L e Mo, 1-11037, amd By incorpoeseg boreby v soberenee],

wton orm

Plicd Vmwendme g deveed Februgy 200 2009 00 the Sate ane] Pagchase dureement. dated Tuly 16 2018, a8 amenmded by the irse and Second
vorendment thervto, by and am e inde A Prosalr,

. Messer, amd T imde ple. with respect ty the sole of ceitain additional avsets ol
| inde AGoanthe Vmicticas b Messer in cnmetion with the Business Combination Verecment dated as of June §, 2007, as amended, (o cttece o

combinglisn st he husinesses of Tinde VG and Prasair, G, (e as B ahibic 2.4 1 the Company’s Canrent Repost on | oy 8K, liled eon
Murch T 2018 Fike Now 1-TI837 and iy s orpearated ety by g,

Aop e L and Resiazpd Pubdic 1intined Company Conshiwtion ot Dinee pb (D erd as bbbt 8 10 the Company’s Coneat Report ond oem By,
Heodd on Ogoben 1L 200 File Na 334-2 185 and incorporated herein by eference)

Poscripion o3 fnde ple Ondina v Shoics

Inclenpue. dateed s b fuly 15 8992 Betwes Prasair, b _and LS Bonk Satgonat Yss s iiion. as the alimgie sieeessot Cisiee U Bank af
Mitierncs Ulinons, bonnealby Conos et Bank . Notonal Ssee iareen (hhed as it 4o Poosaar, Jog s Curent Bepars on boon B-k dated

Marchy 19, 2007 4 e Mo T-pin07, and Tncgrpareed fiecem By terenced

Lot of Subordingted fndentupe b Prosaiz, Tne (P ilod as Dehibie 45w Prasair, o Coron 5-3 dilad on Mav 120 2005, Bile pa. 333200003,
and [y meorpigled hetem In_retereme.)

Supplementa’ ndepsure, tited as of Seperaber 3, 2009, amone 1 inde ple, Prasail, o, icde AG snd £.5, Bank Nafondgl Aseociagon, oy

N}

trustee (idled as bghibue 42 wothe Linde ple Forg 8-K deted September b, 2009, Tilne Mo 1238730, and dncorporated berein ba_teteres

Copies of the agreements relating to long-term debt which are not required to be liled as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K will be
furnished to the Securitics and Exchange Commission upon request.
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10.01

10.01a

*10.02

*10.03

*10.04

*10.04a

*10.04h

*+10.04¢

*10.04d

*10.04e

*10.05

*10.05a

*10.05h

*10.05c

*10.05d

*10.05%e

*10.05¢

*10.06

*10.06a

*10.06b

Credit Agrcement doteed as o March Zh, 2009, among T inde b e of ey sibaidioriey partes sheretr as bosrowers, the londers party thereto
and Bank of America, NN s Adminisiratiye Agen {Fiied as Fxbibn 10,3 wo Tinde ply's curent renon on borm 8-K, daeel Apnl 3, 2019,
Liting Mo, 1-38730 _and inconporgied Berein by referene):

Coredip Apreement Mdditonal Guaranior Supptement, dated as of September 3, 2019, by Linde AGL _and achnow ledged by_Baph ot America,
N A as Mdministrative Apent (Fled as bxbibil 1022 1o the Einde ple Foom 8-K dated September 0, 2019, 1 iting No. 1-387 40, and incorporawd
furein hy_refersnee)

Long lerm bacemive Flao 2008 of Linde ple (Siled s 'shhic 34 e the Company’s Luim S-8. flied on Ocobee 3T, 3008, File N 333208084,
and e potated herein by telerence)

Lnde ply _vnnuat Variable Compensation Ptan ettective Yanuary 3, 2009 (EFited as Bchibie 101 10 the € ompany s {urrent Report on b o 841,
bled oo fanuary 23, 200193 e Mo 138730, and is incorporared hersby by refeienee)

Tonm ot Faecutive Severdancr Compensanon A gieement eibective Jaauarny_ 1 2008 (Filed gy bahibit JOD2 w0 Prasain. Tac s 2008 Aooual Repong
o boem 10-K Ciling o, 1-17047,_and incorpovated bereln by _refereace)

{onm of Ameadniens, efleetive December 3, 20020 w0 Lvecotive Severance Compensation dereearents that swere elective Januars 1, 2009
(FLicd as Pabibir 101 0 Pravens Ines Corgene Report ol epo 8-8 daed December 14, 2012 Piling No. 1-11037, and incos patared berein by,
e [‘t’ rence

Fatm el Lyccutive Severgnee Compensation Asreenieny eftecbive fanuaiy 1, 2080 (Liled oy Fxhibit 10002 10 Prasair, 1ncCs Quatierly_Repoit gn
lorm 10-0) lor the quatter ended June 30,2016, Piling No, 1-11037, and incormpugated herein by referenee),

Fopm ol vmendment, eftecive December 31, 2013 10 Executiye Severance Compensatinn Agreements that were etective Jonwary, 3, 2010
{Liled as Fxbibit 10020 1o Prasair, Inc.'s 2002 Annuat Repon_on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and incotporated hetein Dy _seference)

Form ol baecutive Severance Compensatiom Avrpemem gfreorive Toaoary 1,200 8 (ied as Exhibit 10.02d 0 Praxain dng's 2002 Annual Bepoit
on Form WK, Tihog No. 1-11037. aod incoponated hereln by _reference),

Curm of vssomprion of Prasai e Fxecutive Seseranee Compensation Agrecment by 1 de ple (e a5 8 vhiote 1005 ey Pindw ple’s 2018
Vvl Repost on Foom 10-K, Filing M 1-387 30, and incorperated berein by reference)

Prasan, Ine Soppdemental Retement Income Plan b ettective binwary 1. 2008 13 iled as 1 «hibie 10 853 1o Prasdin Ine’s U0 S onwal Repon
on Form k. Filing Na, 1-11037. and ingorporated herein by_reforence),

I irse anmenedment o shie Pravab, Ine, Supplemental Hetiremsent lncome Plan  ellective Januery 3, 20300 (Filed as Fahilin 10,050 1+ Pravair,

[ne's 2009 Anagal Report on Forne 15 Filing N, 1-11047, and ioces poradee] berein by redeteneg

Second Aotendment ty Prasair, fng. Supplenenidl Rethernent Incoome Plan delfective Eebryary 28 2007 (Filed as Lahiiie 10050 ) Pravgin,
Ines 2016 Annpal Reporton Form 102K Filing No 1211037, and s ineomocated berely_by_rejesence),

Prawan, Jae Supplemental Retirement 3ncome Plan 3 amesdid and cestgied effeciive December 31, SHIT (Fied as babibin 10055 10 Prosdir,
Ine s 2008 Annaal Report on borm I0-h Filing SNoo 1-11037, and ingorpogatesd herg o by referenees

Fist amendnnar oo e Prasair, Do, Sepplectennad Regwonen locome Plan 13 etfesive Januery 1 2030 (1 ided oo 1o bibic 10053 1y Prasai, e s
2009 Aanual Repon on Form 10k, Piling Ne. 1-01037 and incorporaed hereim byorelerence)

Secvmad vmendment o Praxaiy, o Sopplemental Betieenwent Income PLin B ettective Tuly 1. 2002 (Fled as B xhibit 1005 0 Prasie Ine s
20102 Annual Repoiton torm 10-1, Filing No, 1-0 1037, and ingarporated herein byaeterence)

Third Amendment w Prawair Ine Supplemena] Retiverent Income Plan B effective Febroacy 28, 2017, (Bl an T ahibic 16050 ) Pravair,
Ine s 2006 vl Beppert o Fonn 10-K, Filing No. 1-1307, and iy incorporated herein by referegued,

Pracair, o bgualization Benetit Plan anonded and restatod ottective Docember 38 2007 {Piled as bBxhitit TS50 w6 Praxair, 1o s 2008
Agrad Beporl oo Form T0-K 1 ilins T 1-11047, and incotporated herein by reference),

Lirst gmendmom 1o the Braxdir Inc, Loualizauemn Beael:t Plan effective January_1,_ 2010 (Fied as Fxhibic 1005 1o Peangin [n: s 2009
Annual Repom on Form 10-K, Faiding N 111037 and incorpordied horein by reference).

Second Nmendment to the Praxgir, Ine. Lequahization Benefit Plan etfective Pebroary_ 28, 2017 (Filed as Exhilsi 10.05) 4 Prasain, ey
2006 Annual Reperton Form 10-h Eiling No 1-1100587, and s incormoraied herein by_reterence),
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*10.06c

*10.06d

*10.06e

*10.06f

*10.06g

*10} NRh

*10.07

*10.08

*10.08a

*10.09

*10.16

*10.10a

*10.10b

*10.100

Third Ymendment ro the Prgsair. e, Logualizdripn Benefit Plan eficctis e December 1, 2017 (1 Hed ap Lxhibit 10007k 10 Proxais, Jac's
2037 Annual Report on Forra M- File Mo, 1-1T037, and is jocor poranes] begein Dy rederenge s

Fourth Amendiment to the Prgin, Tag. Supplemental Retfremrent Income Plan 13 effective Decerber 1017 (Liled gs Eabibit 100510
Prasaiv nc s J017 Anaual Renort on form 10-K, File Mo, 841037 and is ingprporated herein by_reterenced

1 ivd Amenitment v thi Prasaic, ine. Suipdements) ferement become Plan_ v etfective Becember 1. 2007 {Eied sy Lxhibit 10.8%m 10
Prasiir ine.’s 2017 Vool Reporon Porm [ 0-K File No. 111037, and Is incorporaled herein by relerence)

Proavair, Toe, 2008 Fyualizedan Beaehr Plan (Filed as Fahibic 99,7 g Piasarr, s Cureent Ropurt on Foom 8-k Hlod un Ociober 22,
2008, File N, 1-11047, and inverporated erein by_relerence),

Praxair {nc. 2018 Supplemenial Reifrement ncemg Plan A (Liled oy bbb 99 2 10 Prasain Ing s Cgzreng Reporc on b o 8-K lifod an
Dctober 22, 2018, Dike N 1-11047, and icorparated herein by_referenge?

Piweal o 2006 Supplementl fevremeng Inccme Blan B £ Fled as Bahiliic 9979w Prasgir, bng s Coreont Repart on Purm B2 ilid
Oxgaber 22, 20008, Fle Ny, 111037 o Incorpotated besein by rehagence)

Praxair dne Dirccor’s Tees Delerrad Plan amended gnd sestated effectiv e January 26, 2000 (Filed as b xhibil 180 D &3 Prasaic Incs 004
Anaual Repont on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-11037, and sncatporated herein_by_reterenct),

Pigaan, fnc Compensaion Dedeergd Program Amended and Reslated 235 of fuly 15, 2004 (Filod s Fagibic 1003 w Praxai, ng's
Loy Renort on Ferm 0-03 fon the quater gnded Septomiber 30, 2082, Filing Ne. 1-11047, and ingorpotaced heiein by ieberence),

Uirst vmendment o the Prgir Compensdiiun Detenal Progra effeciyve Pebruary 28, 200761 iled o0 Fahibie 10070 01 Prasair, {ne s
2006 Aoawal Beponon Faym 0=, Tiling Ny L= 314637, and s incomosaed hetein by toterence),

Service Crodit Avvapement for Stephen I Anoel dowed Bl 23, 2007 was tiled s Eahibi 10,30 60 Pyavanr, foe s Form Sk iled n Ay,
24, 2087 and iy incorporated berein fn_reference,

vgaded and Restged 2009 Prasadr, ing, Toag Terny Incentive Plan (Tited as Lahibit 4,0 3w Praxair tnc's Form $-8, hiled on October
31,2018, Yile Mo 333-228084, and (ncs potated heeein by relerence)

Form of Sangdard Option Awand upder the 2004 Prasgir, fne. [ ong Tean Bncentive Plan (Fi'cd as Eabibit 10,22 10 Praxdir, g 's 2009
Mol Report on Fonn PR Bl Ne 1211037, and imeorporaed herein by nebenenced

Forot ot Transterable Ontien Myard ymier the 2009 Prasair B, Losg Tornt nceative Plan (710 s Dhibie 7023 00 Brasain tng's 064

dondul Bepsort on bonm (0K T ing S 1-DH37 sod incorps st bepein Deefiteree)

Fist Amyendmeg. dated as ol spol 25 2007, to e dYmended and Restated 2009 Prasai doe 1 ong Do neentive Pl (Fifed as 1 vhibit .
1D to Peesain doe s Cleagrea by deeport con Porm OO Jor the aquaries ended March 810 2087 Filine No 111037 e by B porared

bevein bs_relerence)
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*10.10d Forny of Transterable Ongien Award vndor the Amended and Restated 2009 Praaie Tne Bong Tera Incentive Plan bor sianis made in
252017 (Filed ge Eehibit 126 10 Praain, Joes 014 Anauad et on borm 10-K. 1 iling N [-11037, and incurporated herein by

wierenr ey

*10.10e Lorm of Pransferable Option Award under the Amended and Restated J004 Praxair, Inc. 1 one Tenm Incentive Plan lor grants made in
2018 (Filed as Exhibic 10 264 W Prasgd, Ioes 2017 Ansug! Reporton Porm 10-h, File No. 1211057, and incorporgated hewein by,
iereace)

*10.10t Form ol Kesticied Stock Lot ward under the Amended aod Restated 2009 Prasair, Ine Long Teon dnceadve Plan for grants made in

2015 and thereafter (Filed as T ahibis 10,27 w Posein [oc's 2014 Aoguagt Repoicon Form 10K, Pl Mo, 1-11047, and iconuiated

herein by reforence)

*10.10g Lorm of Restijcwed Stock Dimit wand ungep the Amended aned Restated J00Y Prasair, Ine. Long Jerm incentive Plan dor aranis made in
2018 (Liled s Fahibie 10.270 10 Prasair, Ine. s 2007 \nnoal Reporeon Porm 10K, Bite N, 11037, snu incorporated heevin by

rebere ey,

*10.10h Foun o don-lunpluovee Divector Resuicted Stock Ui MWwyad under the vmended el Restated 2009 Praxei, oe, Long Tern Tncentive
Plan (Faled s Daduitue HAOE o Prasair Dnes Cuanerty Renott on Ferm 1000 for the quaner ended dame 20, 2005, F s S 1-01087

and incorporated herem by relorence )

*10.10i larm of Non-Implovee Director Resticeed Stock Uit Awand uader the Amended and Restated 2009 Pravan, ine. fong Lerm Tneentive
Plan lor grans made in 2019 and thereafter.

*10.10j Torm of Transferable Uptinn wweand upden the A mended and Respoted 2009 Prasair, bne. Long Tenn D eotive Plan for grams beginning
n 2009 (Fited s Pahibit PP o Liode ple™ 2008 Annual Repooton Doem 10-R, § iling M. =387 300 and incorporaged herein by,
relerence)

*10.10k Form ol Restricied Stk Unie ward under dhe Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Tog, Fong Term Incensive Plan for grants heginning
in 2019 (Fileit s Faxhibit 10 113 10 Linde ple's 2018 Aooudd Report on Poaco 10-K, Filing No. 12387 30, and ineorporated Berein by,
eleienee)

*10.101 Lorm ot Pertormance Share Unit dward wider e Amended gnef Restated 2008 Prisair, Inc Leng Teon locentive Plan tor wrants
besinning 1o 4 with Heturo oo Capital pertsimanee meties (F led oy Eabibin JO S o Linde plo's 2008 Aanugel Report on form 10-
4 ing Ne. [-38730, wnd inworporaed herein by reterence),

*10.10m Form of Pertormance Share Tinie wand wnder the Amended gid Restated 2009 Peaxair, Tne [ong Term Incentive PLin tor grants
buginning in 2019 with Totl Shateholder Rewrn perotmaiee metiicsy (Filod as Pahibit 10100 o [ inde ple’s 2008 Annudl Report 1
Porm 160)-K, Filina do 12387 W0, ened incorporated herein by reterende),

*10.11 Forneof Baiplover-Lunded Pension Plae Fxecotve Aereerent ol Tinde MG {biled oy Exhib 10 L1 Tinde phe’s 2018 vanual oot
on Form 10-k Filing No. 12387300 and incorporated bevein by teterence),

*10.12 Vo ob Dinde AG Fxecaave Emplosmenr_ Vereement (1 eled as bahibi W15t L mde plie's 2008 Anouad Reportea Fonm 10-k, Filing
N 128730 cnd icorporated heren D eterence)

*10.12a Vors ob Uhanae ool Appendix o b inde MG Faecutive Pmplosman Agveepeent (Uil as Fahibis 10 158 1 T inde ph s 2008
Annual Reporton borm 18-k Eiliog S0 12387 30, and incorporate] horein by ceference),

*10.13 Service \greemwnt by and between |inde Holding GmbIgnd &b 9aniiv L amba, dated December 20, 2019
*10,13a Pensicn Agreement amony T ivde My, inde Holdine GmblLand Mr. Sonjry T amba, dated Decenber 20, 20619,
*10.14 Lorm of Linde ple Director Indemnificdtion Ygreerent (Fited as Fahibit 10,1 to the Company”s Current Repurt on Form 8-K ficd on

October 312008, 1 le e, 333218185 ond_incarporated berem by refeienrce)

18 Proferapilits eger on Change in Accouning Pringiple
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21,01

23.01

31.01

3102

32.01

32.02

IQLINS

101.SCH

101.CAT.

101.T.AB

101.PRE

101.DEF

Sunsidiarics of Linde ple

Consent ot Independent Regiseied Pubhe Secounting i,

Rule 13a-14(0) Ceptitication

Rude 1 da-14{w) Coemiticion

Secnun 1350 Cenitication (such cerificariony are (unished tor the imtormaton_of the Comumissinon and shall not be deemed i nmporated
[ reference inte dny_Liling under the Securitivs Vet oe the Eschapge Act).

Seggon 1350 Cenitiearion {such cortiticatinns are furnishod for the informmation of the {Commission and shall ngl be deemed incorporated
Dyrelerenee indo g HEpg undey the Secucides Sopon the Fachanse va),

XBRL Instance Ducument: The XBRL [nstance Document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the inline XBRL document.

XBRL Taxoaomy Extension Schema

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Caleulation Linkbase
XBRI Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

XBRL Taxenomy Extension Definition Linkbase

Copies of exhibits incorporated by reference can be obtained from the SEC and are located in SEC File No. 1-11037,

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangeiment.

Certain schedules or similar attachments have been omitted pursuant to lem 601(13(2) of Regulation S-K. The Registant agrees o furnish supplemental copies of

** any of the gmitted schedules or attachments upun request by the SEC.

141



Ll oot € onterits

TTEM 16, FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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Labie of Contein-
SIGNATURES
Linde plc and Subsidiaries

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigred therennio duly authorized.

Linde plc
{Registrant)
Date: March 2, 2020 By: fsf  KELCEY E, HOYT
Kelcey E. Hoyt
Chief Accounong Officer

Pursuant to the reguiremens of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this repert has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 2, 2020.

o' MATTHEW ). WHITE

‘s¢ PROE. DR, WOLFGANG REITZLE /s STEPHEN F. ANGEL
‘Wolfgang Reir2le Stephen £ Ange) Matthew J. White
Chaivman Chief Executive Officer and Director Chief Financial Officer '
/¢ PROF, DDR, ANN-KRISTIN ACHLIETNER s/ DR.CLEMENS BORSIG {5/ DR.NANCE K. DICCIAN}
Ann-Kristin Achleiiner Clemens Borsig Nance K, Dicciani
Director Director Director
s/ DR THOMAS ENDERS /) FRANZ FEHRENBACH i EDWARD G GALANTE
Thomas Enders Franz Fehrenbach Edward G. Galaute
Direcior Directar Director
/i LARRY D MCVAY 5! DR.VICTORIA OSSADNIK s/ PROF. DR. MARTIN H. RICHENHAGEN
Larry D. McVay Victoria Ossatnik Martin Richenhagen
Direcior Director Director
s ROUFRI L. wOOL
Rober{ L. Wood
Director
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Juan Pelaez stock Transfer Agent and Stock Record Dividend Reinvestment Pfan
Vice President Investor Relations Keeping Linde provides investars a convenient,

Juan.Pelaez@linde.com Computershare Trust Company, N.A, low-cost program that allows dividends
+1 203 837-2213 (“Computershare”) is Linde’s stock transfer to be automatically reinvested into
agent and registrar, and administers all additional shates of Linde ardinary shares,
General lnquiries mattess for shareholders of record. Contact Computershare for full details.
Investor.Relations@linde.com
+1203 837-2210 For information about account records, stock For more information visit us online
certificates, change of address and dividend at www.linde.com
Ordinary shares Listing (Symbal: LIN) payments, cantact: +1 866 201-5096 Toll Free
New York Stock Exchange and +1 781 575-2553 putside the United States
Frankfurt Stock Exchange or web.queries@cemputershare.com.
CUSIP: G5494) 103
ISIN: IEDOBZ12WP82 Website address:
www.computershate.com/investor
By mail, address shareholder inquiries to:
Computershare investor Services
462 South 4th Street
Suite 1600
Louisville, KY, 40202
United States of America




Linde plc
The Priestley Centre, 10 Priestley Road, The Surrey Research Park, Guildforg, Surrey GU2 7XY, tUnited Kingdem, www.linde.com




